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PROFILE OF THE GROUP

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“Top Spring” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”, “we"” or “us”) is a
conglomerate group integrating the real estate investment and development,
industrial operation, commercial property management, formative education
and emerging industries investment businesses operating in the mainland
(excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan Province, “Mainland China”) of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) and the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”).

The Group always adheres to the positioning of building quality property. With
a strong focus on the commercial and residential property investment and
development, asset management, industrial operation and other businesses
in the Greater Bay Area (as defined below), the centres of which are Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Guangzhou, as well as the economically dynamic regions
including Shanghai and Sydney, Australia, the Group actively leverages
multinational operations and is familiar with the characteristics of Hong Kong
and Mainland China to integrate global resources and develop sustainable
metropolitan industry communities through city-industry integration, serve
urban development and industrial upgrading and strive to become a practitioner
on diversified investments in facilitating the achievement of national strategies.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2021, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties and car
park units of approximately HK$1,709.6 million (2020: HK$1,125.2 million),
pre-sold saleable GFA of 25,527 sq.m. (2020: 16,839 sq.m.).

In 2021, the Group’s rental income from investment properties was
approximately HK$247.0 million (2020: HK$231.1 million), representing
an increase of approximately 6.9%. As at 31 December 2021, the overall
occupancy rate of the Group's investment properties was approximately
82.1%. As at 31 December 2021, the total leasable GFA of the Group’s
operating investment property portfolio increased to approximately 305,502
sg.m. from approximately 259,914 sq.m. as at 31 December 2020. In addition,
as at 31 December 2021, the accumulated total area of properties managed
by the Group amounted to approximately 18,180,000 sq.m., of which
approximately 13,350,000 sq.m. was properties not developed by the Group
and approximately 4,830,000 sq.m. was commercial property management
projects. Currently, one of the property companies of the Group ranked 58th in
the “Top 100 Property Service Companies in China” for seven consecutive years
from 2015 to 2021 with its scale of property management expanding year on
year.



IRBES
CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

M-E-_—F+-A=+—8 "N&EE2#
BEz LG BVFRIEE THERLERRE)
%9/5510,243F J5 3K o ANEE B 2 {1 R RS
BEEHERRAPENEERNEE ((KEE)])
R—@5m o R EERES -

TR —F BEEEETRETE P RERTT
EEEREBZARERM0TRESEEDN
SEHMEMBENT  FRLERBTHBEAN
M RERRBRISSIRESLMA  BRT
[+HAINRTFHB - b¥F  BHEMSE
EE BE BEHIOBRKEATE  #
TREINTS  —BRASRTEERELR  BRE
FEEE2EERSBERAEEH  T¥F
TIBRERR  F- - F=-HtEh I ERE
RORREETHRSRBFIREREETY I
REEMATEHS| G  BRIHEERK B
FHHEBTER  AREREESHEZER EER
MEFEE - A BRITEAIGREIFRE)
BEBWEE TN ERTMN QLI
BEE)E—RIBERRE AT BT RN
Rk BEELEE2ERMABRRERAR

AEE-ERFHQBEVENZEBRNER
B IREDTIARF R H - IR BFBP
SER QLR - UERQBEEHNE DB
BRERBENBRY B ABGHEESR
EBAFFAE - — 22— FY - FENE
[ERBHEHE - SEANGEIRT FMBEETT

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 5

As at 31 December 2021, the land bank (that is, the net saleable/leasable GFA)
of 22 projects of the Group was approximately 510,243 sg.m.. In terms of land
bank strategy, the Group will primarily focus on the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area (the “Greater Bay Area”) and the first-tier cities in
China, such as Shenzhen, Shanghai and Hong Kong.

In 2021, the global economy moved forward amid uncertainties and difficulties.
Under the impacts and pressures of the great change that humanity has
experienced in a century as well as the COVID-19 pandemic, China‘’s economy
showed strong resilience, maintained its global leading position in terms of
economic growth and achieved a healthy start in the “14th Five-year Plan”
period. In the first half of the year, the policy keynote of “stabilising land price,
housing price and expectation” on the real estate market remained unchanged
with increasingly intensifying control measures implemented. The policies
expanded the implementation scope of the “three red lines” on a pilot basis
and the full implementation of loan concentration management were released
successively. In the second half of the year, the property market cooled down
rapidly and the second and third batch of centralised land supply experienced
downturns. The Central Economic Work Conference reiterated the position
of “housing is for accommodation and not for speculation” and put forward
strengthening guidance on expectation, exploring new development models
and placing emphasis on both rental and purchase with differential policies
across cities to promote the virtuous cycle and healthy development of the real
estate industry. Meanwhile, the Outline of the “14th Five-year Plan” of the PRC
determined the new development positioning of Hong Kong. The Northern
Metropolis Development Strategy and other policies and planning brought new
development opportunities for Hong Kong with the latter comprehensively
integrating into China’s overall development.

The Group has always maintained close monitoring, rational analysis and
professional judgment on economic conditions and macroeconomic policies
and always persisted in implementing the strategy of seeking growth amid
prudent development, seized the opportunity of economic recovery and the
crucial period in building new development layout, and steadily and proactively
promoted the orderly progress of all businesses. In 2021, we maintained
continuous sales of the projects in Shenzhen, Hong Kong and Sydney and our
profitability improved with a rebound in profit.
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For our urban industrial community business, we continued to integrate
industrial resources and promoted the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
International Innovative City (&7 8 Bl FX 81%73)" Project in Nansha District,
Guangzhou. In 2021, we entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with
Guangdong Productivity Promotion Center under the Department of Science
and Technology of Guangdong Province, pursuant to which both parties will
gather their advantageous resources and jointly construct and complete the said
Innovative City Project. For the urban industrial community project of Shanghai
Top Spring International Centre, it is mainly targeted at strategic emerging
industries. After introducing the first “blockchain building” in Shanghai,
the project is being recognised as the “Artificial Intelligence and Big Data
Innovation Base in Yangpu District, Shanghai”, with preliminarily showcasing
effect of industrial conglomeration.

For the renovation projects of old communities in Mainland China, the Group
focused on promoting the Jishengchang urban renewal project in Longgang
District, Shenzhen. Adjustment on the renovation orientation according to
the latest government policies is underway and a feasibility study report is
in preparation. It is expected that Shenzhen will publish relevant policies on
residential land supply, coordination on benefits in land consolidation, the “14th
Five-year Plan” on urban renovation and other relevant policies in the first half
of 2022, which will benefit the Jishengchang project in various aspects. In
addition, for the renovation of old factories in Nansha District, Guangzhou, the
preparation works of the land acquisition and renovation plan for an area of
over 50 mu are completed. It is expected that the Group will sign an agreement
on land acquisition with the government of Nansha District by the end of 2022
and facilitate the land to be included in the land supply plan of the government.

For the development and construction of projects under construction in
Mainland China, the residential properties of Shenzhen Upper Residence, a
high-end residential project with a GFA of approximately 73,200 sq.m., has
basically sold out as at the end of 2021. Currently, the remaining inventory is
mainly commercial apartments and shops. Topspring International Mansion
and Jianshang Commercial Building in Shenzhen, with a GFA of approximately
129,000 sq.m. are scheduled for pre-sale in the third quarter of 2022.
According to the Outline of the “14th Five-year Plan” of Shenzhen, the areas
where the said projects are located have been included as urban core areas,
which will further improve the overall value of the projects.
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The Group’s projects in Hong Kong have also reported sound progress. 128
WATERLOO in Hong Kong, located in a traditional high-end residential area
in a district with good schools and a GFA of approximately 86,000 sq.ft., has
obtained the occupation permit in the fourth quarter of 2021. The Yuen Long
Shap Pat Heung Road Project with a GFA of approximately 245,000 sq.ft.
has officially initiated project development. The negotiation of land premium
payment arrangement with the government for the Yuen Long Tai Tong
Road Project with a GFA of approximately 36,000 sq.ft. is in progress. We
have entered into relevant cooperative development agreements with Kerry
Properties Limited on the above two projects in Yuen Long. Both parties agreed
to leverage the synergistic effects and jointly develop high-quality residential
projects. The Sheung Shui Ma Sik Road Project with a site area of approximately
103,000 sq.ft. has received approval from the Town Planning Board for
developing into low-density residential units. Meanwhile, an application for
planning to increase the plot ratio has been submitted to the Town Planning
Board to fully explore the land development potential. The Group will work
actively through various channels to identify opportunities for investment
in premium projects, with a view to ensuring continuous investment and
development in the Hong Kong market.

The Group's projects in Australia are progressing promisingly. The three luxury
residential projects in Bellevue Hill, Elizabeth Bay and Double Bay in the eastern
suburb of Sydney have recorded outstanding performance, laying a solid
foundation for the Group to establish its premium property brands in local
luxury residential markets. As our first luxury residential project in the eastern
suburb of Sydney, the Bellevue Hill project has completed approximately
90% of its sales and is expected to complete construction in the second
quarter of 2022. The medium-sized luxury residential project in Elizabeth
Bay achieved outstanding performance in sales and approximately 90% are
sold. It is expected to complete construction by mid-2023. The Double Bay
project is a premium luxury residential landmark project secured by the Group
in September 2021 and the earliest time to start pre-sale is in July 2022. In
addition, the large residential project in St Leonards at the Lower North Shore
of Sydney has completed the application for project initiation etc and plans to
start pre-sale and construction in mid-2022. A large class-A residential project in
the northern urban area of Sydney with outstanding vegetation coverage and a
bird’s eye view of the famous Manly Beach is currently under smooth progress.
The Group will continue to deeply explore the Australian market and focus on
seeking investment projects in line with the development of the Group.
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In connection with commercial and property management, the Group’s
commercial company was on the “List of Excellent Commercial Management
Companies in 2021 of Mall China Golden Mall Industry”. The property company
was awarded the “2021 China Top 100 Property Service Companies” for seven
consecutive years and the “Guangdong Provincial Enterprise of Observing
Contract and Valuing Credit” for four consecutive years. Currently, there are
properties with an area of 18.18 million square metres under management,
including the 92 projects currently managed by the Group, 4 of them were
awarded the title of “Provincial Excellence Demonstration Community under
Property Management” and 9 of them were awarded the title of “City
Excellent Demonstration Community under Property Management”. Facing
the reoccurrence of the pandemic in 2021, the Group made active response in
commercial management and guaranteed stable commercial occupancy rate
and area efficiency. For property management, the Group actively expanded
commercial properties, residential properties, municipal services properties,
airports and other transportation properties, property management services
for education institutions and other business types. In future, we will focus on
urban ancillary facilities of property market segmentation and actively expand
our property management business in terms of the area under management
on the basis of maintaining solid growth in operating revenue and profit from
commercial and property businesses.

For our education products and education services business, the Group actively
responded and adapted to the macro-environment under the impacts of the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and coordinated with the schools we serve
under the requirements of suspending face-to-face teaching and initiating
online video teaching. The Group gradually implemented relevant teaching
materials and optimised the quality of “online + offline” education in practice.
Despite the reoccurrence of the pandemic, the Group still actively carried out
product sales and the publicity and promotion of service platforms on the
basis of having sufficient measures on pandemic prevention. For business
development, the Group actively promoted the “Creative” brand in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (including Hong Kong and
Macao), explored the implementation of education projects in asset-light model
or through strategic cooperation and enhanced talent training to enhance the
service competitiveness and deepen and improve the business in Hong Kong in
particular.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

The development of the Greater Bay Area continued to advance, underpinned
by an aggregate economic volume of over RMB12 trillion in 2021. The Greater
Bay Area is continuously accelerating the connection between infrastructure
construction and policy implementation, exploring innovative mechanisms and
new paths for coordinated regional development, charting new heights in
institutional innovation as well as reform and opening up, and substantiating
the notion of “One country, two systems”. In the Outline of the “14th Five-
Year” Plan, the Greater Bay Area has been given a more important role in
further guiding the high quality development of the national economy in the
future. The Group will closely seize opportunities arising from the historic
development of the Greater Bay Area with a strong focus on the core cities
including Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Guangzhou and give full play to its
strengths and capabilities so as to contribute to the economic and social
development of the Greater Bay Area and implement the development strategy
of the Group.

The Group believes that it is very important to maintain a steady increase in
rental income and hopes to foster a greater scope for rental income growth
by holding more premium properties and properly conducting refined asset
management in the future, so as to preserve and enhance property value and
ensure stable and sustainable cash flow.

The Group will continue to invest and conduct intensive development in core
cities such as Hong Kong and Sydney, so as to enhance our brand value and
image in domestic and overseas markets as well as to build an efficient and
synergistic ecology for domestic and overseas businesses.

We will continue to monitor market and industry changes. In line with the
actual development needs of the Group, we will integrate resources and make
prudent investments to cultivate the “property +” business, so as to achieve
organic integration of and two-way empowerment between the diversified
businesses and the property business.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all our colleagues for their
hard work and dedication. The trust and recognition of our shareholders are
our driving force in such era of uncertainties. We will continue to create the
maximum value for our shareholders and contribute to our society on an
ongoing basis.
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Top Spring International Holdings
to celebrate the 100th anniversary of the founding
of the Communist Party of China
Shanghai Design - Outstanding Enterprise Memorial
Award of the 9th Golden Innovation Award
Shanghai Modern Services Industry Federation
Shanghai Yangpu People’s Government
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Top Spring International Innovation Centre
Innovation and Entrepreneurship Ecosystem
Partnership Award
Shanghai Yangpu Public Innovation
Space Promotion Association

IR ERBER QA
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Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2017-2020 Guangdong Provincial Enterprise of Observing
Contract and Valuing Credits for four consecutive years
Shenzhen Administration For Market Regulation
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2021 FEEBEERGIEE
HER M ERSE
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Shanghai Top Spring International Centre
2021 Model Project in Commercial Park
Outstanding Real Estate Companies
Guandian Index Academy

M
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2000 FEEFGEEN
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Changzhou Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2020 Outstanding Member Unit Award
Changzhou Property Management Association
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BECASC 2021 TMEBF LAE

List of Excellent Commercial Management Companies 2021
Mall China Golden Mall Industry
The 19th Annual Conference of Mall China International Forum &
CASC EXPO 2021

Shenzhen Topspring Business and Investment Management Co., Ltd.
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Shanghai Laijun Commercial Management Co., Ltd.
Outstanding Essay Award
Selection of Essay on the Establishment of Learning-oriented Party
Organisation by Enterprises in Yangpu District
Office of Yangpu District Learning Society
Construction and Lifelong Education Promotion Committee
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B 5 SR R b

Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2021 China Top 100 Property Service Companies
2015-2021 China Top 100 Property Service
Companies for seven consecutive years
China Index Academy

LBRKBRRS L
BEEM

tETERERMREREAE

Shanghai Top Spring International Centre
A Council Member
Yangpu Sci-tech Finance Association of Shanghai
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

ER—KRLMATF  £EB S TEHEEILERNE
B RRBARCEEREERARZMHEEE -
ZER RRX-BEREBIPETHEEL B
BEITIHAER  DEXDINEEXEEE
ERTHSEELCEHEETIENER

o AEEHEEEIFERERERELEN
WET  EBERI - KEER  RERE
ERHE  XEEXLNERMBILEERN

1=

HRRA—BEENMT £2RBERNEBHER
24 HOeMELENINER BT —FF
B RXBERETBEREESAFAIHER
PEESHBE -RZPEES REKBER
& TAREIINERKRSEREI R - [/
B KR —F—=FHRYTRREEES
g RAZ(XBHEER BEAFZEA:
BHANEIERMY ZERUEGAHZFEINF
5 BB FM2ESETEAmEBEIBN
RPBEREEXNERABME O HE -

As a listed company, Top Spring always bears in mind its social responsibility
as a corporate citizen, while continuing to grow and expand in business. Over
the years, Top Spring has been vigorously performing its social responsibility
in active fulfilment of its corporate value of “joint efforts in creating and
celebrating success”, working relentlessly to advance developments in
corporate social responsibility.

Under the leadership of our Chairman, Mr WONG Chun Hong, the Group
made contributions to charitable causes such as aid for the disabled and the
homeless, relief for the poor, improvements to people’s livelihood, support for
education and cultural initiatives during 2021, earning enthusiastic praises from
the community.

Top Springers continued to venture forward, as we support education for
underprivileged students across China. Since 2010, the New Great Wall
Scholarship Project — Top Spring International Scholarships established by Top
Spring in association with China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation has been
providing support to underprivileged college students in Guangdong, Jiangsu,
Jiangxi and Sichuan. Meanwhile, Shenzhen Topspring Charity Foundation,
founded in 2013, has been actively supporting and participating in charitable
initiatives and donations in adherence to its philosophy of “supporting
education development, caring lonely elderly; promoting humanitarian
spirit, developing social welfare undertakings” to contribute its part to the
development of charity undertakings in China.



TEEEEME
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

—Eo—F EERLREREEESS It
FHRARESES  BEREXZ S TEE
LoaESETHBEILIBE)E912,00078 7T © LA
z&%yimmﬁﬁzﬁ KEB#HELEERT
E2019EMRESEE -

ERE209ERBRERE REEFELH
MR A RREREEB N ERHRYE R
MEZz=z RBELTEARNEGRRELZE -

AEBRBERORE  —OBRERERE -
KRE HESEZAREY  BORASEL
SRTHRTECELAR  HHOEMME ST
BEHRE -

In 2021, the Group made donations of over HK$912,000 in total to the
institutions such as Beijing Green and Shine Foundation (it 5 = 82 25 = K
% &), Beijing Zhonglun Charity Foundation (it R fa Az E £ &), Hong
Kong Construction Industry Council (&8 E % ¥ 7% €), Florence Hui Hiu-
Fai Foundation (FF B2 & 42 5 & &) for the promotion of healthy growth of
the youth, support of educational and cultural activities and fight against the

COVID-19 pandemic.

At the critical moment of fighting the COVID-19 pandemic and ensuring the
orderly resumption of work, Top Spring International Group assisted in meeting
the urgent need for anti-epidemic supplies to protect people’s life, health and
safety with charity.

While pursuing stable development, the Group continued to commit itself
to charity and public welfare activities relating to people’s livelihood, poverty
alleviation and education, as it endeavoured to be a good corporate citizen
that honoured its social responsibility and drive sustainable development of the
community as well as the enterprise.
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RPN EBEHRE
OVERVIEW OF OUR BUSINESS

TEREIAR_Z-_—F+_A=1+—HBFHM The table below sets forth the net saleable and leasable GFA information of
NREMEBEEHNFAHEERATHAEREMMAE  our 22 property projects in terms of planned use of the properties as at 31

BR(REREMERBED) o December 2021.
BUHKTRE
SEERSE
rE FEERR W+ AR
BEER BREEER BERR
Contracted
to be acquired
or under
Under  Held for future application
Completed development development for change in
land use GFA
FAK
sq.m.
BIELEME Properties held for sale

= ) Residential 10,695 69,921 30,494 6,497
REARE Serviced apartments 662 - - -
ZE Retal 20,671 67,812 - -
et Sub-total 32,028 137,733 30,494 6,497

BERENE Properties held for investment
TE/WAE Retail/Office 302,917 - - -
RE Campus 574 - - -
et Sub-total 303,491 - - -
FUHERTHEREHE Net saleable and leasable GFA 335,519 137,733 30,494 6,497

REREBRES HBHEINEHFTHERVHEREER
R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H

Estimated net saleable and leasable GFA by development status and region/city
as at 31 December 2021

6.0%1.2% 03% 739,
16.2%

4.9%
R RERERED = E D
HEREEEA 5.1% HIRESEIR
GFA by GFA by
Development Status City 33.4%

7.5%

0.1%

9
65.8% 19:2%

= B TIEA Completed projects 335,519 = RYI K ESE Shenzhen and 170,533 LIPS Tianjin 25,035
= EEIER Projects under development 137,733 Dongguan 0 Changzhou 82,490
" EEER Projects held for future 30,494 = b Shanghai 98,188 S]] Kunming 1,415
RERH)IE R development 2P Nanjing 717 " i Hong Kong 36,904
" BETHS T E S Projects contracted to be 6,497 B Chengdu 38,285 uSE Australia 30,494
FAEBFENRE LM acquired or under application = N Hangzhou 26,182
RkmIER for change in land use

MBS AE Total GFA 510,243



T _—FERBOE

RZZEZ—F AEEHEYEREE
fIFBE A $£491,709,600,0007% 7T (H A
#91,701,300,000 78 LR B METEEEE) -
BT -TEFFH51.9% c AEBDTE
EnEEmE((EEEE]) 44525527
EFARKNERRK]) BZZFZFFLH
49516% MN-_ZTE=-—F AEEYE
BEFHEE ((FHEED) BT HK
#66,647 1 BT (ZE2FF : BF K
#4966,4172%70) BT T F AL
03% AEBEERIHEELADNEE
HRAINRBESNMEREE L FTHE
ERHEMEMEBEENTFHEEEERS
FTEk o o » REBMR T —FHER
B MR B TEE R4 4 8,300,000 7T ©

AEBRHBEZZE_—F+ZA=+—
AIEFEMNMEREBENTEE 58084
]y

() MEAER

W City HE-BAE&HE

X3Z  Tianjin KBRS

%3 Shenzhen

Project - type of project
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF BUSINESS IN 2021

In 2021, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties
and car park units of approximately HK$1,709.6 million (of which
approximately HK$1,701.3 million was from pre-sales of properties),
representing an increase of approximately 51.9% as compared
with 2020. The Group’s total pre-sold gross floor area (“GFA") was
approximately 25,527 square metres (“sq.m.”), representing an increase
of approximately 51.6% as compared with 2020. The average selling price
(“ASP") of the Group’s pre-sales of properties in 2021 was approximately
HK$66,647.1 per sq.m. (2020: approximately HK$66,417.2 per sq.m.),
representing an increase of approximately 0.3% as compared with 2020.
The increase in the Group’s overall ASP was mainly due to the pre-sales of
properties in Shenzhen and Hong Kong, which has a relatively higher ASP
as compared to projects in other cities. In addition, the Group's pre-sales
of car park units in 2021 was approximately HK$8.3 million from the sale
of car park units.

A breakdown of the total pre-sales of the properties and car park units of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out as follows:

(a) Pre-sales of properties

EHREEREER REH REFHEE
Pre-sold GFA Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP
IR BBAT BT/ FAK
sg.m. HK$ million % HK$/sg.m.

Tianjin Le Leman City
=% - residential

9,464 37.1 1217 7.2 12,859.3

RIKBE ER Shenzhen Upper Residence
—F=E - residential

14,836 58.1 1,187.1 69.8 80,014.8

&% HongKong &% 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO

—F=E ~ residential

1,227 4.8 3925 23.0 319,885.9

#it  Total

25,527 100 1,701.3 100 66,647.1
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(b) FEALEEHE

Project

(b) Pre-sales of car park units

EEEFENHE
Number of pre-sold BE

RETHER
car park units Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP
[E] XYy %t/
unit HK$ million HK$/unit

R Nanjing KEEXR-BR The Spring Land - Nanjing 7 11.5 0.9 10.8 128,571.4
R Nanjing K — R The Sunny Land - Nanjing 54 88.5 7.4 89.2 137,037.0
@i Total 61 100 8.3 100 136,065.6

2) R=E-—EFERXNTRAKRNER
HE-_Z-_—F+_-_/A=+—BI*F
B AEERRENYVEREXBER
MEBEEBA (TREFEMHEE) D
70,900,000/ 7T A b5 B FER K A] 35 &
BEMENE6IBFHFK BREE_ZT
—EF+_A=ZT—BLEFESRRED
492.6% RIBINKI2.0%  HE-T - —4F
TZA=+—HIEFE AEEHEEDE
WEBERFHEENAETFEHAK11,213.0
BT EHRFHEETHELNAS%  T)
FEHRAEERKENEEERE EB
ERRMENE (TREFEBEMNIEE)FT
HEHER (ZEERBEE_T-FF
+-_A=+—BLEFEEHEEMWIER
RFHEELE  EFHEERE) i -

BE-_Z-_— 4+ -_A=+—8B1I%F
B AEERNREREEMUEENDA
5,100,000 7 + & H 41 EF B AL o

(2) Projects delivered and booked in 2021

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s property development
business in Tianjin achieved revenue from sale of properties (excluding sale
of car park units) of approximately HK$70.9 million with saleable GFA of
approximately 6,323 sq.m. being recognised, representing a decrease of
approximately 2.6% and an increase of approximately 2.0%, respectively,
as compared with the year ended 31 December 2020. The recognised
ASP of the Group’s sale of properties was approximately HK$11,213.0
per sq.m. for the year ended 31 December 2021. The approximate 4.5%
decrease in recognised ASP was primarily attributable to a significant
proportion of the recognised sale of properties (excluding sale of car park
units) being contributed by the Group’s residential project in Tianjin, which
has a relatively lower ASP as compared with the ASP of other projects sold
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group delivered and
recognised the sale of car park units of approximately HK$5.1 million from
the sale of 41 car park units.
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AEER-_T-_—FHEIANDEREFESR
IS EFHIBIIRMT

BE-EHBRG

RAERSH,
—F%E

RE Tianjin

Details of sale of properties and car park units of the Group recognised in

2021 are listed below:

[EPN
AHE
BEER

Saleable

GFA
booked
FHR
sq.m.

Project - type of project

Tianjin Le Leman City
- residential 6,323

5+
MEHER
Sale of
properties
recognised
BEETL
HK$ million

E ARk (5%

FEUHE FEUMERE

Number of Sale of

car park car park units

Project units booked recognised

f& BEBT

unit HK$ million

B®  Nanjing KEBEK - AR The Sunny Land - Nanjing 34 42
R Nanjing KEEXR - BR The Spring Land - Nanjing 7 0.9
st Total 41 5.1

54
FHER
Recognised
ASP

BT/ THK

HK$/sg.m.

11,213.0

B2ER
FHER
Recognised
ASP

A
HK$/unit

123,529.4

128,571.4

124,390.2
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REEEERENYEIN REETTH
g8l AR EMEEAE  TERE
BYmEs HEREPL  TEHE R
BRABNMEENM 27 E AR K
WEXF) - BNEEHE REHRR
BERL - MMNESEER O OFIIKE
B8 ERBEZHE - LESBHE AR -
EEEANEREMBEES  URAR
BEAMNEEEZMEEE KT =Z—
F+—A=+—"H AEEEEMED
AN BIE# 59,016,600,00078 7T * 14
AEBEEHLELN3.8% - REEKREY
FEEWAHEBEEEEL A305502
FHK - BE_ZE-—F+_A=+—
AIEFE ASESESEENEAAE
Bz (FBRIEER1E) 49152,100,000 7
T(EHEZZ-ZF+-_A=+—HLHF
E - BEWMERA(EEFE 58,900,000
BT (FNBREERIE)) -

AEERBEEENERTEMN  BRME
WHEER mHEHESKERAPHNE
REEZZRAZB/LRERKEAS - K
EERS AT HEL  BPHRAEE
RABEEBEEBE ASEHZZNEEN
HEFIERPEFAEENHLER
HEBREZENE R  EHEEREEN
MEZEBEAREREBHIEREER -
R-_ZE-_—F+-_A=Z+—8 A£H
WAMEBEENBER(BE—REMEREREE
HEGHERRELEEERIB10.0%)
HERZEMBLHALEEEETRENME
A FEEEmEEL296% (R _ET-_=4F
+—AZ=Z+—8 :434.9%) °

In addition to the sale of properties developed by the Group, the Group
has also leased out or expects to lease out its investment property
portfolio comprising mainly shopping malls, community commercial
centres, retail shops, serviced apartments and car park units in The Spring
Land — Shenzhen, Changzhou Fashion Mark, Dongguan Landmark,
Hangzhou Landmark, Shenzhen Water Flower Garden, Chengdu Fashion
Mark, Shanghai Shama Century Park, Shanghai Bay Valley and Kunming
Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula in Mainland China and Kowloon Tong Rutland
Quadrant Project in Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2021, the total
fair value of the investment properties of the Group was approximately
HK$9,016.6 million, representing approximately 31.8% of the Group’s
total asset value. The Group's investment property portfolio had a total
leasable GFA of approximately 305,502 sq.m.. The Group recorded
approximately HK$152.1 million (net of deferred tax) as gain in fair value
of its investment properties for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for the
year ended 31 December 2020: approximately HK$58.9 million (net of
deferred tax) as loss in fair value of its investment properties).

The Group carefully plans and selects tenants based on factors such as a
project’s overall positioning, market demand in surrounding areas, market
levels of rent and development needs of tenants. The presence of large-
scale anchor tenants which the Group has attracted enhances the value of
its projects. The Group enters into longer-term and more favourable lease
contracts with such anchor and reputable tenants which include well-
known brands, chain cinema operators, reputable restaurants and top
operators of catering businesses. As at 31 December 2021, the GFA taken
up by these anchor and reputable tenants, whose leased GFA was over
10.0% of the total leasable GFA of a single investment property, made up
approximately 29.6% (as at 31 December 2020: approximately 34.9%)
of the Group’s total leasable area in its investment properties under
operation.
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HE-T - —F+-_A=+—HILFE" For the year ended 31 December 2021, the occupancy rate of the Group’s
AEBEREMWENLEHEEH T =F investment properties decreased from approximately 90.9% as at 31
FT_A=T—HB#909% TEE_F December 2020 to approximately 82.1% as at 31 December 2021. The
T F+ZA=Z+—HYR 1% - HE— Group generated rental income of approximately HK$247.0 million for the
T_—F+_A=+—HLEFE K& year ended 31 December 2021, representing an increase of approximately
B E= 4 2 YA 49247,000,00078 7T+ 8 6.9% from approximately HK$231.1 million for the year ended 31
HE-_ZT-_ZF+_A=1+—HIEFE December 2020. The average monthly rental income of the Group’s
#9231,100,000 5 TTIE I1476.9% - B E = investment properties under operation for the year ended 31 December
T - —F+-_A=Z+—HILFEAEER 2021 was approximately HK$82.6 per sq.m. (for the year ended 31
EEREEMENAYHSRANAESE December 2020: approximately HK$82.3 per sq.m.).

FHRAR6BTL(EHE_ZTE-_ZTF+ A
—t+—BLEFE OAEBFHKS23IB

JT) e
AEER-_Z-Z—F+=ZA=+—H0H Details of the Group’s major investment properties as at 31 December
FTEREMERESERE_T_—F 2021 and their respective rental income for the year ended 31 December
TZA=tT—BLEFENHSBAFE 2021 are set out as follows:
HIMT
2z
—E--F
t=A
=+-H
EEEM
BEHR
R=B=-% ABESKA R-B=-%
+=A R=B=-% Average monthly +=A
=t+-8# +=A BelA rental income =+-Af
THE =t-Ai Rental income per sq.m. itk
BEER DREE for the year for the year Occupancy rate
Leasable GFA as Fair value as at ended ended as at
RENX at 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Investment properties 2021 2021 2021 2021
(fizE)
(Note)
Thk [} BEAT 7 = Fk
SQ.M. HK$ million HK$ million HKS$/5q.m.
EEVRENFE Investment properties under operation
EMFEEHE-HR Changzhou Fashion Mark Phases 1 and 2 (Shopping
—H(ENEER mall and car park units)
BE) 80,771 15686 377 563 789
MMRREER L Hangzhou Landmark (Shopping mall)
(BnE5) 26,182 4549 19.0 638 948
RPREHE Chengdu Fashion Mark (Shopping mall and car park
(s REEL) units) 38,285 8350 284 66.0 936
LBEs Shanghai Bay Valley 97,854 31933 50.1 59.0 73.1
M M E - —FF+ A=+ —HHAUHEEE Note: The leasable GFA as at 31 December 2021 excluded car park units.

FHEETNBEFEL -
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BN
Australia
&R
Sydney
°
I:FI $&JESt. LeonardsiE B
The PRC Sydney St. Leonards Project
— RS
Tianjin Le Leman City
—XBEX - BR
he Spring Land - Nanjing
—— BEMESHE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
EisEAER
Shanghai Bay Valley Project
EEFHHELEAER
Shanghai Shama Century Park
FUNHESEE O
Hangzhou Landmark
MRS
Chengdu Fashion Mark
1680, REREHEFL
d‘ﬁ, i}:). % Dongguan Dongguan Landmark
RIS —Giangrhiou| L B2 HongKong o immpmn
Kunming Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula N ks Hong Kong Sheung Shui
anning Ma Sik Road Project
#1l Shenzhen o
BERITBTN\BRER
Hong Kong Yuen Long
R=ZB—_—F+=HA=+—H 22 property projects EY T Shap Pat Heung Road Project
A R
M22{EM3RA as at 31 December 2021 Shenzhen Water Flower Garden ~ EB T ARKIER
; . R KA L Hong Kong Yuen Long
® %THA Completed projects Shenzhen Hidden Valley Tai Tong Road Project
o ERIEH Projects under development _ﬁ]?séitn— ;Ifﬂld chershen EETEEASFER
® FHERRBERERNKDATL Projects held for future 75@”%§F§7{E Hong Kong Yuen Long
1B E ok EAE A1 520 development or contracted Shenzhen T<;pspring International 1°N9 Yan 5an Tsuen Road Project
THABAIER to be acquired or under Mansion #3%128 WATERLOO
application for change YIS AR Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO
in land use Shenzhen Jianshang Commercial =y ssimmiamm g
O REBDREEMEZHT  Major city with high speed Building Hong Kong Kowloon Tong
railway RYKSE L RE Rutland Quadrant Project

N Shenzhen Upper Residence
— R R B High speed railway
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AEBRPEXNER RT=AM FEH -
RERKAMBREEHTREBOER
REEANREEMENERREE

RZEBE-—F+-_A=+—08 X&EH
RITER S A £ 22 BER TR ERE
PEERMIEE » BIEMETFIIHEE A A
ERFEMIEA335519F FKME R TIA
B i FaHE AHEREEREY
137,733 F KRB fE 2IE B ~ (& 50F 7] 8
& /Al EEETE 430,494 F F K
BERKRRERNEE RETFAHE
SR EREmEIEL6,497 F T KM E R
B THEESCERERE L HARD
BE FMBEEBEMNGHTFUHEE WA
EREEBEAFNASI0243FHK B
RAREIEaT -

HEAR

Project EiF,/
no. Hm City

Region/

BRIER
Completed Projects

1 R Shenzhen  FRIIKHI L

2 3l Shenzhen  KEIEX — R

3 3l Shenzhen  RIIKHITEE

4 2 Changzhou  BMNHZHE

5 R Dongguan ~ REHEHEHL

6 M Hangzhou — FUMHEREEFRL

7 B #6 Chengdu RBREEHE

8 =3 Shanghai EESBHEAR

9 KE Tianjin KEFESH

10 AR Nanjing KEEXR - ER

11 g Shanghai BAREE

12 EE HongKong  &EBNBEEEME
HE

13 B Kunming BHENHEYS
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The Group is specialised in the development and operation of urban
mixed-use communities and the development and sale of residential
properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the Central
China, the Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chongging regions in the
PRC.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 22 projects over
11 cities in various stages of development, including an estimated net
saleable/leasable GFA of completed projects of approximately 335,519
sq.m., an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of projects under
development of approximately 137,733 sg.m., an estimated net saleable/
leasable GFA of projects held for future development of approximately
30,494 sq.m. and an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of projects
contracted to be acquired or under application for change in land use of
approximately 6,497 s.q.m., totalling an estimated net saleable/leasable
GFA of approximately 510,243 sq.m., the details of which are as follows:

fhatE
AHE/THE r5E
EEEE PEfhREE
Estimated net Interest
attributable to
the Group

saleable/
leasable GFA
sg.m. %

Type of project

Shenzhen Hidden Valley T Residential 4,015 100.0
The Spring Land [EES Commercial 33,454 100.0
- Shenzhen
Shenzhen Water Flower Garden ~ B % Commercial 4,992 100.0
Changzhou Fashion Mark [SES Commercial 82,490 100.0
Dongguan Landmark [EES Commercial 20,172 100.0
Hangzhou Landmark [SES Commercial 26,182 100.0
Chengdu Fashion Mark [EES Commercial 38,285 100.0
Shanghai Shama Century Park ~ fRISEAE  Serviced apartments 662 70.0
Tianjin Le Lemen City F%/H% Residential/Commercial 25,035 58.0
The Spring Land - Nanjing [ES Commercial 717 100.0
Bay Valley Project [EES Commercial 97,526 70.0
Hong Kong Kowloon Tong R& Campus 574 100.0
Rutland Quadrant Project
Kunming Dianchi Lakeside [EES Commerdial 1,415 100.0

Peninsula

Nt Sub-total

335,519
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HEAR

Project EiF,/
no. i) City

Region/

HEEE

Projects under Development

Project

Type of project

et

AHE /WS
EEEE
Estimated net
saleable/
leasable GFA
ERR

sg.m.

14 F Shenzhen  FIIHKREBEKE Shenzhen Topspring International % Commerdial 58,294
Mansion

15 A Shenzhen  RIIE LB AE Shenzhen Jianshang Commercial ~ Z% Commercial 9,518
Building

16 w Shenzhen RIKEE FRE Shenzhen Upper Residence T Residential 40,088

17 EE Hong Kong &% 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO FE Residential 6,796

18 aE HongKong  &ETEA+/\ 4K Hong Kong Yuen Long Shap Pat £ Residential 20,050

BB Heung Road Project

19 & HongKong EETAARKIEER Hong Kong Yuen Long F=E Residential 2,987
Tai Tong Road Project

Mt Sub-total 137,733

FEARRBEENER

Projects Held for Future Development

20 BRI Sydney, #JE St. Leonards T8 B Sydney, St. Leonards Project F=E Residential 30,494

Australia

BTARTRERECRFNZ L ARAER

Projects Contracted to be Acquired or under Application for Change in Land Use

21 & HongKong  EBTEAEAFMEE  Hong Kong Yuen Long Tong Yan %A %E Composite TEA NA
San Tsuen Road Project development

22 e HongKong &/ L/kSiE Hong Kong Sheung Shui Ma Sk~ £ Residential 6,497

HE Road Project
/NET Sub-total 6,497
@it Total 510,243

r&
LR
Interest
attributable to
the Group

%

100.0

100.0

100.0

60.0

50.0

50.0

100.0

50.0
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REBH ML FEEFBHIIOT : Details of land bank in major cities are set out below:

fh 5t

AHE AHEE

BEEE

Estimated

net saleable/

BE, W H Region/City leasable GFA

sg.m.

FYIREEE (BIEREE) Shenzhen and surrounding regions (including Dongguan) 170,533

adic) Shanghai 98,188

R Nanjing 717

P #B Chengdu 38,285

LN Hangzhou 26,182

KiE Tianjin 25,035

B Changzhou 82,490

E A Kunming 1,415

BE Hong Kong 36,904

SEONETE Sydney, Australia 30,494

#at Total 510,243
NEB B ERERE 8 MR The Group intends to continue to leverage its experience in identifying
REERRE SREENEEEEE land parcels in and/or outside the PRC with investment potential at
BHH L YN EeS e BT AR advantageous times and acquiring land reserves which are or will be
E iR ETEeEn T A o ks - well connected with transportation and infrastructure developments.
AREFREENPREAR s+ HiE Moreover, the Group intends to continue to acquire new land parcels or
INFEREEE NN EEHEERIERE N projects in locations in and/or outside the PRC with vibrant economies
@SR T IER CEREARER (8 and strong growth potential, in particular, the Greater Bay Area (including

FEEE CFEYIREZ) - e RERINER - Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Dongguan), Shanghai and Sydney of Australia.
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(5) R=B=—FHHREENIEAE (5) Projects with commencement of construction in 2021
RIZB-—F - AEEFREEEEIEE - In 2021, the Group commenced construction of several projects with a
HEFAIEE AHERREEEBELA total estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of approximately 90,849 sq.m..
90,849 F 75K ©
BEABEFERINAOT Details of such projects are set out below:

HETRAHE
AHEEEEEE
Estimated
Region/ net saleable/
City Project leasable GFA
IR
sg.m.
wY Shenzhen FYIHRBEE KR E Shenzhen Topspring
International Mansion 58,294
wY Shenzhen Y L KE Shenzhen Jianshang
Commercial Building 9,518
BE Hong Kong HEITTAA T\ IE B Hong Kong Yuen Long Shap
Pat Heung Road Project 20,050
BB Hong Kong ERTTAARAEKIAE Hong Kong Yuen Long Tai
Tong Road Project 2,987

90,849
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2021, the Group’s consolidated revenue reached approximately HK$639.0
million, increased by approximately 11.1% as compared with 2020. The profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$33.4 million, as compared to a loss
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company of approximately
HK$283.3 million recorded in the previous year. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group’s basic and diluted earnings per share of the
Company (the “Share(s)”) were approximately HK$0.02 and HK$0.02
respectively (for the year ended 31 December 2020: basic and diluted loss per
Share of approximately HK$0.19 and HK$0.19, respectively). Net assets per
Share attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and the holders
of perpetual subordinated convertible securities (“PCSs"”) increased by
approximately 1.5% from approximately HK$6.6 as at 31 December 2020 to
approximately HK$6.7 as at 31 December 2021.

In order to maintain a stable dividend policy, the Board has recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK1 cent per Share attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company and the holders of PCSs for the year ended 31
December 2021 (for the year ended 31 December 2020: HK4 cents per Share),
subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. Together with the interim dividend of
HK3 cents per Share for the six months ended 30 June 2021 (for the six months
ended 30 June 2020: Nil), the Company would distribute a combined total
of HK4 cents as dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for the year
ended 31 December 2020: HK4 cents per Share).
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Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income and income
from provision of property management and related services and income from
provision of education related services earned during the year, net of value-
added tax and other sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 increased by approximately
11.1% to approximately HK$639.0 million from approximately HK$575.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. This increase was primarily
due to the increase in the Group’s income from rental income, property
management and related service income. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group recognised property sales of approximately HK$76.0 million,
representing approximately 11.9% of the total revenue. The Group recognised
rental income of approximately HK$247.0 million, representing approximately
38.7% of the total revenue. The Group recognised property management
and related services income of approximately HK$271.4 million, representing
approximately 42.5% of the total revenue. The remaining approximately
6.9% of the total revenue of approximately HK$44.5 million was income from
education related services.

Revenue from the Group’s rental income increased by 6.9% in 2021 as
compared with 2020 primarily due to the increase in leased GFA in 2021 for
property leases.

The principal component of direct costs is the cost of completed properties
sold, which consists of land premium, construction and other development
costs, capitalised borrowing costs during the construction period, the cost of
rental income, the cost of property management and related services and the
cost of education related services. The Group recognises the cost of completed
properties sold for a given period to the extent that revenue from such
properties has been recognised in such period.

The Group's direct costs increased to approximately HK$318.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 from approximately HK$313.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. This increase was primarily attributable to the
increase in the revenue of rental income and provision of property management
and related services for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately 22.6% to approximately
HK$320.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from approximately
HK$261.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The Group reported
a gross profit margin of approximately 50.1% for the year ended 31 December
2021 as compared with approximately 45.4% for the year ended 31 December
2020. The increase in gross profit margin was primarily driven by the increase
in rental income and property management and related services income with
steady fixed costs.

Other revenue increased by approximately HK$35.6 million, or approximately
25.4%), to approximately HK$175.5 million in 2021 from approximately
HK$139.9 million in 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase
in bank and other interest income.

Other net income increased significantly by approximately 348.9% to
approximately HK$218.6 million in 2021 from approximately HK$48.7 million in
2020, mainly due to the reversal of impairment on recovery of certain impaired
receivables and the gain on disposal of subsidiaries in Hong Kong, which
was partly offset by the disposal of land parcels in Yuen Long by the HKSAR
Government.

Selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately 7.7% to
approximately HK$82.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021
(accounting for approximately 4.8% of total pre-sales amount in 2021)
from approximately HK$76.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
(accounting for approximately 6.8% of total pre-sales amount in 2020).

The increase in selling and marketing expenses was primarily attributable to the
increase in commission expenses incurred in 2021 as compared with 2020.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 7.3% to approximately
HK$332.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from approximately
HK$310.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The increase was due
to the increase in staff costs incurred and legal and professional fee.
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Valuation gains on investment properties and investment properties classified
as held for sale increased by approximately 359.7% to approximately
HK$202.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from valuation losses
of approximately HK$77.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The increase was primarily due to the fair value gain upon the transfer from
inventories to investment properties in 2021.

Finance costs decreased by approximately 2.4% to approximately HK$294.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from approximately HK$301.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the decrease in the average borrowing cost.

Income tax expense increased by approximately 574.2% to approximately
HK$140.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from approximately
HK$20.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The increase was
primarily attributable to the reversal of corporate income tax provision netted
off against corresponding deferred tax assets of HK$116.5 million incurred in
2020.

The profit attributable to non-controlling interests was approximately HK$13.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for the year ended 31 December
2020: loss of approximately HK$84.3 million).
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash and bank
deposits was approximately HK$3,939.4 million (as at 31 December 2020:
approximately HK$4,699.8 million), representing a decrease of approximately
16.2% as compared with that as at 31 December 2020.

The Group had an aggregate borrowings (including bank loans and other
borrowings, bonds payable and lease liabilities) as at 31 December 2021 of
approximately HK$10,142.3 million, of which approximately HK$6,454.0
million is repayable within one year, approximately HK$2,819.1 million is
repayable after one year but within five years and approximately HK$869.2
million is repayable after five years.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank loans of approximately HK$8,670.0
million (as at 31 December 2020: approximately HK$9,532.0 million) were
secured by certain investment properties (inclusive of investment properties
classified as held for sale), other land and buildings, leasehold land held for
development for sale, properties under development for sale, completed
properties for sale, pledged deposits and rental receivables of the Group with
total carrying values of approximately HK$12,168.5 million (as at 31 December
2020: approximately HK$13,159.5 million). As at 31 December 2021, the
Group's bonds payable was secured by issued share capital of a subsidiary of
the Company and receivables owned by the Company.

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings and
bonds payable were denominated in RMB except for certain borrowings with
an aggregate amount of approximately HK$3.817.4 million (as at 31 December
2020: approximately HK$4,028.2 million) and HK$985.7 million (as at 31
December 2020: approximately HK$1,178.9 million) as at 31 December 2021
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars, respectively.
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The Group’s average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses expensed and capitalised by average borrowings during the year) was
approximately 6.0% in 2021 (2020: approximately 6.1%).

As at 31 December 2021, the weighted average borrowing cost for the Group’s
existing borrowings was approximately 5.1% (2020: approximately 5.4%).

The net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the Group’s net borrowings
(total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged
deposits) by the total equity. The Group's net gearing ratio was approximately
59.8% as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash balances denominated in
RMB of approximately RMB3,029.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,707.5 million), in US dollars of approximately US$3.0 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$23.1 million) and in Australian dollars of approximately
AUD$0.2 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1.3 million).

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars
or Australian dollars as a result of its investment in Mainland China and the
settlement of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings
in Hong Kong dollars or Australian dollars. In addition, RMB is not freely
convertible into foreign currencies and the conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC Government. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Directors monitor the Group’s foreign
exchange exposure closely and may, depending on the circumstances and trend
of foreign currency, consider adopting significant foreign currency hedging
policy in the future.
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NET ASSETS PER SHARE

Net assets per Share of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are
calculated as follows:
R-B=—F R %E
t=A=+-8 +=
As at
31 December
2021

=

RA=+—
As at
31 December

2020

Net assets attributable to equity shareholders

(F&T) of the Company (HK$’'000) 10,302,826 10,074,929
BETEERHE (FR) Number of issued ordinary Shares ('000) 1,412,733 1,412,733
BARITHE KA AT R F S 2 E (FAX) Number of outstanding PCSs ('000) 116,553 116,553
RETEEREEFENRNEE Number of Shares for the calculation of net

(FB) assets per Share ('000) 1,529,286 1,529,286
AATE AR MK AR E 535 Net assets per Share attributable to equity

BAEEEREEFMEGET) (3E)  shareholders of the Company and the

holders of PCSs (HK$) (Note) 6.7 6.6
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Note: The net assets per Share attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and the
holders of PCSs is calculated as if the holders of PCSs have converted the PCSs into Shares
as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, save for the guarantees of approximately HK$862.0
million (as at 31 December 2020: approximately HK$557.9 million) given to the
financial institutions for the mortgage loan facilities granted to the purchasers
of the Group’s properties, the Group had no other material contingent
liabilities.

Pursuant to the mortgage contracts, the Group is required by the relevant
banks to guarantee its purchasers’ mortgage loans until it completes the
relevant properties and the property ownership certificates and certificates
of other interests with respect to the relevant properties are delivered to its
purchasers. If a purchaser defaults on a mortgage loan, the Group may have to
repurchase the underlying property by paying off the mortgage. If the Group
fails to do so, the mortgagee bank may auction the underlying property and
recover any shortfall from the Group as the guarantor of the mortgage loan.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

On 5 May 2021, (i) Top Spring International (Hong Kong) Company Limited (a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“TSIHK"), Leading Model
Limited (“Leading Model”) and the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which TSIHK agreed to sell, and Leading Model agreed
to purchase from TSIHK, 50% of the entire issued share capital of Great Billion
Corporation Limited (“Great Billion”) and assign 50% of shareholder’s loan
owed by Great Billion to TSIHK for the consideration of HK$265,008,197; and
(i) TSIHK, Master Best Limited (“Master Best”) and the Company entered
into another sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which TSIHK agreed to
sell, and Master Best agreed to purchase from TSIHK, 50% of the entire issued
share capital of Wealth Channel Holdings Limited (“Wealth Channel”) and
assign 50% of shareholder’s loan owed by Wealth Channel to TSIHK for the
consideration of HK$49,965,061.

In the said sale and purchase agreements, the respective parties agreed upon
the key terms of the shareholders’ agreements for each of Great Billion and
Wealth Channel upon completion of the sales and purchases. To cater for the
funding requirements of Great Billion and Wealth Channel for development
of the properties held by Great Billion and Wealth Channel, it was agreed
that financial assistance of not more than HK$1,640 million will be provided
by the Group to Great Billion and Wealth Channel in aggregate mainly in the
form of shareholder’s loan and/or provision of corporate guarantee for external
bank borrowings and in proportion to the Group’s shareholding interests in
Great Billion and Wealth Channel. The said disposals of 50% shareholding
in each of Great Billion and Wealth Channel as well as the possible financial
assistance constituted a discloseable transaction and a major transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), respectively.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 5 May
2021.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures from 1 January 2021 up
to the date of this annual report.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of approximately 860
employees (as at 31 December 2020: 876 employees) in mainland China, Hong
Kong and Australia, of which, approximately 51 were under the headquarters
team, approximately 151 were under the property development division,
approximately 654 were under the retail operation and property management
division and approximately 4 were under the education division. For the year
ended 31 December 2021, the total staff and related costs incurred was
approximately HK$247.1 million (for the year ended 31 December 2020:
approximately HK$214.1 million). The remuneration of the employees was
based on their performance, work experience, skills, knowledge and the
prevailing market wage level. The Group remunerated the employees by
means of basic salaries, fringe benefits, cash bonus and equity settled share-
based payment. For any inconsistency between the numbers of employees as
disclosed in the results announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2022
and this report, the figures as disclosed in this report shall prevail.

The Company had adopted a post-IPO share option scheme on 28 February
2011 for the purpose of recognising and acknowledging the contribution that
eligible employees have made or may make to the Group. On 26 June 2012, 20
June 2013, 28 April 2015, 8 September 2015 and 23 October 2015, the Group
granted 15,720,000 share options (Lot 1), 14,000,000 share options (Lot 2),
82,650,000 share options (Lot 3), 3,000,000 share options (Lot 4), 10,000,000
share options (Lot 5) and 31,000,000 share options (Lot 6), respectively, under
the post-IPO share option scheme at the exercise prices of HK$2.264 per
Share (adjusted), HK$4.14 per Share, HK$3.3 per Share, HK$3.65 per Share,
HK$3.45 per Share and HK$2.796 per Share, respectively, to certain Directors,
senior management and selected employees of the Group. The post-IPO share
option scheme expired on 27 February 2021. While no new share option can
be granted, all outstanding share options granted prior to the expiration of the
scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the rules
of the post-IPO share option scheme.
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REEREEERAT —2-—F#H

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RN KA L

SHENZHEN HIDDEN VALLEY

EfcHRE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases 4 4
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 143,047 143,047
e T A HA Construction start date —ETLFLA July 2007
BT HH Completion date —T——FXA June 2011
fhEHABEEmE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 131,736 131,736
RZZE——F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
HEtFateE M HEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021 4,015 4,015
HEBE
Project Overview
h B Location BREARMEREFTER Yulong Road, Bao'an District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
WEER  Property type =% Residential
=E Highlights FINSERIEIEE 2 — 4% 25 One of the best villa projects in Shenzhen and was
BEICEtRIRAE| R [PEIEE awarded “Global International Garden Community
TEE =K Nominations Award” and “China International
Garden Community Award”
TP OESE((ROLEEE]) (BB Offers close proximity to central business district
BERTLAFRETSESER) ©  (“CBD”) (10 minutes drive from Futian CBD) and
M ERBMAB AR - BEREBES  is surrounded by suburb parks with natural living
environment
—HR_ZETN\FRHAHEL IR = Phase 1 was launched in May 2008 and became the
TENFRAERIZEEEMSA  best selling project in the luxury residential market
=HEIEH  c —HR Z_ZZ/)\F L in Shenzhen in 2009. Phase 2 was launched in
B - BMEmE 2L @B September 2008 and was sold out within a short
DRERBAZIHED period of time despite the global financial crisis
FRIYIk

Shenzhen Hidden Valley
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

KEEX-RY
THE SPRING LAND - SHENZHEN

FERTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 6 6
i EREAE (SF 75 K) Site area (sq.m.) 166,979 166,979
Faa5E T A EA Construction start date —EZNFRHA May 2009
%W T HE Completion date —ZT—NFENA August 2014
fhEH AR EERE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 774,371 774,371
RZBEZ—F+ZA=+—H0H Estimated net saleable / leasable
hEHFAISEE AT ERE®E ((FAK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2021 33,454 33,454
HEME
Project Overview
h B Location BERERMEREEEE Renmin South Road, Longhua Town, Bao’an District,
AREE Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
BELDH Lease termof RHEE Long lease
HEMR  investment
portion
MEFR Property type FEZ=KRZTE Residential and retail
=% Highlights 12 74 b 820 P 555 4R AT 1L Located at the Hongshan Station of Subway Line No. 4

K EXR—FIN(—H K —H) X (= The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phases 1 and 2) and

YR -_Z—ZFR-T——F 57| (Phase 3) were ranked the best and the second best-

ZHARY &G R E —GIHIEE selling projects in Shenzhen for 2010 and 2011,
respectively

KigEFER—FIN(RH) R =ZF— = The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phase 5) was ranked
FE=FZVFYNFGHEETEER  the best selling residential project in Shenzhen in the
third quarter of 2012

x#tE R —FI
The Spring Land - Shenzhen
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MREEHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

ARYIK A5 7E AR
SHENZHEN WATER FLOWER GARDEN

EfcHRE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases 3 3
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 164,764 164,764
%A T B &Y Construction start date —TT_F=H March 2002
BT HH Completion date —ETEXRE+A October 2006
fhEHABEEmE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 294,638 294,638
RZZE——F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
HETFAIHE A HEERLEEE (FHK)  GFA(sq.m.) as at 31 December 2021 4,992 4,992
HEBE
Project Overview
b Bh Location ERA R TR A EEERK Xiangmei Road, Futian District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
REWMOH Lease termof EHHEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEFR Property type = - ZEEKEMR Residential, retail and clubhouse
=B Highlights BEEMHRLEBIE - R FEM  Situated prominently in the exclusive region of the

B—Em_mE

RE_TT-_F[HEEELHTEH
BRIUNR_FTZ_ER_TT=F
METFEREAE]

city centre and offers unique view of the Honey
Lake

It was awarded ‘Classical Chinese Model Residential
Property’ in 2003 and ‘Real Estate of the Year’ in
both 2002 and 2003

RYI KT

Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EMEEEE
CHANGZHOU FASHION MARK

FERTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 4 4
AR AR (F oK) Site area (sq.m.) 120,296 120,296
F A e T A & Construction start date —ZEERFNA August 2005
T HH Completion date —T—=%7"A June 2013
hetEEmE (FAXK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 513,404 513,404
RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H0H Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHE RIS, AT EEEEE (FA2K)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021 82,490 82,490
HEBE
Project Overview
h B Location IEE B MNmEEZRARE Xiyingli, Zhonglou District, Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province
BREILDH Lease term of FHIEE Medium—term lease
HEHR investment
portion
mERR Property type =  ZERHAE Residential, retail and office
=% Highlights LR E MR EF D Located at the commercial centre of Changzhou city

Y BT RF[FEEmEMLE+T A Ranked in “China Top 10 Mainstream Real
FTREEA] MEEMNEIETE Estate Projects” in 2005 and Twin Stars (serviced
BEHREAE (REAAE)LEI=Z apartments) of the project was awarded “2006 Best
ERFERERBEAE] International Apartment in China”

—HE=HEFEHRTENAELMMK 0 Phases 1-3 comprise mainly retail or apartments
PWHR A B = @ 150 K B KAEUEETE  while Phase 4 is a large-scale residential project with
E| height over 150 metres

BHBAEXEMRRF Secured well-known anchor tenants

EMNRZEHE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
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MREEHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RRREEH O
DONGGUAN LANDMARK

FEHRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
R (F7K) Site area (sq.m.) 18,738 18,738
F 16 5E T B 53 Construction start date ZETREFRA June 2006
3% T B Ef Completion date —EENELA July 2008
hEtaEEEmE (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 79,679 79,679
RZZE——F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
HETFAIHE A HEERLEEE (FHK)  GFA(sq.m.) as at 31 December 2021 20,172 20,172
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location B A oo mh B & B 1R 3K 88 5 No. 88 Hongfu Road, Nancheng District, Dongguan,
Guangdong Province
BEILDH Lease termof RHMEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEFR Property type f{* =& Residential and retail

o

g Highlights  f
r

5% b B9 2K F upgrade the local amenities

ER
MEZFOLEEE KNP Located in the CBD of Dongguan and the dramatic
JEEERE MEMEH  KKIEHAE setting and accessibility of the mall substantially

REREBEEH L

Dongguan Landmark
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

PR EBEE PO

HANGZHOU LANDMARK

FERTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 1 1
A ERE (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 14,780 14,780
Faa5E T A EA Construction start date —ETRF—A January 2006
3% T A & Completion date —ET+ELA July 2007
hEtaEEmE (FAHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 49,989 49,989
R—E-——F+=-A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EDFAIHE A EEREEE (F7K)  GFA(sq.m.) as at 31 December 2021 26,182 26,182
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location L BN T R A& e Ouhuazhou Avenue, Linping, Yuhang District,
BIEMARE Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
BREWDH Lease termof FHAEE Medium-term lease
FAEHMR  investment
portion
MEFR Property type =& Retail
=5 Highlights 52 3T Hb 8k Close proximity to metro station
BHESIEEMTES  BFWTA Leveraging on high growth city attributes, Linping is
MN=EESREEMRT 2 — set to be one of the three high growth satellite cities
of Hangzhou
ERAEmEENEL  TNEKY  Secured well-known anchor tenants attract not only
Wol H TR AW 3B AA  other retailers, but also significant pedestrian traffic
JZx
/1L
MMNEREE PO

Hangzhou Landmark
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MREEHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

REBREHS

CHENGDU FASHION MARK
FEHRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 2 2
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 20,727 20,727
%A i T B B Construction start date —T——%F <A June 2011
BT HH Completion date —T——&+_H December 2012
fhEHEEEmE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 139,265 139,265
RZZE——F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEHE AT HE, AR EREEEE (FA2K)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2021 38,285 38,285

HEBE

Project Overview

ih Bh Location W RE TR R ZIREME Hongpailou, Fourth Section of Second Ring Road,

ANk Wuhou District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province
MEER  Property type ZERPAE Retail and office
= Highlights SEIT IO = SR AR SR PR BE A Close proximity to Jialing Road Station of Metro line
no. 3

R IE T T 5 KL AR 1,426.57T  Site was secured at approximately RMB1,426.5 per
A KBERITELREEBF sq.m., significantly lower than the average land cost
5 T # K AR for comparable projects

RERERE
Chengdu Fashion Mark
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

BB HHLEAE
SHANGHAI SHAMA CENTURY PARK

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
Y s B A Acquisition date === 27 September
AAZ++H 2013
EFrREE®E (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 49,357 49,357
T E AL AR Total number of underground
car park units 240 240
W_E-_—F+=-A=+—H0H Estimated net saleable / leasable
HEHFOiEE MHEREEE (FAK) GFA(sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021 662 662
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location EERRETR R Dongxiu Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai
BEILDH Lease termof RHMEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
YMIEER Property type REXAQE Serviced apartment
=% Highlights EESBHELAB AN ERFE Shanghai Shama Century Park is a serviced
HIRBA AR apartment located in Pudong New District
b 53783 - SN ES|

Shanghai Shama Century Park
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MREEHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

++ -|--|-

/

TIANJIN LE LEMAN CITY

EfcHRE Key Statistics

HAg No. of phases 3 3
AR AR (77 2K) Site area (sq.m.) 114,080 114,080
A ga e T A & Construction start date —E——FXA June 2012
3% T B Ep Completion date —ZE-TFXA June 2020
fhRHBEEmE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 114,080 114,080
RZZEZ—F+=ZA=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EHFAIHE, A HEREmE (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2021 25,035 25,035
HEBE
Project Overview
h B Location X *i%/! SRAL EE K B Junction of Beihua Road and Jincang Expressway,
ERAEBRAKED Jinhai County, Tianjin
MERR Property type F=KZT& Residential and retail
=% Highlights BEEE A Em AL (BHE) 202 2 Located 20 kilometres (“km”) away from Tianjin city
(TAED centre (Nankai District)

Uk 4912 Approximately 12 km away from the south station
BWNE:] of Beijing-Tianjin high-speed railway and 5 km away
from Beijing-Tianjin Expressway

E%ﬁﬁ%imLﬁ%ﬁ
NERIEFRREGERAKLY

REREH

Tianjin Le Leman City
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

KBER-ER
THE SPRING LAND - NANJING

FERTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 1 1
i EREAE (SF 75 K) Site area (sq.m.) 60,825 60,825
Faa5E T A EA Construction start date —T—=F—A8 January 2013
% T B Ef Completion date —ZT—RFNA August 2015
fhEHAEEEEE (F7K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 188,125 188,125
RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H0H Estimated net saleable / leasable
HEt RO tEE HEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021 717 717

HEME

Project Overview

i Bh Location IEREmRmERE NP Hexi CBD, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province

B
WEER  Property type FERTE Residential and retail
= Highlights 2 78] 75 0 B 7S [ ) R D 7S Located in the central area of Hexi CBD

TR LEEEBEZERER AT Hexi CBD has been planned to be a modern area
BEES mE - XL RESHAE integrating trade, business, culture and sports in
iR WiEBEM R REIT = AMNE  the city which is connected with Shanghai in the
abic] Yangtze River Delta

KEER-FR
The Spring Land - Nanjing
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MREEHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

LB AREA
SHANGHAI BAY VALLEY PROJECT

FEHRTHE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases TEA N/A
Y i B A7 Acquisition date —E—+F 31 July
+A=+—8 2017

ErrREEBE (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 97,854 97,854
R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—A0HK Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHFAEE AIHEEERBE (FHK)  GFA(sgm.) as at 31 December 2021 97,526 97,526

HAHE

Project Overview

i B Location EEBHEINTENBEEEREIRIE  International Community Sector, New Jiangwan

City, Yangpu District, Shanghai
WEER  Property type WA= Office
=% Highlights IS ERIAI R O — /BB AR Located at Yangpu Technology Venture Centre —

B EEHFRISEFEERRESE Bay Valley Technology Park, with the same level as
BIEN Zhangjiang Hi-tech Park

<F

tigEAER
Shanghai Bay Valley Project




TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 a7

ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

BRANEEEREER
HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG RUTLAND QUADRANT PROJECT

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
WM (F7K) Site area (sq.m.) 958 958
Y5 A A7 Acquisition date —E-N\F 7 February
—AtA 2018
R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHE RIS AT EREEETE (FA2K)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021 574 574
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location BERENEERME6R No. 6 Rutland Quadrant, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong
MEFR Property type & Campus
=% Highlights BB ERSE M E UL 2P1T 5 D 6 5-minute walk from Kowloon Tong MTR Station
ERNERERREEE

HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG RUTLAND QUADRANT PROJECT
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MREEHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

BHEMHAEY B
KUNMING DIANCHI LAKESIDE PENINSULA

FEHRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases TEA N/A
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 558 558
Yo H 51 Acquisition date —E-N\F 31 January
—BA=+—H 2018
R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—A0HK Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHFAEE AIHEEERBE (FHK)  GFA(sgm.) as at 31 December 2021 1,415 1,415
HAHE
Project Overview
ih B Location EHEEBERANFTHEMSEEEN Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula Business Center,
W SEBHO Liujia Sub-district Office, Guandu District,
Yunnan Province
MEFR Property type i Residential
=% Highlights WROEM KR RIEEM - EE  Close to the waterfront of Dianchi with superior and
& comfortable living environment
EREOHEXE

KUNMING DIANCHI LAKESIDE PENINSULA
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RINIRRBERKRE

SHENZHEN TOPSPRING INTERNATIONAL MANSION

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases 1 1
Faa e T A H Construction start date —ZE-NENHA August 2019
JEHRME T H Hf Expected completion date —E-=%—AH” January 2023
hFHRREmE S (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 107,281 107,281
RZE_—F+A=+—HHX Estimated net saleable / leasable

EEt RO iEE M HEREREE (FAX) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021 58,294 58,294

HERE

Project Overview

It B Location ERERYIMEEREIEAER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
WmERR Property type ZTELMHAE Retail and office

ot

L Highlights RAE - BRI ERH L Convenient transportation and close to Shangtang

Metro Station

RIKRERKE
SHENZHEN TOPSPRING INTERNATIONAL MANSION
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MREEHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYIE LA AR

SHENZHEN JIANSHANG COMMERCIAL BUILDING

FEHRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
Faa e T A HA Construction start date ZZ—NFNA  September 2019
JEHERMR T H 57 Expected completion date —ZT-_—_F)N\A August 2022
hEH R EmE R (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 21,829 21,829
KRB —F+-A=+—0H Estimated net saleable / leasable
R iEE M EREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021 9,518 9,518

EHEHME

Project Overview

i Bh Location ERE R TEERNEABR Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province
MEER Property type ZTELEMAE Retail and office

o

L Highlights RBHE - B Rk

Convenient transportation and close to Shangtang
Metro Station

RYIE LR K8
SHENZHEN JIANSHANG COMMERCIAL BUILDING
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYIKGE £ RE
SHENZHEN UPPER RESIDENCE

FERTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 1 1
Epay =R Construction start date —Z—tFMA April 2017
JEHRME T H Hf Expected completion date —ZT - _FJA April 2022
hFHRREmE S (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 73,228 73,228
RZE_—F+A=+—HHX Estimated net saleable / leasable
HEH RO iEE M HEREEE (FAX) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021 40,088 40,088

HEBE

Project Overview

i B Location BRARIMEERNEXER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province
MEER Property type (=% Residential
=8 Highlights ZEAE BRI _EYEMEL 0 7T Highly accessible with a 5-minute walking distance
557 # from Shangtang Metro Station

RIKBELRE
SHENZHEN UPPER RESIDENCE
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MREEHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

% %128 WATERLOO
HONG KONG 128 WATERLOO

FEHRTHE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases 1 1

g mAE (F 5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,692 1,692

I i& B &8 Acquisition date —E & 15 December
+=ZA+HAH 2017

MEBEEE(FHK) Total GFA (sgq.m.) 7,966 7,966

RZEBEZ—F+A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable

EEt R iEeE M HEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021 6,796 6,796

HERE

Project Overview

i B4 Location BENEESITEE 1285 No. 128 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong
MEER Property type f{t= Residential

o

L Highlights A NEERRIERERE

Luxurious landmark residence located in prestigious
school district in Kowloon Tong

%% 128 WATERLOO
HONG KONG 128 WATERLOO




TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 53

ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

7 JE ST. LEONARDS & B
SYDNEY ST. LEONARDS PROJECT

FERTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
Y s B A Acquisition date —E—+F 28 April
mAZ+NRH 2017
EFrREE®E (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 35,876 35,876
R-ZE-—F+-_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHFAEE MIAEEERA (FHK)  GFA(sgm.) as at 31 December 2021 30,494 30,494
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location 72 St. Leonards St. Leonards, Sydney
MEFR Property type i< Residential
=% Highlights B St. Leonards N B i 251759 6% 5-minute walk from St. Leonards train station

7% e ST. LEONARDS & H
SYDNEY ST. LEONARDS PROJECT




54 wREEMEEERAT-T- 4%

MREEHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EBTHT N\MBKIER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG SHAP PAT HEUNG ROAD PROJECT
FEHRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
R (F7K) Site area (sq.m.) 6,504 6,504
W B H Acquisition date —ZT—hF 9 October
+ANAE 2015
MEEEEE (F7K) Total GFA (sq.m.) 22,764 22,764
RZEZ—F+ZA=+—HH8 Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEt R iEeE M HEREREE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021 20,050 20,050
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location ERF R TR N\ Shap Pat Heung Road, Yuen Long District, NT,
Hong Kong
MEER Property type f{t= Residential
=3 Highlights PEPR AR TTEAA S D #EEEAR - #/\BF  5-minute drive from Yuen Long Station of West Rail
WA EM R Line, to reach downtown within half an hour

BETHTN\BEKIER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG SHAP PAT HEUNG ROAD PROJECT
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EEBTHAREIERB

HONG KONG YUEN LONG TAI TONG ROAD PROJECT

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases 1 1
B mAE (5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,031 1,031
W g B HA Acquisition date —ZE—hF 31 December

+=ZA=+—H 2015
BREEmE (FIK) Total GFA (sq.m.) 3,383 3,383

RZFZ_—F+=-A=+—HH®
HEHEHE AHEEERR

Estimated net saleable / leasable
GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2021

(E73K) 2,987 2,987
HEME
Project Overview
i B Location ERFATHRKNREE Tai Tong Road, Yuen Long District, NT, Hong Kong
WEER  Property type =% Residential
=E Highlights PR AR TTRAUG S D EEE AR 5-minutes drive from Yuen Long Station to West
FNFR A ETR Rail line, to reach downtown within half an hour

EETHAREEE

HONG KONG YUEN LONG TAI TONG ROAD PROJECT




56  AEEREEERAD -T-4%5H

MREEHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

ERTHEAFNIER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG TONG YAN SAN TSUEN PROJECT
FEHRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases TEA N/A
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 11,123 11,123
I i& B &8 Acquisition date —E & 25 October
+A=+HA 2017
HEBE
Project Overview
i B4 Location BEEFATTBEFEILEEE AFHN  Tong Yan San Tsuen, Ping Shan South,
Yuen Long District, NT, Hong Kong
MEER Property type #4GR&A%E Composite development
=3 Highlights HB AT B PR AR T A S Interchange for Light Rail Line and Yuen Long
Station of West Rail Line
EBTHEANNIEE

HONG KONG YUEN LONG TONG YAN SAN TSUEN PROJECT
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

BB LKEHEKER
HONG KONG SHEUNG SHUI MA SIK ROAD PROJECT

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
R AE (FF 7 K) Site area (sq.m.) 9,098 9,098
WehE H 28 Acquisition date —E—+F 11 July
+A+—H 2017
et EmE (FAXK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 7,278 7,278
RZBZ—F+_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
HEtEHE AHEEERR GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2021
(F7K) 6,497 6,497
EHEAHE
Project Overview
b B Location BEBETR KB BEE Ma Sik Road, Sheung Shui, NT, Hong Kong
YEER  Property type = Residential
=% Highlights B 3T b 7K b 58 0 DA K2 #9328 3 3 Proximity to Sheung Shui MTR Station and Fanling
MTR Station
EBLKEERER

HONG KONG SHEUNG SHUI MA SIK ROAD PROJECT
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A EZRNNEEFE AR MR LEBIR
BRHERE - AEETIZREFEAMLE
BNEHMERERER XRENEENYE
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[RBHHEERE | R TREHRED WA FRER
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o RYIKHIL
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
o RYKBHER
Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
s REHEBEEFRDL
Dongguan Landmark
o MINEEBEEFDL
Hangzhou Landmark
. REHEH

Tianjin Le Leman City

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“Top Spring” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”, “we" or “us”) is
pleased to present our Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
"ESG Report”) to outline our environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
strategy, management approach and achievements for the 2021 calendar
and financial year. This report details our initiatives and measures undertaken
to fulling our environmental and social responsibility. This report should be
read in conjunction with the Company’s 2021 annual report, which contains a
comprehensive review of its financial performance and corporate governance.

This report provides an overview of Top Spring’s ESG management approach
and performance during the year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021
(“the reporting period” or “the year under review"”), unless otherwise
specified.

This report focuses on the environmental and social performance of our core
business during the year under review. The Group is principally engaged in the
development and management of real estate property in Mainland China and
Hong Kong with a strong focus on the property development and industrial
operation businesses in the Greater Bay Area. On top of the forementioned
business, the Group also provides education products and education services
through its cooperation with the renowned kindergartens and nurseries
operator in Hong Kong, namely the “Creative Kindergarten” and “Creative Day
Nursery”.

The environmental key performance indicators (the “KPIs") disclosed in this
report cover our own assets (prior to sales) under our operational control in
Mainland China and Hong Kong during the year under review as listed below:

o IKBIEXR-RY
The Spring Land — Shenzhen
o  BEMNEERHE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
o RYIEFEM
Shenzhen Fashion Walk
e  KEHFHE
Chengdu Fashion Mark
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ABEDRBEEHERSMABR AR ([HX
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P &0 70 I8 T 3R R RIS Ei&iﬂﬂ/\&ﬁﬁ%$
SME2HENNER - B8
BEEM

AEEEERERUNEBNEERFE -AHEZER &

This report is prepared in accordance with the “mandatory disclosure
requirements” and the “comply or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting
Guide set out in Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules issued by the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX").

We have followed the four reporting principles as set out in the HKEX ESG
Reporting Guide to define the report content and to ensure the quality of
information presented in this report, including:

2HUAREER TG —F -

Materiality The Group has identified its material issues through materiality assessment. For more information, please refer to
the section headed “Materiality Assessment” of this report.

21t FEBEFARUNEBEAALHERBEERRBERER - FHARE - 7% BRELANAERRHENBRED

Quantitative HAREE R TR AN 2 55 o
KPIs are recorded and disclosed in quantitative terms whenever possible. Information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and source of conversion factors used for the calculation of environmental data are
also disclosed in this report.

i REERARERATENTABEEEAREEXRER  BRATLBEEFE -

Balance The Group disclosed both positive and negative performance in this report in an impartial manner to ensure that
the content and data are unbiased.

—Em RMENRUTEERE I —FE B - EBERFAE T EZGEMNZ G ERETRE -

Consistency

The preparation approach of this report is substantially consistent with the previous year. Any changes in the

reporting scope and calculation methodologies will be disclosed where applicable.

EEeRERE HeREARBNERERE
WAAEEZE2H EFGCRIEANRE &

EREREEIHEBERERZSEEINE
EASBES T AN RBRHENAZEHE -

BRRE HekBanNERIH0FSE &
SHARERERE  HGRERIEH] & -

BB ORESRZOAFELER  SEEHR
T—rfﬁ%ﬂ’]ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁwxﬁ?&iﬁﬁgkiﬂ e &
ERRIE - RMERFHENERRER
NERFOEVRERRE ZZD%—rT’ﬁ%iﬁidFﬁE’ﬁﬁiﬁ ‘
ZiA ERTIERAHERRMER RER
B30 3 25 = IR@topspring.com * B) 71 &L 5
HERE g REBNRE -

The Board oversees the management of the overall ESG strategy and reporting
of the Group. The Board has reviewed the material environmental, social and
governance issues, and will manage and monitor these issues and take them
into consideration in determining the Group’s business directions and strategies.
For details on our ESG management approach, please refer to the section
headed “Overall ESG Approach” in this report.

Dedicated to promoting the sustainable development of Top Spring, we attach
great importance to the views and insights of stakeholders to shape our overall
ESG strategy. We value the comments and suggestions of stakeholders and aim
to address their concerns wherever possible. Stakeholders are welcome to share
their comments and suggestions regarding our ESG work and this report via
IR@topspring.com to help strengthen Top Spring’s future ESG performances.
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BH2EEZTERE R TEERHES
B TROMNEZEY  Y2EREFNER
HERPERORE LG RERAH -

We are aware that expectations of the role of business in today's society
are changing. As a socially responsible corporate, we proactively manage
ESG issues while operating our business and creating shared value for our
shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers and other relevant stakeholders.
Striving to promote sustainability within the Group, we actively reduce the
potential impacts on the environment and the society and contribute to the
society by effecting positive change in the real estate industry and education
industry. In 2021, we continued to focus on four major areas, including
“Compliance Operation”, “People-oriented”, “Environmental Management”
and “Community Care”.

We are committed to enhancing our ESG governance and integrating the
concept of sustainability into our corporate governance and risk management.
The Board is ultimately responsible for Top Spring’s ESG strategy and reporting.
Acknowledging the significance of comprehensive ESG governance practices,
the Board oversees the Group's ESG issues and relevant policies and initiatives.
The Board is also held responsible for evaluating and determining the ESG-
related risks and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems are in place. In order to ensure the effectiveness
of aforementioned systems, the management monitors the implementation of
relevant policies and measures, as well as the progress of ESG-related goals and
targets. Reports are made to the Board for their review and confirmation.

The expectations and opinions of stakeholders are crucial for us to continuously
improving our sustainability strategy. Striving to create long-term values for
stakeholders, we maintain open dialogues and build trusted relationships with
our stakeholders, including shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers,
communities, government and regulators. Through ongoing and structured
engagement and diversified channels, we constantly communicate with
stakeholders to understand their major concerns, and shape our overall ESG
approach with reference to their opinion.
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Materiality Assessment

As stakeholders’ concerns and expectations may change over time,
understanding and responding to the views and expectations of our
stakeholders play a critical role in the success of our business. In 2021, a
materiality assessment was carried out to review the applicability of the
material issues identified in the prior year's report by taking into consideration
of the Group’s operating conditions, market trends and the latest laws and
regulations.

Through a review of the impact and importance of ESG issues to Top Spring
and its stakeholders, the Group’s material issues list was refined by clustering
them into environmental, social and governance aspects.

BE HE )
Environmental Social Governance
o FEKE RETRI MK o tt[R o REER
Water consumption and conservation Community Corporate governance

o BERBUE N ERBELE I
Energy efficiency and conservation
o BEKETR

Waste management

s EmEAEE
Product responsibility
o HrEsEEE

Supply chain management

s BEER

Business integrity

s ERAERER o BTHA

Indoor air quality
o FERBEMN
Air emission
« RRBLRBERBIK

Climate change and GHG emission

Labour practices
o REMZE

Health and safety
e EEERERIET

Employee development and training

s BEITREA
Employee benefits

REXFRFIMISIEEES » NREEREM S
HBNERAEBBHFFTEANEE - RSB
NFEDBRELEE  YESBNEEZEML T
FRARCREVIRIE - & REVRBUR - TTEIAIARE o

Among the 15 issues listed above, eight issues have been identified as
being of significant importance to our stakeholders and the Group. We
strive to adequately address these issues and provide stakeholders a more
comprehensive understanding of Top Spring’s ESG policies, actions and
achievement.
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BE HEREAREEEM ESG Material Aspect
EBE BEAREH BEYH
Aspects Material issues Relevance
RIR ENEREER FREARMEESEENENEZRERUNEEETESR
Environmental Indoor air quality Improve living quality with enhanced indoor air quality in our
residential projects
FEKE RETAAK ERMRFEROYES - BBEKR KRR S BN
Water consumption and conservation EE 1§ TinAIKERBARER  BRATHBEERA 5K
e B EnBEURE

Improve water use efficiency through water efficient designs
in our designed and managed properties; recycle and reuse
of water in our construction sites as much as possible; ensure
wastewater discharge on our construction sites meet relevant
discharge standards
BEIRUIE T B BE 15 I FREB IR RE RO ERNET G RGT RR BN E
Energy efficiency and conservation — BEJRA G : FHEEERERIERE - RESHLEER
Improve energy efficiency through the adoption of energy-
efficient designs and equipment in our designed and managed
properties; continue monitoring of energy consumption to
promote energy conservation

Htg EREE BROEXEBRUEMENRE  BREWRENRTFLER
Social Product responsibility R ERE

Ensure the quality of property projects and educational
supplies; ensure customer information collected is well

protected
Mz s WREIAZEELXE2NIIERER  WEEIEDEOHSAS
Health and safety 18001 B ZE R R S &2 & 5T & % 51| (Occupational Health and
Safety Assessment Series) 5278 : M8 TR EBERE L2
=il

Ensure safe working environment for our staff; property
management is certified with OHSAS 18001 Occupational
Health and Safety Assessment Series; provide regular health
and safety training for staff
1B B3R Nl FRMATERE TRERIIZII REBRFECEEELETE
Employee development and training L&
Continue staff's development by providing in-house training to
front-line staff and sponsoring further studies by application
A hEER BRAQAINAA - BRMEFIAL - WHRERAQRFNE
overnance Corporate governance B ERER
Ensure system of rules, practices and processes are in
place and that the Company is managed in the interest of
shareholders

s

[

EEEE EEREEENFXERRTNEH BEAE  REBMRAER -
Business integrity REEF=ZTHMBEE AL IERFEFITH

Manage issues surrounding ethical conduct of business,
including compliance, anti-corruption and bribery, protecting
intellectual property rights of third parties, and preventing
anti-competitive practices
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ENVIRONMENT

Commitment Principle

Recognising our responsibility to safeguard the environment, we have been
stepping up our efforts to enhance the sustainability performance across our
businesses. In an effort to minimising potential adverse impacts arising from our
operation, we strictly comply with the applicable national and local laws and
regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including
but not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Air Pollution, the Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution and the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

The Group adopts a variety of sustainability practices and measures to minimise
the negative impacts on the environment and natural resources. We have
continuously introduced green elements in our business by adopting a wide
range of environmental-friendly practices in our property development business
and education-related business, such as incorporating green building designs
and implementing responsible construction practices in our work sites, as well
as promoting the principles of reduce, recycle and reuse.
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Initiatives and Performances

Property Design

Throughout the development and design to construction of properties, we
continue to introduce sustainable elements into our property projects. For
design of new buildings, we follow green building requirements such as the
Assessment Standard for Green Building (GB/T 50378-2020) to create green
building design by taking into consideration of different-aspects such as public
green space, indoor natural ventilation, sound insulation quality, building
lighting, building material optimisation, thermal insulation and shadings, etc.

A number of green building designs and features have been implemented
during the year under review, including:

BRERFTREH HEE

Green designs and features Relevant measures

WEXEEMRE -

Passive building design -

BE TR R0 e 2 BN BE TR i _
Energy efficiency and conservation -

EEONERIN -
Water efficiency and conservation -
Indoor air quality -
LR i _

Green space -

MAFEBDARZEYR T UNEZRRBARZEFMRANR

Incorporating passive building designs to improve ventilation and optimise
sunlight exposure

EEEETLESERRE AR  WERERENEFGE

Installing smart sensors for temperature and humidity measurement in each
unit to enhance living conditions of residents

EAERERE (MMLEDEA)

Using energy-efficient fixtures such as LED lighting

150 PR B iR B B 38 I 20 Bk B W R 4t B 2R 5T B = BB IR B am

Improvement of energy efficiency with designs such as variable speed drives
and heat recovery systems

EERBOAGESA BAERERZS

Considering the use of renewable energy features such as solar energy

E A ANEn7K K B FH /KRR

Using water-efficient designs such as water-saving features
ZEERFIERENEENERER

Installing air purifying equipment to improve indoor air quality
EIEARAL K EH AL

Greening of rooftops and vertical walls
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GlEZ

Construction Sites

We strictly comply with relevant legal requirements in the locations where we
operate and have adopted various control measures to reduce and manage
environmental impacts arising from construction activities. By focusing on
the following key construction site management aspects, we are dedicated
to minimising the adverse impact of project construction on the surrounding
environment.

EEER 1HE ik

Management aspects Relevant measures

ARHBER - REEERATHN I IHERSEEHREZTEMRI618100% | ([ 618
Air emissions 100% )

- Implementing the “Six 100%" (“6{&100% ") measures of dust pollution
prevention and control at construction sites in accordance with regulatory
requirements

- RIBEHBUTRENE LRSI IEE R B R S0 5 ZE 00 BE RBEK

—  Measuring and limiting the exhaust smoke of diesel engines for non-road
mobile machinery as required by local government

REEWE R - INSRER B SRR I MR ST A TE WO SR R R B 1

Waste management -

REKE 1R -
Wastewater management -
RIFER -
Environmental management -

Reinforcing the management of the disposal and recycling of construction
wastes in response to latest requirements
BRAERNBRERZERENBRESTED

Using qualified vendors to ensure proper treatment and disposal of hazardous
wastes

FEBERL 2 Al i T4 B8 7K B I8 2 ] 2 A K F

Treating wastewater at our work sites to acceptable limits prior to discharge
ZHHREABDEETNIRE K2 REEEHETERRSE

Arranging regular inspections on the environmental, safety and health
measures conducted by construction contractors



66 REFEMEEERAT —T - —FH

RE dEkERERE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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AEBEEBEMEPRASRECERARE
REgE ROBEHR 8EE
B CORAEEY - BHRKEEER  RAIEHE
MEREETEBETATRREER  RE—FR

PHRENBETE -

BIREM
Environmental aspects

BERE IR
Energy management

RIRERE

Environmental management
HFP28

Tenants’ engagement

TBERHI A
Recycling

FI7K U & B B A

Rainwater collection and reuse

YEERE

Property management

Property Management

Various green measures are adopted at our self-operating properties to
mitigate our environmental impacts. During the period under review, we
have implemented the following environmental objectives regarding property
management with consideration of aspects such as energy saving, noise
prevention and control, waste reduction, water conservation, so as to further
reduce our potential environmental impact.

HH B bt

Relevant measures

7% R BA & B # 5 LED

Replacing lighting fixtures with LEDs

BARNHRBREGHRABEELHE

Reducing the amount of lighting used in common areas

13150 14001 RIHE B R BE

Obtaining ISO 14001 Environmental Management System certification
SEALEER(E  KRWEHER) HRERZE &KE

Encouraging tenants to minimise their resource consumption (electricity, water
and material use)

AE P IR R R A - AR BE )

Providing tenants with recycling facilities for waste reduction

BPRESH T ERBRETESEEDUSBDELBLEXRD TETEN
AT UAXHEBBANEXRYRERBREZD

Supporting the old clothing recycling activity of local government by providing
venues for equipment and publicity activities and encouraging tenants to
donate old clothes to those in need

BB RKESKDME  MBEEAREAEAPETL2RIEREIR
15 B

Providing assistance to construction contractors to carry out safety protective
measures for tenants during when conducting works to separate rainwater
from sewage

BREBERBEBZHCARERERE  EERBFERAMAREM
R ER

Ensuing strict compliance with relevant regulations when using pesticides and
cleansing agents, and aiming for zero incidents regarding their use and storage
RIBER R 77 R EE R R ABERESK - BEM RS

Managing community wastewater, waste and noise according to national and
local standards
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Education-related business

With regard to our education-related business, our major environmental
impacts generally arise from energy use and paper consumption. In view of
this, we actively promote energy conservation and advocate paperless practices
in office areas. We have also replaced the paper-based office administrative
system with electronic office automation (OA) system, while employees are
encouraged to reuse paper or adopt double-sided printing whenever possible.

For the arrangement of school supplies, in addition to abiding by the stringent
quality requirements of the Education Bureau of Hong Kong, we also endeavour
to promote the use of energy-efficient and environmental-friendly products.
Recyclable teaching supplies are provided to schools, where the supplies could
be stored in warehouses for reuse whenever necessary. To further promote the
reduction in paper consumption, we also support the transition from traditional
paper books to e-books and will move towards this direction in the course of
book publications.

Climate Change

In September 2020, China announced its 2030 carbon emission peaking target
and 2050 carbon neutrality target at the 75th Session of the United Nations
General Assembly to actively respond to climate change and promote green and
low-carbon development. Acknowledging the significant risks and opportunities
brought by climate change to our business operations, including but not limited
to potential changes in climate-related policies, laws and regulations which may
increase compliance and operating costs, and natural disasters such as severe
typhoons, floods, abnormal heat waves, etc. that may severely interrupt our
normal operation.

We embrace our responsibility and are taking additional action to address and
mitigate the potential impacts of climate change. By actively adopting a variety
of energy-saving and emission reduction measures, we aim to optimise the
resource efficiency of business operations and gradually reduce our carbon
footprint. In the future, we will continue to introduce policies and procedures
to identify of climate-related risks, assess the impacts of climate-related risks
and opportunities, and formulate strategies to enhance our capacity to cope
with climate change.
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Performance of Identified Material Environmental Aspects 2021

28 (%)
Material Aspects % change
BEEEIE (REEE) Total GFA (Gross floor area) 10,000 F 752K 155.79 178.66 -0.13%
10,000 m?
FAXKE" Water consumption’
fAkE Water consumption K 606,782.30  372,833.00 +62.75%
m3
KR E Water intensity SHKSFRK 0.39 0.21 +86.64%
m3/m?
BERMER" Energy consumption'
EEREIRFEE Indirect energy consumption
RS Electricity consumption TR 16,410,564.00 13,034,739.32 +25.90%
kWh
AERE Electricity intensity FEEFEHXK 10.53 7.30 +44.38%
kWh/m?
EfZBERFEE? Direct energy consumption’
s E Diesel consumption FERE 36,406.01 - 38 A
kWh N/A
e R Diesel intensity FEEFEHXK 0.02 - 38 A
kWh/m? N/A
RAAARE Natural gas consumption FEH 1.010,333.07 - iE A
kWh N/A
AARRE Natural gas intensity TR, F 5% 0.65 - i@ B
kWh/m? N/A
EREHEE Total energy consumption FEF 17,457,303.09 13,034,739.32 +33.93%
kWh
BLIRAREE Total energy intensity FEEFEHX 11.21 7.30 +53.39%
kWh/m?
FEENEEY Waste generated
—MREEE General waste ] 33,079.07 - iE A
tonne N/A
BEERER Construction waste i 72.00 - A3 A
tonne N/A

! RZTEZ—F BAKERERESZMIIHR !
BPMEAEYEERBEENEL TR EBL
COVID-19 & 1 1B FEM IR o

2 LHMEAARERBENEZRREMNRERYE 2
SEBIMAEHGIAMRREERE HLEREA
S JETHER2  IREAREIUEEREER -

The increase in water and energy consumption in 2021 is attributable to the resumption
of the operational activities at our commercial property management projects as the
businesses recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic.

The conversion factors from volumetric units of diesel and natural gas consumption to
energy units are referenced from Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs
under “How to Prepare an ESG Report” released by HKEX.
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Regulatory Compliance

During the year under review, the Group did not involve in any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste of the countries where we operate.

EMPLOYMENT

We believe our people are the most valuable assets and an integral part of
our success. With this in mind, we attach great importance on our human
resources in an effort to attract and retain talents. By providing employees with
competitive remuneration and benefits, equal opportunities, diversified training
and development programmes, and comprehensive health and safety measures,
we are dedicated to creating an inclusive and safe workplace for all employees.

Employment Practice and Employee Benefits

We strictly comply with the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law,
the Law on the Protection of Minors, and other applicable laws and regulations
relevant to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare. A series of policies and guidelines such as the Recruitment
Management System, the Attendance and Leave Management System, the
Assignee Management System, and the Guidelines for Career Planning for
Officers are in place to set out provisions on the recruitment system, standards,
processes, employee benefits and welfares, attendance management, code of
conduct, etc.

We strive to promote fair competition and prohibit discrimination or harassment
against any employees or job applicants based on their gender, age, marital
status, religion, race, nationality, disability or any status protected by law.
We view all job applicants equally and carry out all recruitment process in
accordance with our Employment Policy, Guidelines for Talent Referral Reward
and Training Management System. In addition, employees are expected to
adhere to the principle of “be virtuous and talented, have morality come first”.
We adopt a zero-tolerance attitude towards any form of discrimination or
harassment behaviours in the workplace.

Meanwhile, we strictly forbid the employment of child labour or exploitation
of forced labour, and strictly operate in accordance with the Provisions on
Prohibition of Child Labour and other law and regulations relating to preventing
child and forced labour. Identity documents of job applicants will be inspected
during recruitment process to ensure they are of legal working age and eligible
for employment.
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To attract and retain talents, competitive compensation and benefit packages,
as well as a clear promotion ladder are offered to employees. Our salary and
reward packages and career opportunities are regularly reviewed to ensure
the contributions of employees are recognised. Annual performance appraisals
are carried out to provides an opportunity for all employees to discuss career
planning, identify areas for further development and maximise career potential
with their line managers.

On top of statutory holidays, paid annual leave (adjusted by seniority), paid
sick leave, compassionate leave, maternity leave or abortion leave, work injury
leaves and etc are provided, thus accompanying the needs of employees and
promoting their work-life balance. In accordance with statutory regulations, all
eligible employees are enrolled to a defined contribution mandatory provident
fund scheme in Hong Kong or social insurance scheme in Mainland China.

We also encourage our employees to have unrestrained communications
with us, allowing us to learn their needs and suggestions. We maintain two-
way communication through networking activities and feedback sessions. In
addition, we provide communication channels for our employees to express
grievances and complaints. Upon receiving opinions or complaints from
employees, we will address the complaint according to our predetermined
procedures and seek to resolve their concerns.

Regulatory Compliance

The Group strictly complies with all the regulatory requirements with respect
to labour standards and prohibits the employment of child and forced labour.
During the year under review, neither any non-compliances with respect
to employment, child labour or forced labour, nor any discrimination or
harassment incidents were reported within the Group.
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Healthy and Safe Working Environment

The health and safety of our employees are of utmost importance to our
operations. Therefore, we stringently comply with the Law on the Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases of the PRC, the Provisions on the
Supervision and Management of Occupational Health at Work Sites, the
Regulation on Work-related Injury Insurances and other relevant laws and
regulations relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

Our Safety Management Handbook and Emergency Management Handbook
have detailed guidance for health and safety management. We have developed
a safety management system for our property management business, which
has been certified with the OSHAS 18001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System. In order to further promote the improvement of our
safety performance, we have set the safety objective of striving for zero
major health and safety incidents, including health and safety accidents and
emergencies. The occupational health and safety policy has been formulated
to enhance safety management and ensure traffic safety of the community
where our properties are located. Inspections on our self-managed properties
and construction sites are carried out regularly to ensure our health and safety
measures are properly implemented.

In an effort to enhance employees’ health and safety awareness, we offer
relevant training sessions from time to time. In addition, the job types of site
employees will be identified to provide them with appropriate work injury
insurance, accidental injury insurance and annual physical examinations. We
have also provided workers with regular body check-ups and medical insurance.

Amid the COVID-19 pandemic, we have been paying close attention to the
development of the pandemic to implement pandemic prevention measures,
prepare sufficient emergency supplies and protect the health and safety of our
employees. For our property management business, employees are equipped
with protective supplies such as masks, face shields and rubbing alcohol.
Training sessions are also arranged to enhance the pandemic prevention
awareness of employees. At the same time, their protection preparation
statuses are inspected before going on duty every day to minimise the risks of
infection. With regard to our education-related business, we have suspended
face-to-face classes and provide online teaching, thus safeguarding the health
of teaching staffs.

Regulatory Compliance

During the year under review, there were no work-related fatalities®> and lost
days due to work-related injuries recorded, nor any non-compliance of laws
and regulations relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

3 There were no work-related fatalities recorded within the Group in the past three years
(including the year under review).
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Development and Training

We believe the development and growth of employees is an indispensable
part of the continuous development of our business, and put emphasis
on cultivating our employees with extensive learning and development
opportunities to enhance their job-related skills and knowledge.

To facilitate the professional development of our employees, we encourage
our employees to learn continuously through coaching and further studies.
Internal policies and guidelines such as the Training Management System,
the Guidelines for Assignment Management Training and the Internal Trainer
Management Guidelines have been formulated to guide the development of
training programmes and plans. Annual Training Plan are developed every
year to ensure the training provided aligns with the needs of the Group and
employees.

By offering tailored on-the-job training and self-learning programmes, we
seek to improve the knowledge and skillsets of employees, thus building an
elite team that is long-lasting, professional, and highly efficient. In order to
strengthen team bonding and deepen employees’ sense of belonging to the
Group, we also arrange team building activities and environmental operation
training in collaboration with external professional institutes.

In 2021, we suspended face-to-face training courses due to the COVID-19
pandemic. Nonetheless, we have introduced virtual training activities catering
to employees with different job functions. The training covered areas such
as property development and management, customer service, financial risk
management and human resources management.
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Business Ethics

Committed to delivering a fair, open and just business environment, the Group
strives to uphold the highest ethics and governance standards and avoid
corruption in any form. Strictly abiding by laws and regulations relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, we have outlined the provisions
on anti-corruption in our Employee Handbook and Group Disciplinary System.

We take a stand against any behaviour related to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, and expect our people to uphold the highest professional
standard and work with honesty, broadmindedness, integrity and righteousness.
Taking zero tolerance towards any form of corruption in our business activities,
our employees are required to report any gifts or benefits they receive from
clients immediately. To enhance the awareness of integrity within the Group,
anti-corruption trainings are provided to the Board and all employees from time
to time.

Reporting channels are in place for employees to report on any suspected
incidents of corruption or malpractice within the Group. Internal audits are also
carried out for routine monitoring, so as to eliminate all irregularities within the
Group.

During the year under review, there were no reported non-compliances with
regard to bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering involving the Group or
our employees.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY AND SUPPLY CHAIN
MANAGEMENT

Sustainable and responsible business operations are the key to our long-term
success. We are committed to delivering high-quality property development
and lifestyle services through innovation and delicacy. By working closely with
stakeholders along the value chain, we strive to create a joyful and harmonious
living environment for customers.

Supply Chain Management

Adhering to our commitment to building an “open, fair and impartial” supply
chain management, we have developed policies and measures to manage the
risks along the supply chain and maintain transparency and fairness in our
procurement process and contractual arrangements.

In an effort to effectively manage the environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, we have established a comprehensive supplier selection process
and adopt stringent criteria in the course of potential supplier evaluation. Apart
from the products and services, goodwill and cost, we also consider factors
such as construction safety and product safety. We only work with reputable
third-party suppliers who have demonstrably high corporate standards. To
ensure effective evaluation of potential suppliers, site visits are arranged to
assess operation status, qualifications and other aspects of potential suppliers
before including them into the supplier list.
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For our education-related business, we not only work closely with brands and
companies with a good reputation and mature products, such as food suppliers
and school bus operators, but also regularly evaluate them to assess their
alignments with our strategic visions.

With the aim to ensure the concept of sustainability has been implemented
in our entire value chain, we advocate green and responsible procurement
to mitigate the potential environmental and social impact. Evaluation of
the performances of suppliers and contractors on their management of
environmental and social risks are arranged regularly. Criteria such as corporate
governance, labour conditions, ethics and environmental performances
of suppliers are also our key aspects to be considered, so as to encourage
suppliers to continuously improve their environmental and social responsibility
performance.

On the other hand, we maintain close liaisons with suppliers and contractors on
all construction and sourcing affairs to ensure the quality and services. Regular
meetings are organised to facilitate two-way communications and strengthen
collaborations, thus ensuring effective communication of any possible delay or
conflict and minimising the chances of affecting our product and service quality
due to undesirable services from suppliers.

Quality Services

We believe services and products of high quality are the cornerstones of
our business. On top of strictly abiding by laws and regulations relevant to
the health and safety relating to products and services provided, we have
established a comprehensive management system that is certified with the ISO
9001 Quality Management System to guide our daily work.
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For our property management services, we have developed the following
objectives to ensure continuous improvement on the service quality to our
tenants:

—  Develop quality properties that embrace innovation and enhance the
neighbourhood;

—  Provide sincere service and constantly improve our property management;

—  Strive for high standards by building scientific and standardised property
management, and achieve customer satisfaction; and

—  Provide a tasteful living and working environment with standardised
service.

As a responsible property developer, our priority is ensuring the health and
safety of customers. On top of formulating and implementing relevant internal
policies, assessments on a variety of criteria, including actual measurements,
safety and civilisation, quality risk and management measures, are conducted
to ensure the quality of property construction. In addition to internal quality
assessments, we entrust third-party professionals to carry out additional
inspections, including delivery risk inspection, quality inspection and sentience
evaluation. This allows us to obtain objective comments on delivered projects
from the prospect of our client. Major defects identified from the assessments
and relevant improvement measures will be summarised annually, thus allowing
us to adopt more appropriate and effective construction methods in future
projects and continuously improve our construction quality.

For our education-related business, an extensive quality control system has been
established to monitor the quality of our day-to-day food supplies, thereby
safeguarding the health and safety of students and staff in our schools. In order
to secure the quality of food supplies, we have appointed dedicated personnel
to manage food supplies in specific areas of each school. Regular inspections on
the hygiene conditions of food processing, handling, storage and distribution
are also conducted.

Apart from ensuring the quality of services and products across different
business units through stringent management measures, we also attach great
importance to the comments and suggestions from customers. We regularly
communicate with our customers and tenants through satisfaction surveys
to identify potential areas for improvement, thus protecting their rights and
well-being. For our property management business, we have implemented
closed-loop management for complaints received from customers. Through
integrating our offline and online platforms, we are able to promptly handle
the complaints and comments from customers, providing them with timely
and effective feedback. During the year under review, the Group addressed
customer complaints related to our products and services, with a 100% prompt
processing rate.

During the year under review, the Group had no non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations concerning health and safety relating to products and
services provided.
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Protection of Privacy

Upholding the highest standards in protecting customer data privacy, our
operations strictly abide by the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong
Kong and other local laws and regulations relevant to privacy matters. We keep
customers’ information confidential and have formulated a series of internal
policies to set out the privacy and confidentiality requirements, including but
not limited to the Guidelines for Information System Security Management and
the Staff Non-disclosure Agreement.

A hierarchical authorisation management system has been established to
grant different personnel with different permissions, thus ensuring the access
to customers’ confidential information are limited to relevant personnel. In
addition, we have formulated internal policies to regulate the approaches
adopted to collect and store customer data and information. All employees
are required to stringently comply with all internal guidelines relating to the
collection, handling, transferring, storage, and disposal of customers’ personal
information.

During the year under review, there were no reported non-compliances
regarding product responsibility within the Group.

Protection of Intellectual Property

Recognising the importance of intellectual property rights, we make effort to
protect our intellectual property, trademark and copyrights. While the Group’s
business involves book publishing, we strictly comply with the Intellectual
Property Law of Hong Kong, the Patent Law of the PRC and other applicable
laws and regulations relevant to advertising, labelling, and intellectual property
rights, so as to protect our trademark and the book authors’ intellectual
properties from infringement.

During the year under review, there were no reported non-compliances
regarding intellectual property and copyright, and advertising and labelling of
our products and services.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

In addition to pursuing prosperous business development, we are well aware of
the importance of developing a close relationship with the community and are
devoted to creating long-term value for the communities where we operate.
During the year under review, we continued to put effort into our focus area
and create education opportunities for under-privileged students, assist families
in difficulties and take care of elderlies through Shenzhen Topspring Charity
Foundation.
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This KPI is not identified as material for the Group. We will
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needed in the future.
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Al6

A2

A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

BH

Aspects
HIARBEEERESEEMMAE - RERET L AHE B
BRAEINELERARBRNTR

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them

EREA

Use of resources

—RBE

BAERER(BEER  KREMENH) B EER

General Disclosures

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials

RERESNERR/XMELR(WNE - k) B2 (N
TETREAE) REE (WASES B - BEREHE)
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity,
gas or ail) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)

BRKEREE (WUBESSMN  BEREHE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)

WA TR RE A G AR R AEDE L RATRRA
TR

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them

SR HGE AR R B A R - DA R AT S2 ) A K
BRRAEDE L B R ARG 5

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them
ARGMARENENEE CIETE) R (NER) BEEE
it

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced

1]
Section
B

BERRR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

B -
AR
BERRR
Environment -
Commitment

Principle;
Initiatives and
Performances

RE-
BERRR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

RE-
BERERR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

B
BERRR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

RBE-
BERRR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

3

Remarks

FKemRGUKES PG - HRARH T EEERR -
Water is supplied by municipal water supply department. No
potential risk is anticipated in its sources.

BEMHERAREN AFTEENEEER -
The use of packaging material is not identified as a material
aspect of the Group.
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A3

A3.1

A4

Ad1

EH
Aspects

RERXAER
The environment and natural resources

—RBE

BERSBITAERERARERENEATEHOBE
General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources

B EBRDHURERRAABRNEAYERERRNERA
B ENTE

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the action taken to
manage them

RIRE(L

Climate Change

—REE

AL RECERUEEHRITAELY ENEARIRAR
EHMER

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer
WHREERAHEHBETAELEYENERRGEREE -
RERRERBHZENTD

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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0]
Section

RE-
BERRR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

B
BERRE
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

B
BERRR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

B
BERRR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

A
Remarks
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Em B 5
Aspects Section Remarks
B e
Social
B1 &R
Employment
—REE EREFHAR
EEREM
BRHWREE BEREA THERZ BE TSHE - Employment
Zrft REGAREMFBRERK - Practice and
@ HE: R Employee
() BEFHBEOTAEEAYENE@ERRBOINER Benefits

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare

B1.1 BER - BREL (WEBRRE)  FRAFREEI DN REBFER AEEAB0RES  EhnSHELIty

B1.2

EERE
Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-
or part-time), age group and geographical region

BIR FREFI KRR HEER KL X
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region

BI5 B A61% 239% - RERFAEREE, TENEELR
—Hlt AEEHEARRRERZEREL  FREFRME
ENHEERE -

As at the end of the year under review, the Group had 860
employees, with a male to female ratio of 61% and 39%
respectively. To ensure alignment and consistency of the
definition of data reported, the Group aims to report on the total
workforce by employment type, age group and geographical
region in the future.

RERMERNE TENEEER -3 REEHER
*%@ﬁ&ﬁémﬁitbﬁ °

To ensure alignment and consistency of the definition of the data
reported, the Group aims to report on the employee turnover
rate in the future.
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EmE B EL

Aspects Section Remarks
B2 REEZZ

Health and safety

—MRBE BEZZH

IHERE
BREREZ2TIEREIRREEREBENLEN Healthy and
@ BE: Rk Safe Working

(b) BFHBTABERFEMHBEZZNRONER - Environment

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards

B2.1 BE=F (PRERFR) BFAIUAMABRLE ERz2H
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of ~— T{EIRE
the past three years including the reporting year Healthy and

Safe Working
Environment

B2.2 BIGEXTERS ERz2H

Lost days due to work injury T{EIRE
Healthy and
Safe Working
Environment

B23 HAMRAOBERREL 2R WAAERTRERS RBEZEN
3 IHERE
Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, ~ Healthy and
and how they are implemented and monitored Safe Working

Environment
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B3

B3.1

B3.2

B4

B4

B4.2

BH
Aspects

BERE
Development and training

—RBE

BRRTEERTTIERAMMA R RAENHE - fd 57
HE

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BUERRERER (WRAERE PREEE) HHNTI
EEBAL

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management)

REFIREEERES  BEEETAZIN TR

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category

HIR%E

Labour standard

—REE

AR EETHAHSIY
@ BE:R
b  EFHETAEEAVENERERRANODN

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour

R REENMERNEEETI RBHST

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid

child and forced labour

W EERERERRERERERMRNN TR
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered

ECRT

Section Remarks
BR R
Development
and Training

BREHRR
EEEF

Employment

Practice and
Employee
Benefits

ERERR
EEEF
Employment
Practice and
Employee
Benefits
ERERR
EEEF
Employment
Practice and
Employee
Benefits

FARBFIEREABE RFINFRO—B5 - ERLh
RER/FERBRERMN - ABREERRMAESRENS
IIRBERSE BZALRARUEABRIZAXLESS
IEEE RS B B

We provide training as part of one’s role and training needs
regardless of gender and management/non-management role.
To continuously monitor the training and development support
we provide to our employees, we are in the process of reviewing
and collecting data with regards to the training participation rate
and the hours our employees spend pursuing training activities.
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B5

B5.1

B5.2

B5.3

B5.4

EH
Aspects

HEEEE
Supply chain management

—RBE

ERMERNRERM S RREUE
General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain
RiRE D HOHERHA

Number of suppliers by geographical region

it E AR AEEENED  RERTABENNHERSE -
URIERS T RERETE

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored

R EEBNHEESERGORERLERROEN - 1A
REEBRTRERTE

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored

MR EEBNHEESERGNORERLEGRARNEN - 1A
REEBRTREETE

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored
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B

Section

HEREE
Supply Chain
Management

HERER
Supply Chain
Management

HERER
Supply Chain
Management

HERER
Supply Chain
Management

A
Remarks

REERTPERERNEIRES LEEINNER (BRER
RYRRE) - DERANER - AMRZSHEERSRH
[ER - ZMENERRA ERREREE -

The Group has businesses in and outside the PRC with strong
focus in the Greater Bay Area (including Hong Kong, Shenzhen
and Dongguan), Shanghai and Sydney of Australia. We have a
wide diversity of suppliers located in these regions. We are in the
process of identifying effective ways to keep track of such data.
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B 1] 9t 8B
Aspects Section Remarks
B6 EmER

Product responsibility

—RBE BERY
wRERL

BHMREERNRBOREELZS BE REMEE RENZER

HARBRAER Quality Services;

@ HE R Protection

(b) BTHETAGEAYENEBERRROINER of Privacy;

General Disclosure Protection of
Intellectual

Information on: Property

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress

B6.1 BEACERERBR TR EREEAMANKNE S - ZEHEASENF B EER -
t The issue is not relevant to the Group’s business nature.

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons

B6.2 BEBRERNRBORFEHE AREHE BERE
Number of products and service related complaints received and ~ Quality Services
how they are dealt with

B6.3 Hn B RN RENREREHNED RENZER
Description of practices relating to observing and protecting  Protection of
intellectual property rights Intellectual

Property

B6.4 WLEEREBERERDIYER BERHE

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures Quality Services
B6.5 WU BEERRERLREE - UREBRITREER & RERL
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and  Protection of

how they are implemented and monitored Privacy
B7 RES
Anti-corruption
—MRBE HEER
Business Ethics
BRD LS 9R  HEEREBEN
@ BE: Rk

b) BIHETAREAYEORBZERAPINER

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering
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EmE B 3

Aspects Section Remarks
B7.1 RERANHETAREEERLENEEANESHARY HEEE

BEE RFALER Business Ethics

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases

B7.2 Bl EEERRRER  URABATRER A HEER
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing  Business Ethics
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored

B7.3 HmESRE TRENREFHE HEER
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and  Business Ethics
staff

B8 HERE
Community investment
—RBE HEiRE

Community

BRNEB2ERTHRETACENELRTERBREE  investment
BEBEEBHBFEONR

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests
BS.1 EIERERE (WHE BEEE STIEK BE UL -BE) HERE
Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental ~ Community

concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport) investment
BS.2 EEIBEMPRER (e BHRH) HERE
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area Community

investment
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EEZRA NEE-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H
FFE - ARR —HET LR B &+ 10 A
HEEE AT (TREXERTR ) HPIA TR
B 3 (AER) R B R ER T RIFTE M EZ
BREFR - AT REEZRI

BREBECEEATAZTFAGEXEC21E £
FETBREENAGATUADY  BTEHF
—AtTEF-BE_E-_—F+-_A=+—8H
IHFE  ERELEETAREERITHREE -
ERCREAR-ARIZIERTRAR AR
THRRNEBAN—BWNEE N BREIRER
BEEREETSTEERERAM -EEE
MAGESEMNEERETDEERREN R
Rz T EESHAEBREKENBREA
MR BB EUENESERE AIERTTE
BIIEMITES - AN BB RFIEEREE -

BEEHNERARANGEE S BERWITE
RRBEBERAENIEZF  KMRERENRAAR
RERRAME - ARvlC R AREMANLE
ERTANRAUMAEDCEELRRBRLER -

EEg
EFSREREREERRRAMAEIESE
BAEHIE R ERBE IR RCERE  FHA
HRES AR EEGE  BEMBRE  EE
BREBRIERSREREBNRR  ERER
BEREENRAEEERKE

Exglid-2RTESE (AIE&RRAELE M
ERXRRERRIMELE)  MEFFRTESR (A
EREXEERREEL) R=RBIFNTE
= (NEEGFLE  RMRHEERRELE) A
A - BERBEEERESTEERF -

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the Code
Provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code"”) during the year ended 31 December 2021
and, where appropriate, adopted the Recommended Best Practices set out in
the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. WONG Chun
Hong performed his duties as the chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company. The Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person
ensures consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient planning of long-term strategies and implementation of business
plans. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operations and governance of the Board which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals, with more than half of the Board
members being non-executive or independent non-executive Directors. The
Company will review the current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.

The Directors are committed to upholding the corporate governance of the
Company to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to
protect and maximise interests of the shareholders of the Company. The
Company has applied the principles of the CG Code to its corporate governance
structure and practices as described in this report.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for supervising and overseeing all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of overall management
and operation strategies, reviewing the internal control and risk management
systems, reviewing financial performance, considering dividend policies and
monitoring the performance of the senior management, while the management
is responsible for the daily management and operations of the Group.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely Mr WONG
Chun Hong, Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley and Mr LIANG Rui Chi, two non-executive
Directors, namely Mr YIP Hoong Mun and Mr KUI Qiang, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr CHENG Yuk Wo, Professor WU Si Zong and
Mr CHAN Yee Herman. Mr. WONG Chun Hong is the chairman of the Board.
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REEFEN EESERTNAEEEEH
(FEEMESERUNESEASNEEF
EARTHEE) o 5 EFOHEREBRIIR
T

During the year under review, the Board held four Board meetings (exclusive
of meetings of the Board committees constituted by the Board held during
the year under review). The attendance of each Director is set out in the table
below:

FRE Ay

Number of
attendance/Total

HITES Executive Directors
ERBELE(EE %ﬁﬂ? a%) Mr WONG Chun Hong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 4/4
REREE(BZEZ—F Mr YUAN Zhi Wei (resigned with effect from

HRA=+—HB®REE) 31 May 2021) 1/4
MERL L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley 4/4
R 3, 5 Mr LIANG Rui Chi 4/4
FHITES Non-executive Directors
ERXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun 4/4
Bl o 4 Mr KUI Qiang 4/4
BIYKHTES Independent non-executive Directors
BRGNS A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo 4/4
SOMREIFZ Professor WU Si Zong 4/4
PR {6 55 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman 3/4

FRUTEFERBUFRTEFTATRERSFS
BRETERZE FHR=F -B8HEEE
ARERGRBEA—TAS—TRAZELT
PR=ZMEANEEBATIALL

FEEEHARBRAARABERMDR ([HS

ERMAA D ZLB=FXRRBAFRE LWE
BRAENFEEBREREMT -
RETEEERTAUNER EFENEERE
TEEERBE  BREETRR

- BIEFTRBAARREEERRELER
MEFSRHER

- BAREREERSREEREZHEIIR
HESEERR

- RUREEARFRRETEZREEER
RKZBREER

- HE - BEREREERESZERTE
AIRARFM: &

- REARBETTAHRXNERLRER
EXERAMENNWE -

The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are
typically appointed for a term of three years under their respective letters of
appointment. Each appointment letter may be terminated in accordance with
the provisions therein by either party giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior written notice.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election at
the annual general meeting at least once every three years in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).

To comply with the requirements under the CG Code, the Board is also
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties including but not
limited to:

—  develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

—  review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of the Directors and senior management;

- review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

- develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors; and

—  review the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.
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1% AR2EMBERBEMEEREDNFOE
BORIEEWRADFRENET  ERERE
ZERMERE—REE  EFFTENRERDN
FLER 4R

ARBAERRUATEEIBERERRM
BN LW EIT AN — R R &R AR AR
AR ETAR A FEE RETHC(ER ETARRD
5T [EHEE TEXREENEHESFN
(CEREMRADERT]  [BEFE LR RIXFR
A AR R ER EWARRINERT] - [B
FAEA{ L RRBEESNCERETRANE
I R AREGESZZEITH M RERR N
(ERETRANERT ) 2 — & S 15 5)| K A8 B B
HER U B RERNSESEASERS
EBAENER OARERATRENENE(L
WEHBEERLEMRAREETNAE - Bt
B R U T ) R B AR o

EEATHRAARBDREREMETORES
FER(HFREXBR] BIINFEE - RIEAT
RENFE EER - —FETHFESR
FERRERFJIBRMT -

Name of Director

TRAINING AND COMMITMENT

To ensure that a newly appointed Director will have a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Company and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under all applicable laws and regulations (including the Listing
Rules), he/she will be provided with a comprehensive, tailor-made and formal
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment.

The Company provides a series of directors’ trainings including “Amendments
to Main Board Listing Rules relating to the Codification of General Waivers and
Principles relating to IPOs and Listed Issuers and Minor Rule Amendments”,
“Amendments to Main Listing Rules relating to Debt Issues to Professional
Investors Only”, “Amendments to Main Board Listing Rules relating to Online
Display of Documents and Reduction of the Types of Documents on Display”,
“Amendments to Main Board Listing Rules relating to Paperless Listing and
Subscription Regime” and “Amendments to Main Board Listing Rules relating
to the new headline categories for debt issuance programmes” with relevant
reading materials to the Directors to help and ensure that they are apprised
of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in
which the Group conducts its businesses and to refresh their knowledge and
skills on the roles, functions and duties of a director of listed company.

The Directors are required to provide the Company with details of the
continuous professional development (“CPD") trainings undertaken by
them from time to time. Based on the details so provided, the CPD trainings
undertaken by the Directors in 2021 are summarized as follows.

HE - EAR EEMASG -
BERBE
Directors'’ roles,
functions and

duties

rEER

Legal, regulatory
and corporate
governance

REEEK

Businesses of
the Group

B1TES Executive Directors
BEREE Mr WONG Chun Hong
(LEFETHAEH) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) v v v
REFEEE(BEZT=—%  MrYUAN Zhi Wei (resigned with effect
AA=+—HiEHE) from 31 May 2021) v v/ v
MERLZL Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley v/ v/ v
RS E Mr LIANG Rui Chi v v/ v/
FHTES Non-executive Directors
ERXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun v v/ v
Beos 5 4 Mr KUI Qiang v/ v/ v
BYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
g Pt Mr CHENG Yuk Wo v/ v/ v
RMRHE Professor WU Si Zong v/ v/ v/
BRELE Mr CHAN Yee Herman v v v
B Remarks:
i 1=3-5 v/ represents compliance
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ARREESEERHSEIRELHEHIEE
BFAREEEHERMERL - LI EFEBER
MARNTHEEERAESONE RN EM LH
NEEEENEMBG  WEREEREEER
BAARR - FESHEETLE ST SFAE
XECAA1GE-

ERRITHAER
RBEEETRITRAEXEC2.116 - EFEHETT
BEHNABRATIANY - BAEHFR— AL
BE-8-FT-N\F=ZA—RE FEELLE
BEARREZERTHAN -EFEALH
F-ARTESELRITRAHACLSHERAE
ER—EEE) - BRBRERELEER
EABAEEMERAM -EERNMAELAE
FEMNEEBEREECEERRED RENZF
& EEEHARLRNIRBKENEAMAK &
B—HUENEEEKE RIFNTIBLIEHN
TESE  ARABBERRNIRERE -

I

The Company has received confirmations from the Directors that they have
provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Besides, the
Directors have disclosed to the Company their interests as director and other
office in other public companies and organisations in a timely manner and have
updated the Company on any subsequent changes. Each of the Directors has
complied with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual. With effect from 1 March 2018, Mr WONG Chun Hong
has become the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person ensures consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient planning
of long-term strategies and implementation of business plans. The Board
believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by the
operations and governance of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals, with more than half of the Board members being non-
executive or independent non-executive Directors. The Company will review the
current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.
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EEHERR AW DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETINGS

REBEFEAN - AQRAIRZF=Z—FHHA Durng the year under review, the Company held one annual general meeting
ZHRART-RABRERAFARE((ZF=—F on 25 May 2021 (2021 AGM") and one extraordinary general meeting on 28
BRAEARE])  WRZZT=—FA=+/\U June2021. The attendance of each Director is set out in the table below.
HEIT-ARRFEIAG - SEZHHRER

EHIIN T

BRRRFRRE
Extraordinary
general meeting

B =S —F
BREAFAE ANHA=TNH
2021 28 June
Name of Director AGM 2021
HITES Executive Directors
=EREE Mr WONG Chun Hong
(FEFTHAEZ) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) v v
RERBEE(BZZEZ—FAA  MrYUAN Zhi Wei
=+— BT (resigned with effect from 31 May 2021) v/ NA
MERLZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka Shirley v/ v
RISt Mr LIANG Rui Chi v v/
FHITES Non-executive Directors
ERNEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun v/ v
PR ok 2 A4 Mr KUl Qiang v/ X
BUFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
ERER AN S = Mr CHENG Yuk Wo v/ v
RIMRHIE Professor WU Si Zong v/ v
PRERE Mr CHAN Yee Herman X v/
B Remarks:
v EEE v/ represents attendance

X ERE X represents absence
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FMESS
ARRFHEWEE S ((FHMEES)) T/FRE6H
ML -RAREAH FHEESRE—F
WITES (BERREL) AEMBBILIFNITE
= (BHMELERRMORHE) -

FEZEeNIEREARARAHEZRS
RERENTFMBERERB AL R ERBE S
BBRBRLEARAZARNER  AEFE
RIEHEBEE -

HETEZLSRERBNHING  HHEE
ETEAALBARXNNE S EERSR
EEENRARBHEERE BEERERER
ENXRBREBMAETREBERE -

REBEFEAN  HFHZESRRITMAEE -
BHMEZE KRB FEREERIINTR

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) is Mr CHENG Yuk Wo. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director, Mr
WONG Chun Hong and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
formal and transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy.

In determining the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management,
the Remuneration Committee would consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors
and the senior management, performance and contributions of the Directors
and the senior management and the change in market conditions.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is set out in
the table below:

HERE EE

Number of

attendance/Total

BRGNS (/) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 212
BERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong 2/2
RN R Professor WU Si Zong 22
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For the year under review, the Remuneration Committee determined the
policy for the remuneration of executive directors, assessed performance of
the executive Directors, approved the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts, recommended to the Board on the year-end bonus of executive
Directors and the senior management of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021. No Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration or
options granted.

The Company adopted Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) out of the two models
suggested by the CG Code. As a result, the Board as a whole is responsible
for determining the remuneration of non-executive Directors whereas
the Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management of the Company and its subsidiaries as well as share options
related matters. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors and senior
management of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group and in the
section headed “Remuneration for Senior Management” under the Directors’
Report of this report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) is Professor WU Si Zong. As at the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, Mr WONG Chun
Hong and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and
Professor WU Si Zong.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the structure,
size, composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience required)
and diversity of the Board on a regular basis; (ii) to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become board members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships, having
due regard to the board diversity policy and the nomination policy of the
Company, when a vacancy occurs on the Board by reason of disqualification
resignation, retirement, death or an increase in the size of the Board; (iii) to
make recommendations to the Board on matters related to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
any other area where action or improvement is needed; (iv) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (v) to review the
board diversity policy as appropriate and make recommendations on any
required changes to the Board for consideration and approval, and monitor
its implementation so as to ensure its effectiveness, and make disclosure of its
summary and the progress of its implementation in the corporate governance
report; (vi) to review the nomination policy for directors and to make disclosure
of the summary of nomination policy in annual report of the Company annually;
and (vii) to ensure the disclosures required by the terms of reference are set out
in the circular where the Board propose a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive Director.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee shall attend the annual general
meeting of the Company to answer questions raised by the Shareholders on
Directors’ nomination and other nomination policy matters.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a “Nomination Policy” on 1 January 2019 in relation
to the nomination, appointment, re-appointment of new Directors and the
nomination procedure of the Company, which provides that in evaluating
and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall
consider the candidates’ character and integrity, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, independence, diversity on the Board,
willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member
and such other criteria that are appropriate to the business of the Company.

For the year under review, the Nomination Committee disclosed the nomination
policy on the Company’s website.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a revised “Board Diversity Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
relation to the nomination and appointment of new Directors, which provides
that the selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and specific
needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural
background, educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. The above measurements were also reviewed and adopted when
the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the Board. After
assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the Company’s
business, the Nomination Committee confirmed that the existing Board
was appropriately structured and no change was required. The Nomination
Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy annually.

The Board’s composition as at the date of this report under diversified
perspectives is summarised as follows:

B 7% 1% 5l
Designation Gender
1
3
3
7
2
3E%0,77 2 = non-executive Directors 2z 4 female @ M male

¥ 37 E# 7T E = independent non-executive Directors

Fiesa R (%)
Age group (years old)

~

4

®31-40 O41-50
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The Board achieved gender diversity as it has appointed one female Director.
The Board will maintain at least one female Director to be a member of the
Board. To develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve
gender diversity, the Company has adopted relevant hiring policies for
considering candidates of senior management positions which would take into
account diversity perspectives including gender diversity.

As at 31 December 2021, the ratio of male and female in the workforce is
61% and 39%, respectively; and the ratio of male and female in the senior
management is 90% and 10% respectively. As such, the Company’s workforce
and the senior management have both achieved gender diversity between
males and females. The Company would continue to take into account of
diversity perspectives including gender diversity in its hiring.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the
table below:

HERE B

Number of

attendance/Total

SROMREIR (£ )E) Professor WU Si Zong (Chairman) 11
=EELE Mr WONG Chun Hong 11
BB AN A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo 11
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During the year under review, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board in accordance with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, and recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) is Mr CHENG Yuk Wo. As at the date of this report, the Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo, Professor WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman.

The Audit Committee reports to the Board and is authorised by the Board
to assess, review and monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company. The Audit Committee oversees all financial reporting procedures
and the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
system, advises the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of external
auditors, and reviews and monitors the independence and objectivity of
external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
the applicable standard.

The Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board on matters
related to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors, which is subject to the approval of the Board and the Shareholders
at general meeting of the Company. For the year under review, the Board has
not taken a different view from that of the Audit Committee regarding the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors. The
Audit Committee meets with the external auditors annually in the absence of
management to discuss matters relating to any issues arising from audit and
any other matters the external auditors may wish to raise.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year under review. The
attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the table
below:

HERE Y

Number of

attendance/Total

ERERRN S A (£ /) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 212
SOMREIE Professor WU Si Zong 2/2
BREESE Mr CHAN Yee Herman 212
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Audit services
Other services (Note)

At the above meetings, the Audit Committee has considered, reviewed and
discussed the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group,
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, the
interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2021 and the
effectiveness of financial reporting, internal control, consultancy services,
internal audit function, risk management systems and its other duties under the
CG Code.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total fees paid/payable to the
external auditors of the Company, KPMG, in respect of audit and non-audit
services are set out below:

BE-_ZE_—F
+=—HA=+—H
IEFE

For the year ended
31 December 2021
FHERT

HK$°000

4,950
2,336

Total

7,286
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Note: Apart from the provision of annual audit services, KPMG, the Group’s external auditors,
also provided review services on half yearly financial results, audit services on the financial
statement of the Group’s subsidiaries and other non- audit services including provision of
environmental, social and governance report advice and tax advice during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, and confirm that the
financial statements give a true and fair view for the year under review, and
are prepared in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and
accounting standards. The statement of the external auditors of the Company,
KPMG, in relation to their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is fully responsible for maintaining proper and effective internal
control system and for regularly reviewing the operational efficiency of the
financial, operational, compliance controls, risk management and other aspects
of the system in order to safeguard the investment of Shareholders and the
assets of the Company. During the year under review, the Board has conducted
an annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system of the Group covering the above aspects. The Board has also
considered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function,
and their training programmes and budget during the year under review. The
Board is not aware of any significant internal control and risk management
weaknesses nor significant breach or limits of risk management policies, and
considers the existing internal control system and risk management systems
effective and adequate. The Company has complied with the risk management
and internal control code provisions under the CG Code for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The internal audit department of the Company is responsible for regular review
and audit of the Group’s major finance and operating activities. The purpose of
such work is to ensure the normal operation of internal control and the playing
of its due role.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management framework,
and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s objectives.

The Audit Committee is delegated with overseeing the effectiveness of internal
control and risk management, while management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems. The Board office is responsible
for coordinating risk management activities, and to report regularly to the
Board.
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Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks from the external and internal environment at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment. Action plans have been developed and
risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal risk. The risk owners
coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper implementation of these
action plans. The process is closely monitored by the Board office. The internal
control and risk management systems and the effectiveness of internal audit
function are reviewed by the Board on an on-going basis to ensure they are
effective.

Taking into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the Board
believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such changes in
our business and the external environment.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the “Dividend Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and enable the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth, which provides that subject to the approval of the Shareholders
and requirement of the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends
to the Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is stable
and there is no significant investment or commitment made by the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties that may cause the Group’s financial
conditions or results materially different from the expected or historical results
are described below:

Risks with regard to the property market in the PRC

Most of the Group’s property projects are located in Mainland China, and
some in Hong Kong and overseas, and most of the Group’s revenue is derived
in the PRC. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 22 projects at
various stages of development. As such, the Group is therefore subject to the
risks associated with the PRC property market. The Group’s operations in the
PRC may also be exposed to the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions, which may
pose an adverse impact on the Group's business, financial condition or results
of operations.
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Risks with regard to the funding of property development
The property development business is capital intensive. The Group funded its
land acquisitions and property developments primarily through bank loans,
internally generated cash flows (including proceeds from the pre-sale and
sale of the Group’s projects), note payable, convertible bonds and loans from
substantial Shareholders. The Group’s ability to obtain adequate funding
depends on a number of factors, some of which are beyond the Group’s
control, such as general economic conditions in the PRC, the performance and
outlook of the property development industry in the PRC, the Group’s financial
strength and performance, the availability of credit from financial institutions,
and regulatory measures instituted by the PRC government. There is no
assurance that the Group will be able to obtain adequate financing for land
acquisitions or property developments at all and/or on terms that will allow the
Group to earn reasonable returns.

Risks with regards to the redevelopment projects
Redevelopment projects in the PRC involve many uncertainties and are capital
intensive. The Group is required to obtain numerous government approvals in
relation to the Group’s urban redevelopment projects and to obtain consents to
relocate all of the existing residents. There is no assurance that the Group will
be able to obtain all of the necessary consents to relocate the existing residents
or that the Group will be able to obtain all necessary government approvals.

Risks with regard to the property leasing

The rental rates and the occupancy rates depend on various factors, including
but not limited to, prevailing supply and demand conditions, economic
conditions as well as the quality of the properties. There is no assurance that
the Group will be able to look for new tenants within a short period of time or
procure new leases or renew existing leases at the prevailing market rates.

Operational risks

The Group’s operation is subject to a number of risk factors distinctive to
property development and property related businesses. Default on the part of
the Group’s contractors, buyers, tenants, and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems or other
external factors may have various levels of negative impact on the results of
the Group’s operation. In addition, accidents may happen despite systems and
policies set up for their prevention, which may lead to the Group’s financial
loss, litigation, or damage in reputation.

Interest rate risks

Most of the Group’s borrowings are floating-rate bank loans, which expose the
Group to rising interest rates. We will closely monitor the interest rate risk and
when appropriate adopt measures to manage the associated risk, including
but not limited to, the issuance of fixed rate bonds, and use of derivatives such
as interest rate swaps and management of the ratio of fixed or floating loan
portfolio. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had not carried out any hedging
activities to manage its interest rate exposure.
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Currency risks

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars or
US dollars as a result of its investment in Mainland China and the settlement
of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings in Hong
Kong dollars, United States dollars or Australian dollars. We will closely monitor
the fluctuations of the RMB exchange rate and give prudent consideration as
to entering into any currency swap arrangement as and when appropriate for
hedging corresponding risks. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had not
carried out any hedging activities to manage its foreign exchange rate risk.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information which sets out the procedures and internal controls for
handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner in such
a way to avoid placing any person in a privileged dealing position. The inside
information policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from breaching the
statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements. The Company has appropriate
internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its code of conduct for securities transactions by the
Directors. After having made specific enquiries with all Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2021. To ensure
compliance, all Directors were requested to send a notice of intention to
deal with the securities of the Company to the chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee and should obtain an approval from the chairman of
the Corporate Governance Committee or the designated person by the Board
during the year under review to deal with securities of the Company.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of the
Directors since 1 January 2021 up to the despatch date of this annual report is
set out below:

SEFE

Details of change

BANTEEMEERR B - —FRA=-+—HlEEK-
Resigned as an executive Director and an authorized representative with effect from
31 May 2021.

BEEEAEERRX B-ZE—FRA=T—H®BEK-
Appointed as an authorized representative with effect from 31 May 2021.

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and based on the confirmations from
the Directors, save as the above, there has been no change in the information
of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules since the date of the Company’s 2021 Annual Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
Mr WONG Tak Chun, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to proper Board
processes and the timely preparation and dissemination to the Directors of
comprehensive meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings
and Board committees are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary
to record in sufficient details of the matters considered and decisions reached
by the Board or Board committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views voiced by any Director. All draft and final versions of the minutes of
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are sent to Directors and
committee members respectively for comment and record and are available for
inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the Board is fully
apprised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments
relating to the Group and that it takes these into consideration when making
decisions for the Group. From time to time, he organises seminars on specific
topics of significance and interest and disseminates reference materials to the
Directors for their information.
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The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the compliance of the
Group with all obligations of the Listing Rules and the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, including the preparation, publication
and despatch of annual reports and interim reports within the time limits laid
down in the Listing Rules, the timely dissemination to the Shareholders and the
market of information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on their obligations
for disclosure of interests and dealings in securities of the Company, connected
transactions and inside information and ensures that the standards and
disclosures required by the Listing Rules are observed and, where required,
reflected in the annual report of the Company.

During the year under review, Mr WONG Tak Chun attended no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is made for its
business and financial performance through a variety of formal communication
channels. Information regarding the Company is published in its website:
www.topspring.com. Interim and annual reports, circulars and notices of the
Company are despatched to the Shareholders. The website of the Company
provides information such as e-mail address, correspondence address,
telephone numbers for enquiries, and provides information on the business
activities of the Group. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing either by email to IR@topspring.com or direct
mailing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

The Company’s annual general meeting of the Shareholders is a good
opportunity for communication between the Board and the Shareholders.
Notice of annual general meeting and related documents will be sent to
Shareholders pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Articles
of Association, and are published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company.
Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, Shareholders holding not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in the requisition. The requisition must state the objects
of the meeting, and must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
those Shareholders. The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary via mail to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company shall hold general meeting within
two months after receiving the requisition. If the Directors fail to proceed to
convene the extraordinary general meeting within twenty-one (21) days of the
deposit of such requisition, the Shareholder(s) himself or themselves may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by him/her/them as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Shareholder(s) by
the Company.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director
for election as a Director at a general meeting, pursuant to Article 85 of the
Articles of Association, the Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting shall send a written
notice, duly signed by the Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such
person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at the
Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong (the “"Hong Kong Share Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited.
The period for lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of such general meeting and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting. All substantive resolutions at
general meetings are decided on a poll which is conducted by the Company
Secretary and scrutinised by the Hong Kong Share Registrar of the Company.
The results of the poll are published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Regularly updated financial, business and other information on
the Group is made available on the website of the Company for Shareholders
and investors.

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings by sending
written notice of their proposals to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

The Company also meets the investment community and responds to their
enquiries about the status of the Company from time to time, so as to
strengthen the contacts and communication between the Company and its
investors.
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There has not been any significant changes in the memorandum of association
of the Company and the Articles of Association during the year ended 31
December 2021 up to the date of this annual report.

After taking into account that the Shareholders have multiple channels to
communicate their views as mentioned above as well as the steps taken by the
Board to solicit and understand the views of Shareholders and stakeholders
during the year ended 31 December 2021 including but not limited to open
discussion with the Shareholders during the AGM, the Board’s review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy
was found to be sound and adequate.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr WONG Chun Hong (& &), aged 67
Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr WONG is the Founder of the Group and is the executive Director, Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries within the Group. In addition, he is also the founder, the
second largest shareholder and vice chairman of the board of directors of
Rainbow Digital Commercial Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. He has over 30 years of experience in the real estate business in the
Mainland and Hong Kong, and has profound accomplishments in the finance
and retail fields.

From 1993 to 1996, Mr WONG was the deputy managing director and the
second largest shareholder of Top Glory International Holdings Limited (formerly
known as World Trade Center Group Limited), a company which was listed on
the Stock Exchange and is now privatised and was the vice chairman of China
Foods Limited (formerly known as China Foods Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. From 1996 to 2001, Mr WONG was a major
shareholder, chairman and chief executive officer of ITC Properties Group
Limited (formerly known as Cheung Tai Hong Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr WONG attended the Global CEO Programme
for China in 2007 which was co-organised by China Europe International
Business School, IESE Business School and Harvard Business School. He is the
executive chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organizations Limited, the chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou
Associations Limited, the president of Hong Kong Real Property Federation and
a member of Guangzhou Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(BEMTWEBEZ). InJuly 2016, Mr WONG was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia
Star (BBS) by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
in recognition of his continuous contribution to the well-being of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region over the years, and for his achievements towards
the commercial sector and community affairs. The Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS)
was introduced in 1998 and is presented to individuals who demonstrate
remarkable performance in long-term community services. Mr WONG was
bestowed an Honorary Doctor of social science by City University of Hong Kong
in October 2020.
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Chance Again Limited (“Chance Again”), a substantial shareholder (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company, is wholly-owned by Cheung Yuet (B.V.1.)
Limited (“BVI Co"). The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned
by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC International Trustee”) as
the trustee of The Cheung Yuet Memorial Trust, a discretionary family trust
established by Mr WONG (the “Wong's Family Trust”), the beneficiaries of
which include Mr WONG's family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the
protector of the Wong’s Family Trust. Mr WONG is also a director of Chance
Again. Save as mentioned above, Mr WONG does not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.

The discloseable interest of Mr WONG in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO") is set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of
this report.

Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley (# 3% %), aged 51
Executive Director

Ms LAM was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 March
2018. Ms LAM joined the Company in October 2017 and was appointed as the
managing director of Top Spring Healthcare Holdings (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, where she was responsible for overseeing
the business operations related to education and healthcare services of the
Group. Prior to joining the Company, Ms LAM served in senior managerial
positions in a number of blue-chip property developers in Hong Kong, including
Techno Factor (Development) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Henderson
Land Development Company Limited, New World Development China Limited,
Hopewell Real Estate Agency Limited and MTR Corporation Limited. Ms LAM
has accumulated over 20 years of the management experience in the real estate
industry with a focus on real estate development, asset management and
management of shopping mall operations. Ms LAM graduated from Ottawa
University, the United States with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
and obtained a master's degree in Project Management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. She is @ member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors and Chartered Institute of Housing.

Ms LAM does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Ms LAM does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr LIANG Rui Chi (R%5t1), aged 50
Executive Director

Mr LIANG was appointed as an executive Director on 5 August 2019. Mr LIANG
joined the Group in February 2006 and worked as the general manager of
operations management department, strategic investment department and
Water Flower Property Development Co., Ltd. of the Group, and a director
of several subsidiaries of the Company. He was appointed as the assistant
president of the Group and the general manager of the Guangdong regional
branch in February 2014, and then left the Group in April 2015 due to
personal reason. He rejoined the Group and was appointed as the executive
vice president of the Group in April 2019, and was later appointed as the
Group vice chief executive officer in November the same year. Mr LIANG has
over 22 years of experience in corporate governance, investment and strategic
management. Mr LIANG is currently a non-independent Director of Rainbow
Digital Commercial Co., Ltd (stock code: 002419.5Z). He was a supervisor
of each of Dongjiang Environmental Company Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock codes: 895.HK,
002672.57), and Rainbow Digital Commercial Co., Ltd, a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002419.57). Mr LIANG graduated
from Central University of Finance and Economics and was awarded a bachelor
degree in economics in 1994.

Mr LIANG does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr LIANG does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Non-executive Director

Mr YIP Hoong Mun (E E X), aged 60
Non-executive Director

Mr YIP was appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company on 1 September 2017.
Mr YIP is the executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer of Metro
Holdings Limited (“Metro Holdings”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Metro Group”) since June 2019. Metro Holdings is a company listed on The
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Mr Yip has over 30 years of experience in executive and senior management
roles in strategic planning, operations, hospitality, real estate investment and
development. Mr Yip started his career with Indeco Engineers and later joined
BP South East Asia. Prior to joining Metro, he spent over 20 years with the
Capitaland Group, and served different roles in various strategic business units.
He was Managing Director of Ascott China in 2003 and then Chief Executive
Officer, Asia Pacific and the Gulf Region of The Ascott Group in 2006.
Subsequent to that, Mr Yip has been involved in property developments in the
Gulf Region, Vietnam and Indonesia of the CapitaLand Group.

Mr Yip has a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree with first class honours
from the National University of Singapore and a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from Stanford University, USA. He also completed a
management course at Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Save as disclosed above, Mr YIP does not have any relationship with any
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr YIP does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr KUI Qiang (Bt3#), aged 36
Non-executive Director

Mr KUI was appointed as a non-executive Director on 6 December 2019. He is
currently the director and financial controller of Caiyun International Investment
Limited (“Caiyuan”). From December 2015 to March 2017, Mr KUl worked as
the deputy supervisor of the financial department of Yunnan Health & Cultural
Tourism Holding Group Co., Ltd. (“YHCT"). Mr KUI obtained a double bachelor
degree in E-commerce and English Studies from Northeast Normal University
(4L AN #K 28) in 2008 and a master degree in Accounting from the same
university in 2010. Mr KUl is also a certified management accountant of the
Institute of Management Accountants in the USA. Mr KUI has over 12 years
of experience in the fields of fund management, information technology, real
estate development and telecommunication.

Save as disclosed above, Mr KUI does not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders (each
as defined in the Listing Rules)

Mr KUI does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Zf%i#1), aged 61
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHENG was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30
November 2010. Mr CHENG worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers (formerly
known as Coopers and Lybrand) in London in 1984 and at UBS AG (formerly
known as Swiss Bank Corporation) in Toronto in 1989. He is also the co-
founder of Centurion Corporate Finance Limited. In 1999, he became the sole
proprietor of Erik CHENG & Co., Certified Public Accountants. Mr CHENG
received his master’s degree of science (economics) in accounting and finance
from the London School of Economics and Political Science in 1984, and his
bachelor’s degree of arts (honours) in accounting from the University of Kent in
1983. Mr CHENG is currently a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada. He is also a Certified Public Accountant practising in
Hong Kong and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mr CHENG does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.
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The table below sets out Mr CHENG's directorships in a number of companies

MAREAESHRBHER listed in Hong Kong up to the date of this report:
ETARER B
Name of the listed company Position
BIESRTT AR A7 W IFMITES
Chong Hing Bank Limited Independent non-executive director
iR EEIERAR QT BAERITES
CPMC Holdings Limited Independent non-executive director
EARBEMEARAR (AIBEAKKITEFRAAF) BIUERITES
CSI Properties Limited (formerly known as Capital Strategic Investment Limited) Independent non-executive director
AN EERERAR BAERITES
Somerley Capital Holdings Limited Independent non-executive director
BRIEPERRAR BAFRITES
Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited Independent non-executive director
SYZERERER A A BAERITES
Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited Independent non-executive director
ERPEBBEAR AR BAFRITES
Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited Independent non-executive director
FALEBFR AR B R A A B IFMITE S
Kidsland International Holdings Limited Independent non-executive director
REBAEERKRE AR F W IFMITE S

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited

W AERID BN T H#ARIEE S LB
BHROIEXVEEAE T RENESH N AR
EPEEREEEFTRTIETRAERAEAR
AR EARBOAB AR - AR RIESHE

smNMOKE |88

Independent non-executive director

The discloseable interest of Mr CHENG in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed
"Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of this report.
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Professor WU Si Zong (23R ), aged 70
Independent non-executive Director

Professor WU was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
30 November 2010. Since 1997 and until now, he is a professor, a doctoral
tutor, at [A)% KX (Tongji University), where he had been the secretary of the
Party Committee and the vice dean of the Economic and Management School.
Professor WU is the vice chairman of L/ % 2 & (Shanghai Marketing
Society) and the standing director of F Bl 1% 2 € (China Marketing Society).
Professor WU lectures in economics and international trade. His main research
fields are business management, marketing and international trade. From
1994 to 1997, he was the Head of Affairs Committee of the International
Trade Faculty at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (T 78 B A&X K £2).
From 2001 to 2008, Professor WU published several theses and was involved
in various research projects in his fields of expertise. He also published many
books in marketing, commerce and trade from 2000 to 2007. Professor WU
received his Bachelor’s degree in Economics from (Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics) )T 78 Bf £ K 2 in 1982. In 1995, he received his master’s
degree in economics at Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (_E &
B 4% K 2). Professor WU does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

The discloseable interest of Professor WU in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of this report.

Mr CHAN Yee Herman (&%), aged 67
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHAN was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on 2 January 2018. He is currently a
consultant of Y.T. Chan & Co., a law firm. Mr CHAN has more than 10 years of
experience in the legal sector. He was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court
in Hong Kong in May 2011. Prior to his legal career, he was a superintendent
in the Hong Kong Police Force and had served the public for over 37 years.
Mr CHAN obtained his bachelor of laws (LLB) degree from the University of
London in 2003 and a postgraduate certificate in laws from City University of
Hong Kong in 2005. Mr CHAN was a non-executive director of Infinity Financial
Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 1152) from July 2013 to June 2017.

Mr CHAN does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr CHAN does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr LI Guohua (Z Bl ), aged 48
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group on 26 December 2009, and is currently the executive
vice president of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he had held senior
management positions in a number of companies, including the general
manager at the Baolong Group (Qingdao) Commercial Properties Company
(BERESEESEREWERT). Mr L has engaged in real estate industry for
over 22 years and gained extensive experiences in practical management. Mr
LI obtained a degree specialized in radio communication from the South China
University of Technology in 1996, and completed the Private Equity Investment
and Corporate Listing Programme (L5 R B 1% & B {5 F TS IE) at the
HSBC Business School, Peking University in 2020. He is now attending the
Advanced Strategy Programme for the New Practical Real Estate (37 E & A Fib
ES&RERSHHEDL) at the Tsinghua Shenzhen International Graduate School.
Mr LI does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Mr LI Shouwen (Z==718), aged 45
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group in August 2018 and currently acts as the vice president
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he held various senior management
positions in several companies, including the general manager of business
development department of China Travel International Investment Hong Kong
Limited, the regional general manager of Kaisa Group Holdings Limited, the
general manager of Vanke Projects. Mr LI has over 22 years of outstanding
experience in real estates as well as cultural tourism projects. He has a thorough
understanding of the entire operation of real estate development and project
management and control of investment. He has extensive expertise and
practical management experience, as well as practical experience in cultural
tourism scenic area projects. Mr LI obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial
and civil architecture from Xi’an University of Architecture and Technology in
1998 and got the graduate degree in industrial and economic studies from the
Central University of Finance and Economics in December 2018. Mr LI does
not have any relationship with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Mr WONG Tak Chun (E &), aged 40
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr WONG was appointed as chief financial officer of the Company on 9
January 2018. He joined the Group as the Company Secretary in February
2017. Mr WONG is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and the Chartered Governance Institute.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of British
Columbia in 2005, and a master’s degree in corporate governance from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2014.

Mr WONG has more than 17 years of experience in accounting, corporate
governance, corporate finance, capital markets, and investor relations. He
worked as an assistant manager in KPMG from August 2005 to May 2010.
From May 2010 to June 2013, he served as a company secretary and finance
manager of Central China Real Estate Limited (Stock Code: 0832). He served
as the deputy chief financial officer since February 2014 and the company
secretary since April 2014 of Modern Land (China) Co., Limited (Stock Code:
1107) until January 2016. He served as the company secretary and the chief
financial officer of Helidongsheng International Logistic Company Limited*
(RS R FHE B 9 m EE 2 B BR 2 A1) in Hunan, the PRC, from March 2016
to February 2017. Mr WONG has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Dadi Education Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8417) since
17 January 2017.

Mr WONG does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

*for identification only
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is a
real estate property developer in the PRC and is specialised in the development
and operation of urban mixed-use communities, and the development and sale
of residential properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the
Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chongqing regions in the PRC. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of
the Group's performance during the year and the material factors underlying
its results and financial position as required by schedule 5 to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) are included in
the sections of Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
of this report, respectively. The future development of the Group’s business is
discussed in the section of the Chairman’s Statement of this report. In addition,
further details regarding the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are
included in the section of the Corporate Governance Report of this report. The
sections of the Chairman’s Statement, the Management Discussion and Analysis
and the Corporate Governance Report form part of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1 cent
per Share attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and the
holders of PCSs for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for the year ended 31
December 2020: HK4 cents) to the shareholders and the holders of PCSs whose
names appear on the register of members or the register of holders of PCSs of
the Company on Thursday, 2 June 2022. Upon approval by the shareholders of
the Company at the AGM, it is expected that the final dividend will be payable
on Thursday, 16 June 2022.

Together with the interim dividend of HK3 cents per Share for the six months
ended 30 June 2021 (for the six months ended 30 June 2020: Nil), the
Company would distribute a combined total of HK4 cents as dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (for the year ended 31 December 2020: HK4
cents per Share).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND
REGISTER OF HOLDERS OF THE PCSs

For the purposes of determining the eligibility of the shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM and their entitlements to the proposed final dividend, the
register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the Company
will be closed as set out below:

(i

For determining the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company to
attend and vote at the AGM or any adjournment of such meeting:

The register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the
Company will be closed from Thursday, 19 May 2022 to Tuesday, 24 May
2022 (both days inclusive), during such period no transfer of the Shares
and PCSs will be effected.

In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM or any
adjournment of such meeting, (a) in the case of the Shares, all transfers of
Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong
Share Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 18 May 2022; and (b) in the case of the PCSs, the notice
of conversion in prescribed form, together with the relevant certificate of
the PCSs and confirmation that any amounts required to be paid by the
holder of the PCSs have been so paid, must be duly completed, executed
and deposited with the Company at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On
Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 11 May 2022.

The record date for such purposes is Tuesday, 24 May 2022.
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(i) For determining the entitlement of the shareholders and the holders of
PCSs to the proposed final dividend:

The register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 31 May 2022 to Thursday, 2 June
2022 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of the Shares
and PCSs will be effected.

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, (a) in the case of
the Shares, all transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Hong Kong Share Registrar at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong by no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 30 May 2022; and (b) in the case of the PCSs, all
transfers of the PCSs accompanied by the relevant certificate of the PCSs
must be lodged with the Company at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On
Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Monday, 23 May 2022.

The record date for such purposes is Thursday, 2 June 2022.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 277 to 280 of this report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment and investment properties
of the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements,
respectively. Further details of the Group’s major investment properties are set
out in the section of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Details of the properties under development for sale of the Group during the
year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group’s major properties under development for sale are set out in the section
of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Details of the completed properties for sale of the Group during the year are set
out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the Group’s major
completed properties held for sale are set out in the section of Management
Discussion and Analysis of this report.
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LEASEHOLD LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE

Details of the leasehold land held for development for sale of the Group during
the year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group’s major leasehold properties held for development for sale are set out in
the section of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 28 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2021.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in note 28 to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders and the holders of PCSs of
the Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, was HK$4,851,298,000 (2020:
HK$4,602,462,000). Under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders and
holders of PCSs subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Articles of Association, dividends shall be distributed out of
the retained profits or other reserves, including share premium and contributed
surplus, of the Company.
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2021
are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (“KPI")

(a) Pre-sales

Definition and calculation: Pre-sales measures the sale performance
of the Group’s properties and car park units by multiplying the pre-
sold GFA with the pre-sales ASP.

Purpose: The Group monitors its product mix to be launched for sale
on the basis of the pre-sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP. The pre-
sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP provide direction for the Group to
determine its sale strategies in the forthcoming year. The extent to
which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing the
Group's actual pre-sales to the pre-sales target, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s achievement in its sales planning.

Quantified KPI data: The pre-sales, pre-sold GFA and pre-sales
ASP was approximately HK$1,709.6 million, 25,527 sq.m. and
HK$66,644.7 per sq.m., respectively, for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: approximately HK$1,125.2 million, 16,839
sq.m. and HK$66,417.2 per sq.m.).

(b) Gross profit margin

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin measures the
profitability that the Group generates from its revenue by comparing
the revenue net of direct costs as a percentage of the revenue. It
indicates the financial success and viability of the Group’s principal
business.

Purpose: The Group aims to enhance its gross profit margin. The
extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s gross profit margin from one year to the
next, as it is an indicator showing the Group's profitability.

Quantified KPI data: The gross profit margin was approximately
50.1% for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately
45.4%).
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(c) Profit for the year

Definition and calculation: Net profit measures the revenue derived
from the Group’s business, less all expenses and taxes. It indicates
the Group's earnings from its business operations and other related
activities.

Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The net profit provides
direction for a better control and utilisation of expenses. The extent
to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing
the Group’s net profit from one year to the next, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s earnings from its business operations and other
related activities.

Quantified KPI data: The net profit was approximately HK$46.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: net loss
approximately HK$367.5 million).

(d) Net gearing ratio

Definition and calculation: Net gearing ratio measures the financial
leverage of the Group by comparing the total borrowings net of
cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged deposits as a
percentage of total equity. It indicates the proportion of equity and
debt the Group has been using to finance its assets.

Purpose: The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a
net gearing ratio. The net gearing ratio provides direction for the
Group to optimise its financing and business development activities.
The extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s net gearing ratio from one year to the next,
as it is an indicator showing the Group’s level of leverage.

Quantified KPI data: The net gearing ratio was approximately 59.8%
as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 59.8%).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately HK$912,000 (2020: HK$2,224,000).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Framework development management agreement

On 31 May 2018, Top Spring Australia Property and Development Services
Pty Ltd (“TSI Australia”), a then subsidiary of the Company, and Silver Pond
Investments Pty Ltd (“Silver Pond”) entered into a development management
agreement (the "Development Management Agreement”), pursuant
to which TSI Australia agreed to act as the development manager for the
development project in relation to a land parcel located in Australia to perform
the development management services for an initial term of three years from 1
June 2018.

As Silver Pond is held as to 51% by the immediate family members of Mr
WONG Chun Hong (“Mr WONG") (the chairman of the Board, the chief
executive officer, an executive Director and a substantial shareholder of
the Company), and as to 49% indirectly by the Company, it is therefore an
associate of Mr WONG (and his immediate family members) and a connected
person of the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules. The provision
of development management services by TSI Australia to Silver Pond under
the Development Management Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company (the "CCTs") under the Listing rules.

The maximum aggregate annual caps (the “Annual Caps”) approved by the
independent Shareholders or set by the Company (as the case may be) and the
aggregate annual transaction value of the CCTs actually recorded for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out below:

ERRZLE
(F#T)
B=ZE=-—%—HA—8H
BEZZ-—F
+=-—BA=+—HL
Actual transaction
amount (AUD’000)

FELR

(FH& )
BE=Z=—%—-H—H
BEZZ-—F
+=—A=+—H1
Annual Caps
(AUD’000)

From 1 January 2021
to 31 December 2021

Transaction agreement

From 1 January 2021
to 31 December 2021

BREE

HREEERAS L ESR0.1%ELH5% -
HUTSI Australia 1R 1% 2% /& & 12 1 & [7) Silver Pond
RHEREEREAET EMRAE14AEE
THF AERFEEEZRT  HERGE
FTRIRRMENRTE - EHEEREEHER
E—SHFBERNARAIBHA-_T—/\FHA
—t+—HHRERERE -

R=ZT-ZTEREETSI Australia Z 100% A% #
% EREERHFBE TN ZRITEBALARFZ
HEBER S -

Development Management Agreement 0 833

As the highest applicable percentage ratio is more than 0.1% but less than
5%, the provision of development management services by TSI Australia to
Silver Pond under the Development Management Agreement is subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but is exempt from
the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Further details of the Development Management Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2018.

Following the disposal of 100% shareholding in TSI Australia within 2020, the
transactions under the Development Management Agreement ceased to be
continuing connected transactions of the Company.
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Upon reviewing the CCTs and the report of the auditor of the Company, each
of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed in accordance with
Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules that the CCTs have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the relevant CCTs
and on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the CCTs in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the CCTs in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange. The auditor has confirmed that regarding the CCTs,
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that:

(i) the CCTs have not been approved by the Board;

(i)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
such transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

(i) the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing respective CCTs; and

(iv) the aggregate amount of each of the CCTs has exceeded the Annual
Caps.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 4.3% of the Group’s revenue for the
year and sales to the largest customer amounted to approximately 1.5% of the
Group’s revenue for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 8.7% of the Group’s purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to approximately 2.9%
of the Group’s purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

ZERH
Date of

BHMERH
Date of
resignation

appointment

HTES Executive Directors
BRERE Mr WONG Chun Hong —ZETAFNA i@ A
(EEFITHAEE) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)  —+HH N/A
25 August 2009
RERELE Mr YUAN Zhi Wei —T—tFNA—HB ZEZ—FRA=1+—H
1 September 2017 31 May 2021
MERRZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley —E—-N\F=ZA—H i A
1 March 2018 N/A
RIS Mr LIANG Rui Chi —E-RENARB  NERA
5 August 2019 N/A
FHITES Non-executive Directors
BRI EE Mr YIP Hoong Mun ZET—tFNA—H TEA
1 September 2017 N/A
PR ok o A Mr KUI Qiang —“E-AE+-AKAE TEA
6 December 2019 N/A
BUFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
AN S Mr CHENG Yuk Wo —E—ZF+—A i A
=+H N/A
30 November 2010
RN R Professor WU Si Zong —T—TF+—A i@ A
=+H N/A
30 November 2010
PRI E Mr CHAN Yee Herman —ZET-N\F—A=H TE A
2 January 2018 N/A

REZRAEAMNG  REERRBFX
gL ER=ZDZ-MNEE(HMARLIF=H
BEC ARMEERAEBAIR=Z02Z2 AR
A RAE t%i%zﬁxd\ =FRBRE
FREWEREI-R -BFRENEERB L
7/??%%@&@2%&%%&%@%%%%? %
FREFNFAABEEEE - B AMETRE
ARENBER (RIEREZAHE) - RIEEZ
MAFEsAMG Rin et EREXEER
@E%ﬁf‘ﬁiﬂ—rﬁ’\_v__iﬁx%ﬂij(A RN
HEBERTREBEEE-

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. The Directors to retire in every year will be those who have been longest
in office since their last re-election or appointment but as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire
will (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot. By
virtue of Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr LIANG Rui Chi, Mr YIP
Hoong Mun and Mr KUI Qiang will retire from office and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the 2022 AGM.

*  for identification only
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Mr CHENG Yuk Wo has served the Company for more than nine years. As an
independent non-executive Director with extensive experience and knowledge
and in-depth understanding of the Company’s operations and business,
Mr CHENG Yuk Wo has expressed objective views and given independent
guidance to the Company over the past years. The Board considered that their
long service would not affect their exercise of independent judgment and was
satisfied that Mr CHENG Yuk Wo has the required integrity and experience
to continue fulfilling the role of an independent non-executive Director and
consider Mr CHENG Yuk Wo to be independent.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers that, as at the date of this report, all
of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out in the section of Biography of Directors and Senior Management.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and based on the confirmations from
the Directors, there has been no change in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules since the
Company’s last published annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has a service contract
or appointment letter (as the case may be) which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings.
Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, performance and contributions of the Directors and also the change
in market conditions.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements, there is no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year under review in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

REMUNERATION FOR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the senior management of the Group by bands are as
follows:

A

Number of individuals

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000

N — — —

M-ZE-—F+-"fF=+—8 £ARAANEEK
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FHEMEFE GBI EXVED) MG - B G k
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules,
were as follows:
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REQXARGREBROERE

Name of Director

bl

Type of interest

EEEEE(EEED (HE2)
Mr WONG Chun Hong
("Mr WONG") (Note 2)

BHEMEE ((BRE]D (HH5E3)
Mr CHENG Yuk Wo
("Mr CHENG") (Note 3)

REFHE ([RER)) (HH4)
Professor WU Si Zong
("Professor WU") (Note 4)

XREEER

Interest in a controlled
corporation

=27 IN

Settlor of a trust

EREBA

Beneficial owner
EalEBA

Beneficial owner

EREBA

Beneficial owner

[LIEEENROKBBEBRONEFR -

Kang Jun Limited ([Kang Jun]) i £ 2 EHE -
RIEFEH KB AR &% Em1E AR EKang
Jun#¥ B 19 148,500 f% i% {5 7 % B # & ° Chance
Again HBVI Co2 & #EH - BVI ComM 2B EITIR
R ELBEBRERIEAERRGEIZITIAR
EHA HIHABREELENRERE - &
ERERRIGETNEIZARKREA - BIEFES

R BREARBI - 5 5 A WAR & 7 Chance Again £F B
#)417,593,500 f% I8 19 & £ Chance Again £§ & &
X A AT A% 75 55 5 [ #9 116,552,800 % 8 B8 A% 19
hEAEEE B EINE R B 5,083,200
HDERBEERABEERERESEERARR
i 2 1,400,00017 B A #E (55 —#t) - A ZE RN
S F+ZA=+—BMMATEZBRE -
AR -ZE—ZFEXNA-+RNAE-T-—FA
—+ R AHIRIR SRR 2.264 BT 2 REEEITHE -

Long positions in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

Notes:

(1

)

BEXA
HEkRG BEBRE ARKRES BERAR HEERTRE
L ENG) 8 (R) #A (R) HERR A A BRED
Total number
Numberof ~ Number of Share Number of of Shares and Approximate
Shares held options held PCSs held underlying percentage of
(Shares) (Shares) (Shares) Shares held issued Shares
(KsE1)
(Note 1)
(@)+(b)+(c)
148,500 - - 148,500 17 (L) 0.01
148,500 Shares (L)
417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 17 (1) 37.81
534,146,300 Shares (L)
5,083,200 1,400,000 - 6,483,200 % 8% 17 (L) 0.46
6,483,200 Shares (L)
- 1,420,000 - 1,420,000 BB 17 (L) 0.10
1,420,000 Shares (L)
- 400,000 - 400,000 8% &7 (L) 0.03

400,000 Shares (L)

The letter “L" denotes the Director’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares.

Kang Jun Limited (“Kang Jun”) is wholly-owned by Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Mr
WONG is deemed to be interested in 148,500 Shares held by Kang Jun. Chance Again
is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned by
HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong's Family Trust and the beneficiaries
of which include Mr Wong’s family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the protector
of the Wong's Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO, Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in
417,593,500 Shares held by Chance Again and 116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation
to the PCSs held by Chance Again. And Mr WONG beneficially owned 5,083,200 Shares
and 1,400,000 options granted to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme (Lot 1). These share options, all of which remained exercisable as at 31 December
2021, were exercisable at the subscription price of HK$2.264 per Share during the period
from 26 June 2013 to 25 June 2022.
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(3)  Mr CHENG s long position in the underlying Shares comprises (i) 420,000 options granted
to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 1) and (i) 1,000,000
options granted to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot
3). These share options, all of which remained exercisable as at 31 December 2021, were
exercisable as to (i) 420,000 share options (Lot 1) at the subscription price of HK$2.264
per Share during the period from 26 June 2013 to 25 June 2022 and (i) 1,000,000 Share
options (Lot 3) at the subscription price of HK$3.3 per Share during the period from 28
April 2016 to 27 April 2025.

(4)  Professor WU's long position in the underlying Shares comprises 400,000 options by the
Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 3). The share options, which
remained exercisable as at 31 December 2021, were exercisable as to 400,000 Share
options (Lot 3) at the subscription price of HK$3.3 per Share during the period from 28
April 2016 to 27 April 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or the
chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the Directors are considered
to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing
Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of their
office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to
any of the Directors.

The Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
during the year under review and as at the date of this report, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 28 February 2011
for the purpose of recognizing and acknowledging contributions that eligible
employees have made or may make to the Group. On 26 June 2012, 20 June
2013, 28 April 2015, 8 September 2015, 23 October 2015 and 5 December
2016, the Group granted 15,720,000 share options (Lot 1), 14,000,000 share
options (Lot 2), 82,650,000 share options (Lot 3), 3,000,000 share options
(Lot 4), 10,000,000 share options (Lot 5) and 31,000,000 share options (Lot
6) respectively, under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme at the exercise prices
of HK$2.264 per Share (adjusted), HK$4.14 per Share, HK$3.3 per Share,
HK$3.65 per Share, HK$3.45 per Share and HK$2.796 per Share respectively,
to certain Directors, senior management and selected employees of the Group.
The post-IPO share option scheme expired on 27 February 2021. While no
new share option can be granted, all outstanding share options granted prior
to the expiration of the scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the rules of the post-IPO share option scheme. Subject to
certain restrictions contained in the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, an option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any time during the applicable option
period, which is not more than 10 years from the date of grant of the relevant
share option. All the outstanding share options have been vested and may be
exercised by the grantees prior to the respective expiry dates thereof.
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Movement of the outstanding share options under the pre-IPO and post-IPO
share option schemes during the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

B ARITRBREZSHNT

®
® —E--F
—BC--F B&i BT B BAK +=A
—A—H e B R A - BT AE Er=1E
T8 As at Share Share Share Share As at
Exercise 1 January options options options options 31 December
Price 2021 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2021

FRAET

HK$

per Share

BRDAEEE  Post-IPO

F—# Lot 1 2.264 3,451,500 - - - 55,500 3,396,000
=Rt 57 Lot 2 4.14 6,716,000 - - - 2,570,000 4,146,000
=t Lot 3 33 48,923,000 - - - 17,705,000 31,218,000
Frmt Lot 4 3.65 420,000 - - - 200,000 220,000
FRHL Lot 5 345 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000
Rt Lot 6 2.796 22,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 20,000,000
Mt Total 92,210,500 - - - 23,230,500 68,980,000
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Out of the 3,451,500 outstanding Lot 1 share options as at 1 January 2021,
1,400,000 of which were held by Mr. WONG, 420,000 of which were held
by Mr. CHENG while the remaining 1,631,500 were held by employees of
the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2021, 55,500 Lot 1 share
options held by employees of the Group lapsed and no Lot 1 share option was
granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31 December 2021, there were
3,396,000 outstanding Lot 1 share options, out of which 1,400,000 were held
by Mr. WONG, 420,000 of which were held by Mr. CHENG while the remaining
1,576,000 were held by employees of the Group.

All 6,716,000 outstanding Lot 2 share options as at 1 January 2021 were
held by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
2,570,000 Lot 2 share options all held by employees of the Group lapsed and
no Lot 2 share option was granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31
December 2021, there were 4,146,000 outstanding Lot 2 share options all held
by employees of the Group.
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Out of the 48,923,000 outstanding Lot 3 share options as at 1 January 2021,
1,000,000 of which were held by Mr. CHENG, 400,000 of which were held
by Professor WU while the remaining 47,523,000 were held by employees of
the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2021, 17,705,000 Lot 3 share
options held by employees of the Group lapsed and no Lot 3 share option was
granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31 December 2021, there were
31,218,000 outstanding Lot 3 share options, out of which 1,000,000 were
held by Mr. CHENG, 400,000 of which were held by Professor WU while the
remaining 29,818,000 were held by employees of the Group.

All 420,000 outstanding Lot 4 share options as at 1 January 2021 were held
by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
200,000 Lot 4 share options all held by employees of the Group lapsed and
no Lot 4 share option was granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31
December 2021, there were 220,000 outstanding Lot 4 share options all held
by employees of the Group.

All 10,000,000 outstanding Lot 5 share options as at 1 January 2021 were held
by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2021, no Lot
5 share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. Therefore, as at 31
December 2021, there were 10,000,000 outstanding Lot 5 share options all
held by employees of the Group.

All 22,700,000 outstanding Lot 6 share options as at 1 January 2021 were
held by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
2,700,000 Lot 6 share options all held by employees of the Group lapsed and
no Lot 6 share option was granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31
December 2021, there were 20,000,000 outstanding Lot 6 share options all
held by employees of the Group.

Further details of the share award and share option schemes of the Company
are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.
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PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES (“PCSs")

Details of the deed poll in relation to the bonus issue of the PCSs subsisting at
the financial year ended 31 December 2021 are set out below:

On 20 June 2013, the Company executed the deed poll in relation to the
bonus issue of HK$25,092,080 PCSs. The bonus PCSs will be irredeemable
but will have conversion rights entitling the bonus PCS holders to convert into
an aggregate of 250,920,800 Shares (subject to adjustment). The conditions
precedent of the bonus issue of the PCSs are set out on page 9 of the
Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2013. All the conditions precedent
of the issue of the PCSs had been fulfilled on 20 June 2013. As at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this report, HK$13,436,800 PCSs had
been converted into 134,368,000 Shares, and there were HK$11,655,280
outstanding PCSs which can be convertible into 116,552,800 Shares (subject to
adjustment). For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 27
March 2013.

The Directors considered that the bonus issue of the PCSs was a feasible and
practical solution to restore the minimum public float of the Shares.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance had been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during the year under review.

There is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year
under review.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" INTERESTS
IN SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to any Director or the chief
executive officer of the Company, the following persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive officer of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the general meetings of any other
members of the Group:

BEXA
KERH ERRRE THRRES BERBR HERTRS
#A #A %A HERGAY HENED
Total number
of Shares and Approximate
Number of ~ Number of Share Number of underlying percentage of
Capacity Shares held options held PCSs held Shares heId issued Shares
(Note 1)
(@ ‘ (@+(b)+() (%)
(&) () B (L)
(Shares) (Shares) Shares (L)
Chance Again (Hi7t2) EREBA 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 &1 (L) 37.81
Chance Again (Note 2) Beneficial owner 534,146,300 Shares (L)
BVI Co(fi2) REEERER 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 B 17 (1) 37.81
BVI Co (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 534,146,300 Shares (L)

LEREE T2 FERETA 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 %13 (1) 37.81
HSBC International Trustee (Note 2) Trustee of a trust 534,146,300 Shares (L)
ERELt((Bat]) (HE2k3) REEs 422,825,200 1,400,000 116,552,800 540,778,000 A& 17 (1) 3828
Ms LIU Choi Lin (“Ms LIU") (Notes 2 & 3) Interest of spouse 540,778,000 Shares (L)

FE (Miitd) ERERA 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840 1RRE A (L) 2838
Caiyun (Note 4) Beneficial owner 400,959,840 Shares (L)
EERIEEE (Mitd) REEERS 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840 (L) 2838
YHCT (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 400,959,840 Shares (L)
Crown Investments Limited REEEER 227,970,810 - - 2279708108EH () 16.14
(TCrown Investments ) (Fi55)
Crown Investments Limited Interest in a controlled corporation 227,970,810 Shares (L)
("Crown Investments") (Note 5)
Metro Holdings Limited ([Metro ) (ffiF5)  REAEER 228,390,110 - - 228390, 110 (1) 16.17
Metro Holdings Limited (“Metro”) (Note 5) Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
ONG Jenn %24 (Hizt6) XL R 228,390,110 - - 228390,1108REH (L) 16.17
Mr ONG Jenn (Note 6) Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
ONG Sek Hian 724 (Pl 5¥6) REEERA 228,390,110 - - 228390110 REEA () 16.17
Mr ONG Sek Hian (Note 6) Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)

ERERA 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 BREA (L) 0.14

Beneficial owner

2,000,000 Shares (L)
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The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company.

Chance Again is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is
wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong's Family Trust. Mr
WONG is the settlor and the protector of the Wong’s Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in 417,593,500 Shares held by Chance Again and
116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation to the PCSs held by Chance Again.

Ms LIU is the spouse of Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Ms LIU is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr WONG is interested.

400,959,840 Shares were held by Caiyun, which is wholly-owned by YHCT. Accordingly,
YHCT is deemed to be interested in all the Shares and the underlying Shares held by
Caiyun.

227,970,810 Shares were held by Crown Investments which was in turn wholly-owned by
Metro China Holdings Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. 419,300 Shares
were held by Meren Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. By virtue of the
SFO, Metro is deemed to be interested in 227,970,810 Shares and 419,300 Shares held
by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively.

Metro's ultimate controlling shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules) are Mr. Ong
Jenn and Mr. Ong Sek Hian, and their aggregate direct and deemed interest in Metro is
approximately 35.398%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr ONG Jenn is deemed to be interested
in the 227,970,810 Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren
Pte Ltd, respectively. Mr ONG Sek Hian is deemed to be interested in the 227,970,810
Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively. In
addition, Mr ONG Sek Hian beneficially owned 2,000,000 Shares.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no person (other than

a Director or chief executive(s) of the Company) had any interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Notes:

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have been subject to
rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as total sums in certain tables may not
be an arithmetic aggregation of figures preceding them.
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COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

To protect the Group from potential competition, Mr WONG entered into
a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) with the
Company pursuant to which he represents, warrants and undertakes to the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of the other members of the Group),
among other things, that other than through the Group, neither he nor any
of his associates is currently interested, involved or engaged, or is likely to be
interested, involved or engaged, directly or indirectly, in any business which
is or is about to be engaged in any business which competes or is likely to
compete directly or indirectly with the Group’s business. Details of the Deed of
Non-Competition have been set out in the paragraph headed “Non-Competition
Undertakings from Mr WONG” in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders and the Scarborough Group” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 11 March 2011.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from Mr WONG in respect
of his compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition.

In order to ensure compliance by Mr WONG of the Deed of Non-Competition
and to manage any potential conflict of interests arising from the business of
the Controlling Shareholders and to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted the following corporate governance measures (the
“Corporate Governance Measures”):

(@) the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed, on an annual
basis, the compliance with the undertakings by Mr WONG under the
Deed of Non-Competition;

(b)  Mr WONG provided all information requested by the Company which
is necessary for the annual review by the independent non-executive
Directors of his compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition such as: (i)
information on business opportunities including project names, amount
of investment and the geographical location which may be identified
by him or any of his associate(s); and (ii) information on any property
developments conducted by him or any of his associate(s) during the year
or a negative confirmation, as appropriate;

(c) the Company disclosed decisions on matters reviewed by the independent
non-executive Directors relating to (where applicable) (i) compliance
and enforcement of Mr WONG's non-competition undertakings; (ii) the
exercise of the pre-emption rights where a business opportunity is referred
to the Group; and/or (iii) any decision on the enforcement of breaches of
his non-competition undertakings either through the annual reports of
the Company, or by way of announcement to the public;



EEWRES
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BEEERARAFRIPARETEIHT
AHERFEER YRERLETIH
TABEFARNREFBRTE LTRA
BfeE AR bR BRI E T AR FER A

W E A RR B EFISE R - B
SN FTARE R, RS
HREE

EEERNTES FRNTERRBUIF
MITEENARYDE <EEZTAHA
B Ve BB H IR E AT - ANB
VIR TEEAETRE XA
RABHEEBEIIFANTESTEBEHRTS
EREEAND EARERERERZ
) 3R M s B SR B BE VL AT R 98 ST 7

EHRBENSERE NEEEN—
R EARETIHENRRPEE R
5N EAERXZITHARENEET

AhFEARANESE RS KTe2 M
Exgnd INESESZLHER

REMERT BEEHRBESEESI L
TERBEARBEMAAEZEABA

EHRBENSERE  EREREE

ARABRRARG ERBRARBRRER
2Rk

HRASEREEATNRRMNE &

BRERMITBAER B ETR BT
IR o

EERAYN LOEEAEET NS EERRE
TRELA B A+ BN B 2 R 0 (T A
HERARIRERR CLER DBIRE) tias -

EERR BHE-_T-_—F+-A=+—81t
ERFEHHE - SHEACEEREEHRTER
A8 o

@)

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

133

Mr WONG made an annual declaration on compliance with his
non-competition undertakings in the annual report of the Company
and ensure that the disclosure of details of his compliance with and the
enforcement of his non-competition undertakings is consistent with the
principles of disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules;

Mr WONG abstained from voting in all meetings of the Shareholders and/
or the Board where there is any actual or potential conflicting interest;

the Board has a balanced composition of executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors so
that there is a strong element on the Board that can effectively exercise
independent judgement. With expertise in different professional fields,
the Company believes that the independent non-executive Directors have
the necessary caliber and expertise to form and exercise independent
judgement in the event that conflicts of interest between the Group and
the controlling shareholders arise;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, that is,
where a Director has an interest in a company that would enter into an
agreement with the Group, the Director(s) with an interest in the relevant
transaction(s) would not be allowed to attend the relevant Board meeting,
and would be excluded from the Board deliberation and abstained from
voting and would not be counted towards quorum in respect of the
relevant resolution(s) at such Board meeting;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, the
controlling shareholders would be required to abstain from voting in
the Shareholders’ meeting of the Company with respect to the relevant
resolution(s); and

the Group is administratively independent from the controlling
shareholders as it has its own company secretary, authorised
representatives and administrative personnel.

The Directors consider that the above Corporate Governance Measures are
sufficient to manage any potential conflict of interests between the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates and the Group and to protect the
interests of the Shareholders, in particular, the minority Shareholders.

The Directors confirm that each of the Corporate Governance Measures has
been performed satisfactorily during the financial year ended 31 December
2021.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have a significant
impact on the Group. The Group would seek professional legal advice from
its legal advisers to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. During the
year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and to
adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving
and waste reduction. The Group has implemented internal recycling programme
for office consumables such as toner cartridges and paper to minimise the
operational impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and will
implement further eco-friendly measures and practices closely enhancing
environmental sustainability.

For details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in
this report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S EMPLOYEES

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable assets. The
Group will provide trainings for employees to enhance their knowledge in
corporate values and culture and to implement them thoroughly. Meanwhile,
the Group accelerates development of young leaders and nurtures them
in establishing study-oriented teams and keeps them abreast of updated
knowledge and timely development.

The Group also aims to provide competitive and attractive remuneration
packages to retain the employees. Management reviews annually the
remuneration package offered to employees of the Group. Meanwhile, for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contributed to the success of the Group’s operations, the Group adopted the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme. Information about these scheme is set out in the paragraph
headed “Share Option Schemes” in the Directors’ Report of this report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group values long standing relationships with its suppliers and customers.
The Group aims at delivering high quality properties and services to its
customers and developing mutual trust and enhancing communication and
commitment between the Group and its suppliers, especially the commercial
banks and financial institutions as the Group's businesses are capital intensive
which require on-going funding to maintain sustainable growth.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there are no material events
affecting the Group after the end of the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this report.

AUDITORS

KPMG will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

WONG Chun Hong
Chairman

Hong Kong
25 March 2022
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Top Spring International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top Spring
International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 146 to 276, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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FEEHRBRZEREVERREYXENGHE
Transfer of inventories to investment properties and valuation of investment properties

BRI A B M T 12 R&FBEN2() -

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(j).

BREITEHE
The Key Audit Matter

MN_ZT—_—F+-A=+—H8 X E£EHEE
RPEANMREBNREMEEAS DA
B18/59,016,630,0008 7T * & 15 BEXE
BEREN31.8% ZEREVETFZERE
FE ZERMAME -

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held a
portfolio of investment properties located in
Mainland China and Hong Kong with a fair
value of $9,016,630,000 which, in aggregate,
accounted for 31.8% of the Group’s total
assets. These investment properties principally
comprise residential, retail and office premises.

HE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE" &
SESTFREAMNFE (Z20FREAE
#31,308,389,000/8 THI M A = R E L) 8
BEREN* EREFTEHFEEEER
BEMERBFERITETER SR EHIEEH
BREELHE - SLHABTERTEMN -
During the year ended 31 Decemeber 2021,
the Group transferred inventories in Mainland
China, which principally comprised offices and
carparks, with an aggregate carrying value
of $1,308,389,000 to investment properties.
Management is required to exercise judgement
in determining if the relevant criteria as set out
in the prevailing accounting standards have
been met in order to transfer inventories to
investment properties. Such judgements are
principally qualitative in nature.

EERBEERINWEMLEMA B HELN
BYUE AIEREVER_ZT_—F+=
AR=+—HBHAREE-

The fair values of the investment properties as
at 31 December 2021 were assessed by the
directors based on independent valuations
prepared by a firm of qualified external
property valuers.

EANEFNAEEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB AR EYENGEETNETIEFRENATSIE
Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties included
the following:

e BMBREWMENEERZELEMMBEAXY  DREEEEENREFE
BRIKRENEAREBCREFELENEN ;
challenging management'’s criteria for determining the change in use of
the properties transferred from inventories to investment properties by
inspecting the lease agreements for the properties and other relevant
documentation;

e HWHGEHBEIKEMENHAETEMER  UHEFABERE
BYENEERS X WAHEEEEBODERREL
conducting site visits to investment properties transferred from inventories,
on a sample basis, to observe the leasing activities of the respective
properties and assess the change in use of the properties as asserted by
management;

e MBUAECHEBRBZEMNIDDEREMAFRUNEERS - Z
HERSEEFITHREVENRIABENKE
obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared by the external
property valuers engaged by management and on which the directors’
assessment of the fair values of investment properties was based,;

o FHEINITMEGEMAAEENEFENEE  SREIEMH -
AREERENTBRIERBIIE
assessing the external property valuers’ qualifications, experience and
expertise in the properties being valued and considering their objectivity
and independence;
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Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(j).
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EERERAABESNERENE XA R
st BRI EEHERBEEMRERE EX
b& TI51EE AT LB R T TI5ERS
The determination of these fair values involves
significant management judgement and
estimation, particularly in relation to selecting
the appropriate valuation methodology,
capitalisation rates, market rents and average
market price of the comparable properties.

HRAGFEERERENERAFARE
RITEE R EHE A R YEEBES D
B Rk - R RN - R
EREEBREREMERKREMENLER
g EsTEIE -

We identified the transfer of inventories
to investment properties and valuation of
investment properties as a key audit matter
because of the exercise of management
judgement in assessing if the criteria for the
transfer of inventories to investment properties
were met and the inherent risks involved
in estimating the values of the properties,
particularly in light of the current economic
circumstances.

BB N AREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERMABYEGEEROHET - HEHNBY S EAD R 5 K
BERERANGETERFZRHTRER

with the assistance of our internal property valuation specialists, discussing
with the external property valuers their valuation methodology and the
key estimates and assumptions adopted in their valuations;

BRLBRTSABEERR,SNBNETSAEE - UHEs R
AN E G EMAEET L YEHMAEPRANEEMHETRE
# (BEEXEE . RIMSHESRALRTSERS) IRHERR
54

evaluating the external property valuers’ valuation methodology and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions (including capitalisation
rates, prevailing market rents and comparable market transactions)
adopted in the valuations, on a sample basis, by comparison with available
market data and/or government produced market statistics; and

AERERE EEEMAMNDYEGEMRENEEEN (BFEEH
HeRHBEXR) BEEEHREFEXHELR -

comparing tenancy information, including committed rents and occupancy
rates, provided by the Group to the external property valuers with
underlying contracts and related documentation, on a sample basis.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(g).
RPN ES N AEEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B AR E S E RN ERE =T RBENGEETHNENETE
FEATEIE :

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of receivables from the third
parties without specified dates of settlement included the following:

BREITEHE
The Key Audit Matter

R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—H E£EE
EETARETCHEBHNERE= KA
1,366,245,00078 7T * RER & MBI KD 1R
REBERIZALBAAR ((BREBEFRL
REEARDIENEREE R = —
F BEEMR CAEKFIERZEFELIAE
{B/E518 13,757,000 47T ©

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had
certain receivables from the third parties
without specified dates of settlement of
HK$1,366,245,000 which were classified as
financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL") in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In 2021, the
Group recognised relevant fair value loss of
$13,757,000, regarding the above receivables.

ZECRMEENERAABESREENSE
“heRIA - ZECREENKELRE
ARERABBERBRNGERE  BZZ58H
ABUR RRBJZAH D EEB T I5BIRER -
HERBAEMSBEEKX -

These financial assets are classified as level 3
financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy.
The valuations of these financial assets are
derived from valuation models which require a
number of inputs and assumptions which are
not observable from market data and which are
significant to the entire measurement.

HREEZSeREESMNEREERE
BEEEEMERAMKAE ABERRMAT
EHHERESYE BEEENMBEEES
BAXE HWHMBEREECHEEHRANE
WE=FRIENGEEBRRERTFE -

We identified the valuation of receivables from
the third parties without specified dates of
settlement as a key audit matter because of the
degree of complexity involved in valuing these
financial assets and the degree of judgement
exercised by management in determining the
inputs used in the valuation models which may
have significant impact to the financial results
of the Group.

RELAEE R R EE |

obtaining and inspecting the valuation prepared by management;

ERMABEEERGH T - 2ERITIFARLENRTE - FTEEHE
PARANGERE THEERRBOGGRKRERE RER
KIFHEEE

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, assessing the
valuation methodology adopted in the valuations with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards and challenging
the estimation in future cash flows and discount rates adopted in the
valuations;

BEMHNERXHEMESGR - Fh EEEEHEARGEENF IR
AR ARBRERE  UB2ERZNMBNRR - HERERED
AXTEEN REERFRNBRRREER © &

evaluating the Group’s estimated future cash flows from the debtor used
in the valuation model which include reading the terms set out in the
respective agreements and challenging management’s assumptions in
respect of the ability of the debtors to pay and timing of settlements with
reference to the debtors’ financial condition; and

2ERITERENRT - Th EEERGEM BRI EEMR
KA E R ABERRENWER M -

assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in relation to the key inputs and assumptions adopted
in the valuation with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(1).
RANFT N EEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB EEEREETHNEAEFEENATSIE
Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of goodwill included the
following:

BB BR
The Key Audit Matter

R-_EBE-_—F+-_A=+—H R_F
—“NFUBHEEEARBEELENEE R
40,736,000 7T °

As at 31 December 2021, goodwill arising from
the acquisition of the educated related service
in 2018 amounted to HK$40,736,000.

EREEEFREAT —HEEESRAENR
CELAET((REEEER]) GROUERR
SREBRAN Y EETRE G  RMEE
EHEEEL2REEEZENINELERR
S EREET

Management perform annual impairment
assessment of goodwill based on discounted
cash flow forecast prepared for each cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which goodwill
is allocated. The impairment assessment is
carried out by management with reference to a
valuation report prepared by an external valuer
appointed by management.

HEURRERERAPREEEFHEX
HE - FRIRERESENEBMRBKA
BERE FAEEREREESE -

The preparation of discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, in particular in
determining the appropriate short-term and
long-term revenue growth rates, profit margin
and discount rates.

THREEENRETHES - 2FRITIHENNEX -
PEABUNBIREZRCELEMNEEDE ;
obtaining an understanding of the management’s impairment assessment
model, evaluating the identification of the CGU and the allocation of
assets to that CGU with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

AHE SR

A ERERENINBEEMNER - KERFEEMH
assessing the qualifications, experience and expertise of the external
valuer appointed by management;

HEREMwmARNEESE - WEBKZEMARRREAE L5
RERITERAESL - HRBRB RSB T ARANEZ MGG
kR (CHREWAERERFBEEHEE) ROEE
discussing future operating plans with management and challenging
the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecast, in particular in relation to revenue growth rates and profit
margin, by comparing these with historical results, economic and industry
forecasts;

HEBENFENGRAGH AIROSBETENTE - KL
FTE MA@ S 3R R ERARE(E Y

re-performing calculations made by management in arriving at the year
end assessments of recoverable amounts and comparing the calculated
recoverable amounts to the actual carrying amounts;
FREL F—FENMRRSRERBEREZNE HEITEW
MR ARHEEREERAGENR LM E LR

performing a retrospective review by comparing the prior year’s discounted
cash flow forecast with the current year's results to assess the reliability
and historical accuracy of management’s forecasting process;
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Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(f).

BREITEHE
The Key Audit Matter

BB NAEREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

HRBREeEFEM AW ESENTEAE
BRI WEKEEBREELERHAS R
st EFENERIEERBRGENER (L
HECOVID- 198 HMBITENTE) - HM
BRI EN L EERETEE -

We identified the assessment of impairment
of goodwill as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the recoverable amounts of CGU
can be inherently subjective and requires the
exercise of significant management judgement
and estimation which increases the risk of error
or management bias, in particular the impact to
education industry brought by COVID-19.

ERMABEEERBHT - EBHERTEEMATLRARNEE
FHEBRIRE MR ML

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, evaluating the
appropriateness of the discount rates by benchmarking against other
comparable companies in the same industry;

HEEZRR (BEGRBAeREEAPIANERERUREK) #17
BRESN - UERERENAEENTERERBEEATRER
EREFERE : &

performing sensitivity analysis of key assumptions, including growth
rates and discount rates applied in the discounted cash flow forecast
and considering the resulting impact on the impairment assessment and
whether there were any indicators of management bias; and

2ERTEAEUNER . FAEREEBNABRENGELRE M
R PHHE -

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of management’s impairment assessment of goodwill with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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At RIFEEEER EKEBRAEF
FRIEEMBRENERTER -

EXAEERZBEM TRITEE
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EEEE

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OUR AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Wong Chun Pong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BE-Z-—F+-A=+—HLEFEWBETIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

PN Revenue 4 638,957 575,051
HEKRE Direct costs (318,788) (313,922)
EF Gross profit 320,169 261,129
REMERDERIFE Valuation gains/(losses) on investment

HENREMENLE properties and investment properties

Wz (&) classified as held for sale 12 202,341 (77,944)
HAb U A Other revenue 5 175,544 139,945
E A %5 Other net income 6 218,551 48,742
HEREIHAT Selling and marketing expenses (82,825) (76,898)
ITE RS Administrative expenses (332,774) (310,126)
B 5 & Hh FE BUGRIE B Impairment loss on trade and other

REEE receivables 29(a) (9,477) (18,527)
BEEBELNERF,(BE)  Profit/(loss) from operations 491,529 (33,679)
BLE AR Finance costs 7(a) (294,547) (301,811)
DA E R RE B Share of losses of associates 15 (1,997) (2,122)
DlEAECERNRER Share of profits less losses of joint

ventures (7,397) (8,992)

BREBIER, (FE) Profit/(loss) before taxation 187,588 (346,604)
Frig i Income tax 8(a) (140,874) (20,932)
EERF,(EHA) Profit/(loss) for the year 46,714 (367,536)
R AL Attributable to:
AN A A AR R IR AT F K A Equity shareholders of the Company

KR TR FE and holders of bonus perpetual

(KA AT]RBFESRDIFEA subordinated convertible securities

("PCSs") 33,432 (283,258)

FE1E i = Non-controlling interests 13,282 (84,278)
EERAN(FBE) Profit/(loss) for the year 46,714 (367,536)
ERERN,(FHE) (Bx) Earnings/(loss) per share (HK$)
AR E Basic and diluted 11 0.02 (0.19)

1548276 BT AKX ZF M B MEX —=B  The notes on pages 154 to 276 form part of these financial statements. Details
5o BRARAERKRR RKAAMARESFF  of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of
BAREBFIFEH M 28(b) PCSs are set out in Note 28(b).
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GEeEEREMEEKRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-Z-—F+-A=+—HILFE GBTIITR)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FEEF(FR)

FEREME2EWES (RREREHSD
HRER)

HEFHTEEFT D BEE R
HH -

RGYE - BEREREREE

Profit/(loss) for the year 46,714 (367,536)

Other comprehensive income for the year
(after tax and reclassification adjustments)

ltems that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:

Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and

ERIREWME BN EMESS  equipment upon change of use to investment
properties 5,619 -
ER&REE BICEMENEM  Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation gain on
W s PrEE R RIER IR B & change of use to investment properties (1,405) -
4,214 -

H & r e B # 77 X = 1R an
HYEA

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:

MBS =5 - Exchange differences on translation of:
—IBINI B A AR B IS $R R - financial statements of foreign subsidiaries 379,050 685,152
—HERBRARKET D — reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal
ESiEn of subsidiaries 624 26
379,674 685,178
DIEEE AR REERERN Share of other comprehensive income of
H b 2wl associates and joint ventures (18,461) 34,047
361,213 719,225

Other comprehensive income for the year,

oo, hetofincometax S el 719,225
FEXHRGZEEE Total comprehensive income for the year 412,141 351,689
R AL AL : Attributable to:

AR EVRE 2 AR R B ok A AT R Equity shareholders of the Company and

MeESFFEA A holder of PCSs 394,643 421,274
FEFE IR Non-controlling interests 17,498 (69,585)
FEXHREERE Total comprehensive income for the year 412,141 351,689

2154 % 276 BRMFTAEKZEH IR —#05 °  The notes on pages 154 to 276 form part of these financial statements.
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e BRI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZEZ—F+-A=+—HCAVETIIT)
At 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ERBEE Non-current assets
wEYE Investment properties 12 8,970,030 7,238,615
W - BB MR E Property, plant and equipment 12 192,006 199,281
9,162,036 7,437,896
| EE Intangible assets 3,769 3,769
EES Goodwill 13 40,736 40,736
i RN = OF - e Interest in associates 15 5,257 7,072
NEBLENER Interest in joint ventures 16 1,069,950 423,328
BERBHILEAAEBEAR  Financial assets measured at fair value
(TEBREREAABEAN  through profit or loss (“FVPL")
ROFENeRMEE 17 1,443,808 1,488,143
H At & Wk IE Other receivables 19 268,023 231,761
EREHRBEEE Deferred tax assets 8(d) 87,451 85,540
12,081,030 9,718,245
REEE Current assets
FEREAME LM Inventories and other contract costs 18 9,951,592 10,884,496
BIBERIEAABEART Financial assets measured at FVPL
ENTREE 17 130,858 115,657
B 5 NEAMEWZIE Trade and other receivables 19 2,152,059 1,654,142
TBfRLIE Prepaid tax 8(c) 72,320 38,846
ZRRE R EERFER Restricted and pledged deposits 20 2,862,004 3,046,639
ReMREGEMEER Cash and cash equivalents 21(a) 1,077,346 1,653,196
16,246,179 17,392,976
DEABIEHENIREYE Investment properties classified
as held for sale 12 46,600 70,657
16,292,779 17,463,633
REEE Current liabilities
H 5 N EH M ERRIE Trade and other payables 22 4,252,279 4,004,074
aHBEE Contract liabilities 23 1,927,173 726,231
RTERREMEES Bank loans and other borrowings 24 6,196,768 5,966,708
HEaE Lease liabilities 25 7,581 21,971
e EH Bonds payable 26 249,665 248,552
FEAS R IE Tax payable 8(c) 217,567 168,259

12,851,033 11,135,795
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e MBI &
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZZ—F+=ZA=+—BAETIIR)
At 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REBEEFE Net current assets 3,441,746 6,327,838
BEERRBAE Total assets less current liabilities 15,522,776 16,046,083
FRBEME Non-current liabilities
RITERREMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 24 3,649,180 4,495,656
HEaE Lease liabilities 25 39,204 40,684
ELEFIEBE Deferred tax liabilities 8(d) 1,464,559 1,355,501
________________________________________________________ 5,152,943 5,891,841
EERE NET ASSETS 10,369,833 10,154,242
BRARGEE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
[i@N Share capital 28(c) 141,273 141,273
E Reserves 10,161,553 9,933,656

AATEEBRRRKATE Total equity attributable to equity

BRESEFEA shareholders of the Company and

FEfhESARE holders of PCSs 10,302,826 10,074,929
FEBRER Non-controlling interests 67,007 79,313
ERBE TOTAL EQUITY 10,369,833 10,154,242

EEENR T _F=A-THBEMERE®E Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2022.
Fg o

HERE MER
Wong Chun Hong Lam Mei Ka Shirley
BF EFE
Director Director

55154 % 276 ARSI BMEK—AF © The notes on pages 154 to 276 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-Z-—F+-A=+—HLEFEWBETIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

G
R EEEE  ENER ko AbER

Reserve
afising from PRC
Share issuanceof  Capitl  Exchange  statutory Other — Retained controling
premium PCSs Tesenve TeSee  TBSeIVeS Tesenve profis Totdl  interests
S 1 T i i i i S i
§1000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §1000 §/000 §1000 §1000

RZBZBF-F-BHEE  Balance at 1 January 2020 W3 192155 1S T8I0 (10M084) 48643 (219 806178 968421 155932 9840173

“RCERERS. Changes in equity for 2020:

ERER Loss forthe year - - - - - - - (B (8329 B8 (36753
e Other comprehensive income - - - - TUE - - - TS 1468 71925
2ANREE Total comprehensive income - - - - 04532 - - (8358 A4 (69585 351,689

BRUBREREERG  Shareoptons and awarded shaes

forfeited - - - - - - 9275 - - -
ERZOEETHE Transfr to PRC statutory resenves 280 - - - - R - - - -
HEESRIRE Diidends declred n espect of

the previous year 280b) - - - - - - - 30588 (30,588) - (3058
RHERBREARE Diidend pad to non-cotroling

sharcholder - - - - - - - - - By (70

WZZZEE+ZAZ1+-8  Balanceat 31 December 2020
gt ] 41213 195,15 11,655 69075 (33955 488734 (3219 7754868 10074929 79313 10,154,242
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BEZ-—F+-A=+—HUIEFEGETIIT)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

KAARERRRKATRRRFHEARE
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of PCSs

151

BXA
TaREE Ll %
RAEE EfhdE EAEE EXBE  ieRE  EREE  BHEE  REEA B8 FERER
Reserve
arising from PRC  Property Non-
Share Share issuanceof  Capital  Exchange statutory revaluation Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium PCSs  reserve  reserve  reserves  reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
i i n 1 i r x i i n i i
§/000 §/000 §1000 §/000 §1000 §/000 §1000 $1000 §/000 §'000 §/000 $/000
W-E--E-A-BHER  Balnceat! January 2021 M3 195,15 11,655 689075 (339550 488,734 - (3219) 7754868 10,074,929 19313 10,154,202
“Eo-ERERY: Changes in equity for 2021:
EgRi Proftfor the year - - - - - - - - BB B BW 464
EbEds Other compiehensie income - - - - B - - - 46 36540
2ANGEE Totel comprehensive income - - - - 356997 - 414 - B W3 1748
WEERERKENBOTN  Acuistons of ddifonal nterests n subsicaris
BMER from non-<ontoling inerests s = s s - = - (5969) - (6% (1383  (61,079)
BRNERERERRE Shate options and awarded shares foreied = = - (16409 - = = - 16403 = = =
ERTHETTRE Transer to PRC statutory esenves 281 = = s = - we = - (38) s = =
FERRENRS Dividends approved n respect of the previous year ~~ 281b) - - - - - - - - e ) - )
KERHENORS Divdend aporoved inrespect o the urrentyear —~~ 28() - - - - - 5 = - (8 (s8m) - (5819
mEERRERARE Diidend paid to @ non-controling shareholder - - - - - = = = = - () s
WZB--FfZB=t-B  Balanceat 31 December 2021
it M3 195,15 11,655 52,612 1745 533,007 4214 (62975) 7,653,290 10,302,826 67,007 10,369,833

%154 F 276 BHM AR A ST IERE — 205 ©

The notes on pages 154 to 276 form part of these financial statements.
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

BE-Z-—F+-A=+—HLEFEWBETIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REER Operating activities
REEBEEY, (FT8m) Cash generated from/(used in)

e operations 21(b) 303,485 (51,831)
EENETAE Tax paid (81,838) (431,346)
REEEFEL(FEA) Net cash generated from/(used in)

H&FE operating activities 221,647 (483,177)
REEE Investing activities
BEBEMERMNK Payment for purchase of wealth

management products (2,766,684) (346,950)
o IR B EE G Y FTAS SRIE Proceeds from disposal of wealth

management products 2,834,109 260,485
BESBRBRRANER Payment for purchase of financial assets

AR ENEmMEENK measured at FVPL (22,059) -
HEFEBIBRIEAABEAIRL Proceeds from disposal of financial

ENCREENIERIE assets measured at FVPL 47,530 102,944
2 U F B Interest received 74,976 13,984
B E Wz Investment income received 49,086 4,889
HE—MeatE Proceeds from disposal of a

Z TS RA joint venture = 21,148
MEBatERR Advance to joint ventures (616,036) (11,748)
—HAEEREERZ Proceeds from repayment of a

Fr8 A joint venture 69,366 -
HEWNBARIZES Net cash inflow/(outflow) from

A (i) #58 disposals of subsidiaries 499,523 (8,292)
BEWE  WEIRENRK Payment for purchase of property,

plant and equipment (9,130) (9,534)
HEWE  HWERZHEH2 Proceeds from disposal of property,

FR8RA plant and equipment 377 1,185
RBEFEEME RERK Proceeds from other receivables

FRIB 2 P45 38 (B YA RS impaired in prior years with

EEEHA) the related compensation income

received 191,847 -
[) S 172 A% A% R U B 4 2 1) 3K Payment for acquisition of interest from

a non-controlling shareholder (48,647) -
RETBFEEREFH Net cash generated from investing

activities 304,258 28,111
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HE-Z-—F+-A=+—HILFE GBTIITR)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MEEE Financing activities
FIGIRITTER R HAL Proceeds from new bank loans and
f& %ﬁﬁ%fx other borrowings 21(0) 3,420,842 2,516,707
BITEH S HIE Proceeds from issuance of bonds 21(c) - 251,966
1&3&'&&{?%\ AR EMmEE Repayment of bank loans and other
borrowings 21(c) (4,150,233) (1,401,711)
BEENES Repayment of bonds payable 21(c) = (503,802)
EREERS BRI Capital element of lease rentals paid 21(c) (23,888) (39,861)
BENEERS ZFEEHD Interest element of lease rentals paid 21(c) (3,550) (4,019)
FEIE IR TR AR Advance from non-controlling interests ~ 21(c) 30,661 42,236
BRI E R A Repayment to a non-controlling interest ~ 21(c) = (39,167)
BB EIOR L, () Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits 315,419 (271,815)
BB REMEERR Interest and other borrowing costs paid ~ 21(c) (587,561) (626,656)
BEZIE SIS Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders (28,421) (7,034)
MR AIAE S AR B MoK A A 2% Dividends paid to equity shareholders
BHEFABANRMTEE of the Company and holders of PCSs ~ 28(b) (107,050) (30,586)
METBHBARSFEE Net cash used in financing activities (1,133,781) (113,742)
ReRkESLEHEER Net decrease in cash and cash
WA FE equivalents (607,876) (568,808)
R—BA—HBHHNERER Cash and cash equivalents at
REeZEER 1 January 21(a) 1,653,196 2,115,129
EXEEHNTE Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 32,026 106,875
RT=ZA=+—H8® Cash and cash equivalents at
ReERAEEEEAE 31 December 21(a) 1,077,346 1,653,196

%1545 276 BRI THARKZEM B HRE—35 o The notes on pages 154 to 276 form part of these financial statements.
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#r S B A AR MY R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S ERBIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

—REHR

REBEBREEERAR ([R27]) RE
HEHEAREERE (—AR—F&
Pl= BREARETN R _FFTNLFENA
“ThAREHREMRESEMKR LSRR
BREERA - ARAROR -F——
FZAT=A(LwEBD EFEH
ABRSMBER AR ([BRA]) ERET -

AR Z2REREZR  MEMNBER
AEERPEARANMR (THE]) S
MEER  MERE  WEEIENERBR
BARHE BRI E -

FEEFEE

(@) EHREHR
ZERBRREEBRELE SR
2 ((BBEHAIE)) ROENME
HEREBMBERELEA(EBUK
BEXEM])  BEABEERENE
BUBREER  BEEEAEN(E
BERERAD KRE FEARE
TR AR EE R B GRBIN K FE R E
R ZEWBRRTTEE LR
BRBMABERARER EHHRA (L
WRAD NEREEGRN - ANEE
PR EZ @ BRREINWT -

ERGMASCRME TEEM
BRELERNNEET AR AEER
ARABNASFTHEERERLA
RERM - M2 RHEBEETIK
R B IR & % 3 BOE P S BUE
AEEARGEHME AR ZERH
BRPEH -

GENERAL INFORMATION

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability on 25 August 2009 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s
shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 23 March 2011 (“Listing Date").

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are property development, property
investment, property management and related services and education
related services in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.
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(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
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The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group's interest in
associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

— investment properties, including interests in leasehold land and
buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(i));

—  other investments in debt and equity securities (see Note 2(g));
and

- derivative financial instruments (see Note 2(h)).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell (see Note 2(aa)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

3 Amendments to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-related rent concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

e Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16, Interest rate benchmark reform — phase 2

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented in this report. The Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the current accounting period. There is no material impact by
adoption of the amendment to the Group.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether
the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
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Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with Notes 2(s) or (t) depending on
the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see Note 2(g)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture (see Note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(n)),
unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(aa)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or Company
and other parties contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(aa)). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price, other
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate or joint venture that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see Note 2(f) and (n)(iii)). At each reporting date,
the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate
or the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
or the joint venture (after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see Note 2(n)(i)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

(f)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee,
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant
influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see Note 2(g)).

Goodwiill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each cash-
generating unit, or groups of cash-generating units, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested
annually for impairment (see Note 2(n)iii)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group's policies for investments in debt and equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 29(g). These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows:

(@

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Interest income from
the investment is calculated using the effective interest
method (see Note 2(x)(vi)).

fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) —
recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest
and the investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment does
not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in profit or
loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Contingent considerations assumed in business
combinations

Any contingent consideration assumed in a business
combination is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.
If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets
the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity,
then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for
within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
irrevocable election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be
made if the investment meets the definition of equity from
the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 2(x)(v).

(h) Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. At the
end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured. The gain
or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0]

()

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see Note 2(m)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in
profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is accounted
for as described in Note 2(x)(ii).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation (see Note 2(k)) and impairment
losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)):

—  interest in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(m));

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest (see Note 2(m)); and

—  furniture, fixtures and other equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see Note

2(2)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
property revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified
to profit or loss.



REMBHRRME

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 163

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S BERBEIN - LETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 FEETHER®W
(k) 3% BERKREBTE

() tHREFHHAEERBEERE
s
MEBE T R AREER
fEmERAHRITER M - L0
EMBFRARBERERE
ERERFEFREEBFEREF
PR - BNANR T HHR{& #8850
FABREE BE) HRITER
e

(i) KRB BEEXRBEREMRE
KR BEREREMRER
ER3ESFMAAERF
B DA B A6 0 M 8 L A AN R EL
AHRISEE(E)E -

i E A% - BB MR HIE A
EVMERER D B TR E A FR
BRABBEMRAAIRAEESE
PDEEEHD - MBEBD
DRITE -BEENAERFR
LREFHEEWME) BKEEF
EITER -

() EEEE (FERM)
MABDNFE IR ELHMERR
B 32 o fidf 25 G0 3B 2 AE il Be 7 2
tATEEBAAERRERYL AR
FESERC B % TF - R 35 B
XEER - BEARCHAZ BEMH
KA BERSE REELHNHE
EERREERA (AR (2K
iE2(2) o BACFR B AR AR
Rt MREBEBRN T AR (2
BB E 2(n)(iii)) » b FERXNE
R /X

AEBFKENEMELEELRK
A BEEE (A ERFER A
BRE) RERIEY R (28
2(n)Gii) - ABEEMNEE R RIEN
X RELSMEREMAY

BRVEEDASBEEERIERAFR
AEAERE - BEEENAEH
FRAERMNENERASEE
BIAEEEMHRBEAREBES R
ZEEMNERRAAEHFRAMG -
i T A B S - BRI AT (R A A IR AT A
MERPESHRY  AAIsEa &
BB HRE LR AR FHMOET
BEBHBREAR-

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(k) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

0]

(i) Ownership and leasehold interests in land and buildings

Depreciation is provided on the cost of the leasehold land of
properties over the unexpired terms of lease. Costs of buildings
thereon are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
being no more than 50 years after the date of completion.

(ii) Furniture, fixtures and other equipment

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of furniture,
fixtures and other equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on development activities
is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the
costs of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable (see Note 2(z)).
Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)). Other
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)). Expenditure
on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of
the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.

(@

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets which, for the Group are primarily laptops and
office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(@

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Notes 2(k) and 2(n)(iii)), except for the
following types of right-of-use asset:

—  right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are carried at fair value in accordance with Note
2(i); and

—  right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold land
where the interest in the land is held as inventory are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value in
accordance with Note 2(0).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments in debt
securities carried at amortised cost (see Notes 2(g)(i), 2(z)(vi)
and 2(n)(i)). Any difference between the initial fair value and
the nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(0]

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group's estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions
are rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the group
has taken advantage of the practical expedient not to assess
whether the rent concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as if negative variable
lease payments in profit or loss in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)
(ii) As alessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not
the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(x)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group
applies the exemption described in Note 2(m)(i), then the
Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

—  financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged
deposits, trade receivables and other receivables,
including loans to joint ventures, which are held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest); and

- lease receivables.

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including equity
and debt securities measured at FVPL and derivative financial
assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following
discount rates where the effect of discounting is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest
rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the measurement
of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from all possible default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial
assets are estimated based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through
a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2(x)(vi) is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

—  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss
in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the
holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at fair value,
which is determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s
length transaction for similar services, when such information
is obtainable, or to interest rate differentials, by comparing
the actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is
made available with the estimated rates that lenders would
have charged, had the guarantees not been available, where
reliable estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with
the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where
no such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract and recognises a provision when ECLs
on the financial guarantees are determined to be higher than
the carrying amount in respect of the guarantees (i.e. the
amount initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk
of default of the specified debtor since the issuance of the
guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased significantly
since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL
is measured. The same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk as described in
Note 2(n)(i) apply.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Continued)

As the Group is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the specified debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated
based on the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is then discounted using
the current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets;

— intangible assets;

- goodwill;

— Interests in associates and joint ventures; and

—  investments in subsidiaries in the Company'’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount

is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible assets that

are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have

indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a
cash-generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset (for example, head office building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if the
allocation can be done on a reasonable and consistent
basis, or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.



mEMBRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B BB A

LAETTEIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 FEZ

TR o)

(n) FRABREREERIE (#)
(iv) APHAR 3R & ORI E

R EMHRA NEEAER
R R ERIE3AN [F A
B#HE IR BFERENENE
AmBh B BERSE - X H
HIM R - AEE RN K F
JEF AR ARRRER -
ERMELDERE(2HME
2(n)(i) Bz (iii)) °

1A PP 5 ) L 7 2 B SR MY R (B
BEERNBERBELERED - fH
AEER R A R R
BEREFRETHE  HERE
REMEBERL)DBEER Lt
ATREEEA -

(o) FERHEMENRAE

(i)

3
FEERER—REBBRS R
ZEWENEERRARE
BB AS o R (IR B AT
FE RO BT 4 FE OIS 3 T 5 £
HENEE -

FELKRAER BRFENR
EHEDRMT

— BIFRRUAMRLENHL
T
FEBRRAHRBENEYN
o 3B AN HE W A AR DA
F& A< 7 B AT 1 B M 3t (B
(mA) -A#FRFE2E
B BIRRITHIRTER
FHESE °

— RIEHE FEERFY
ES
RIEHE HEZRTY
X R AN B R B R
A R eEEst
g Em AR - FE -
ME R B ERAS - T
BREME R RS ARE
BEHOMNEERSIREAR
LB E R A (2B T
2(2)) - AJRBFEEKRE
TR E e E BB A A
TR EN A R HEY
EMELEHIRA o

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

175

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(iv) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see Notes
2(n)(i) and (iii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect
of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is
the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

(o) Inventories and other contract costs

(@

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale
or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value as follows:

—  Leasehold land held for development for sale

The cost of leasehold land, which is held for development
for sale, represents the cost of acquisition and the
premium, if any, payable to the relevant government
authorities. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.

—  Properties held for/under development for sale

The cost of properties held for/under development for
sale comprises specifically identified cost, including the
acquisition cost of interests in leasehold land, aggregate
cost of development, materials and supplies, wages
and other direct expenses, an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs capitalised (see Note 2(z)).
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price,
based on prevailing market conditions, less estimated
costs of completion and costs to be incurred in selling the
property.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)

0]

(i)

Inventories (Continued)
—  Completed properties for sale

The cost of completed properties held for sale comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

In the case of completed properties developed by the
Group which comprise of multiple units which are sold
individually, the cost of each unit is determined by
apportionment of the total development costs for that
development project to each unit on a per square metre
basis, unless another basis is more representative of the
cost of the specific unit. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

—  Low value consumables and supplies

Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not capitalised as inventory
(see Note 2(0)(i)), property, plant and equipment (see Note 2(j))
or intangible assets (see Note 2(1)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)
(ii) Other contract costs (Continued)

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained
e.g. an incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of
obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs
of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract may include direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because the Group
entered into the contract (for example, payments to sub-
contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the
contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange
for the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (i) any
costs that relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or
loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised.
The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in Note
2(x).

(p) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2(x)). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
Note 2(q)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Contract liabilities (Continued)

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method (see Note 2(x)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method and including allowance for credit losses
(see Note 2(n)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(n)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 2(z)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(u) Employee benefits

(@

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds (“MPFs”) as
required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as incurred. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately, there is no forfeited contributions that may be
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.

The employees of the Group participate in retirement plans
(defined contribution retirement plans) managed by respective
local governments of the municipalities in which the Group
operates in the PRC. The contribution to the retirement plan is
calculated based on fixed rates of the employees’ salaries cost
and charged to profit or loss as and when incurred, except to
the extent that they are included in the cost of inventories not
yet recognised as an expense. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately, there is no forfeited contributions that may be
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.
The Group has no other obligation for the payment of
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of staff other
than the contributions described above.

Share-based payments

The fair values of share options and awarded shares granted
to employees are recognised as employee costs with a
corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using valuation techniques,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options and awarded shares were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair
values of the options and awarded shares are spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(u) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options and
awarded shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised
as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options and awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the capital reserve until either the option/
awarded share is exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the option/awarded share expires (when
it is released directly to retained profits).

(v) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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(v) Income tax (Continued)
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Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and
all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or
credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(i), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at
the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(w)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
or the Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group or the
Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(x)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is
recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of properties, the provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides
a significant financing benefit to the customer for more than 12
months, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method.
The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects
of a significant financing component if the period of financing is 12
months or less.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(@

(i)

Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when property is delivered
to customer in Mainland China or when legal assignment is
completed in Hong Kong, which is the point in time when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of the property
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of the
property. Advanced payments received on properties and
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
statement of financial position as contract liabilities (see Note
2(p)).

For contracts where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised property exceeds
one year, the transaction price and the amount of revenue
from the sales of completed properties is adjusted for the
effects of a financing component. If the advance payments
by the customer are regarded as providing a significant
financing benefit to the Group, interest expense arising from
the adjustment of time value of money will be accrued by the
Group during the period between the payment date and the
date of delivery of property. This accrual increases the balance
of the contract liability during the period of construction,
and therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23, Borrowing costs, in
accordance with the policies set out in Note 2(2).

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives
granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which they
are earned.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Property management and related services income

Property management and related services income is
recognised when services are provided.

Education related services income

Education related services income is recognised when services
are provided.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when
the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method using the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Translation of foreign currencies

(2)

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date
is the date on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(aa) Non-current assets held for sale
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A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale
if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use
and the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed
of together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities
directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the above criteria for classification as
held for sale are met, regardless of whether the Group still retain a
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement
of the non-current assets (and all individual assets and liabilities
in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with
the accounting policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-current
assets (except for investment properties which are measured at
fair value), or disposal groups, are recognised at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The principal
exceptions to this measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the Group are concerned are investment properties.
These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to be measured in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(i).

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on
subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are recognised in
profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is classified as held for
sale, or is included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(bb)Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (bb)(a).

(vii) A person identified in (bb)(a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(cc) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgements
in applying the Group’s accounting policies are described below.

(a) Valuation of investment properties
As described in Note 12, investment properties are stated at fair
value based on the valuation performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers.

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the valuers
have based on a method of valuation which involves, inter alia,
certain estimates including current market rents and market price for
similar properties in the same location, and condition, appropriate
discount rates and expected future market rents.

In relying on the valuation report, management has exercised their
judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions.

(b) Valuation of receivables from the third parties
As described in Notes 17 and 29(g), receivables from the third parties
are measured at FVPL and classified as level 3 financial instruments
in the fair value hierarchy.



190 XEZEBEEERAT -—T-—F#%

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RS AHEHEIN

LAETTEIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3 BEHERMGET @

(b)

(9]

(d)

FEWR 58 = 75 SRR AV P4l (40)

REERWE=7FENIAEE "
AEBEERBEFEAEWABIER
BEOGHERE  BZEHERR
RAR D EBIEE MG BIRER - i
ERAEMFEER-ERECHE
I - 30 3k B R AL BE R BR B UK
FE=TRBEFBRIGE - EN
EAEEL TR A BB THEE
- A AABEARENERE
HIR B A B L - (AFT AR sk
WA K ERRBFOWERR °

FRBEERE
ERABTYME BELRE B
WEE REERRNMEZELEN
R A N B O RRENE AT BE T AT MR
CIE ZEEEARGHRRSERE
BERGETRENRN EEENT
WmeRRKEENEREER A
SEAREBE - EEMNAROS
BIYE R ABER H SR R E A
BEMETNRSE  -RETERE
HEBRAE AT E SR A&
BehaEeRkEREEEE
MEEMAKRRERERKBAE
R EPRPERKRERE

B+t IR E B B
BANPH E 8(a) il - AERE S RIFAR
R BEMEERERMERE - @E
A ERREBREAGFATE LM
HEREE ERENTELIHEE
MEEAGYERZREE TR
HRFEREE MHBERA L
TREAKEFERE L HIREH
BENEE - ARPE L HEER
BB RERBFEME  WE
EREKT R RIERE XA - 2
RE B 75 B P B ) o B £ 3 38
ERAEEELTHEE BRER
AR /R SER R E ARG
EBEBER e 0 E RS
EXEFL B ERRNMEHR
B -

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Valuation of receivables from the third parties
(Continued)

In determining the fair value of receivables from the third parties, the
Group has based on valuation models which require a number of
inputs and assumptions which are not observable from market data
and are significant to the entire measurement. Management has
exercised their judgement and is satisfied that valuation models are
reflective of the features of receivables from the third parties. Given
the uncertainties in determining the inputs used in the valuation
models, the estimated fair value may change at the end of each
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in estimates would affect
income statement in the future years.

Impairment of non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, interest in associates and joint
ventures and goodwill may not be recoverable, the assets may be
considered impaired and are tested for impairment. An impairment
loss is recognised when the asset’s recoverable amount has declined
below its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the greater
of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In determining
the recoverable amount which requires significant judgements, the
Group estimates the future cash flows to be derived from continuing
use and ultimate disposal of the asset and applies an appropriate
discount rate to these future cash flows.

Provision for PRC LAT

As explained in Note 8(a), the Group has estimated, made and
included in tax provision for PRC LAT according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual
PRC LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the tax
authorities upon completion of the property development projects
and the tax authorities might disagree with the basis on which the
provision for PRC LAT is calculated. Significant judgment is required
in determining the level of provision, as the calculation of which
depends on the ultimate tax determination. Given the uncertainties
of the calculation basis of PRC LAT as interpreted by the local tax
bureau, the actual outcomes may be higher or lower than those
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the actual outcomes/estimates will impact the income
tax provision in the period in which such determination is made.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(e) Deferred tax liabilities

()

The Group has leased out certain of the completed properties to
third parties whereby the directors consider that such arrangement is
not temporary. In the circumstance, the Group has decided to treat
those properties as investment properties because it is the Group's
intention to hold these properties in long-term for rental income
and/or capital appreciation.

Under HKAS 12, deferred tax is required to be measured with
reference to the tax consequences that would follow the manner in
which the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the assets
in question. In this regard, HKAS 12 has a rebuttable presumption
that the carrying amount of investment property carried at fair value
under HKAS 40, Investment property, will be recovered through sale.
This presumption is rebutted on a property-by-property basis if the
investment property in question is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

In this connection, the Group has reviewed its investment property
portfolio on a regular basis and has concluded that as at 31
December 2021, the Group has determined that each of these
properties are held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time and consequently the presumption
in HKAS 12 is rebutted for these properties. As a result, the Group
has continued to measure the deferred tax relating to these
other properties using the tax rate that would apply as a result of
recovering their value through use.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised and measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period. In determining the carrying amounts
of deferred tax assets, expected taxable profits are estimated
which involves a number of assumptions relating to the operating
environment of the Group and require a significant level of judgment
exercised by the directors. Any change in such assumptions and
judgment would affect the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets
to be recognised and hence the net profit in future years.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(g) Determining the provision for inventories

As explained in Note 2(0), the Group’s land held for future
development, properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s recent experience and the
nature of the subject property, the Group makes estimates of the
selling price, the costs of completion in case for properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in net sales
value, provision for completed properties held for sale, properties
held for future development and under development for sale may be
resulted. Such provision requires the use of judgment and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, the
carrying value and provision for properties in the periods in which
such estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

Given the volatility of the PRC property market and the distinctive
nature of individual properties, the actual outcomes in terms of
costs and revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the end
of the reporting period. Any increase or decrease in the provision
would affect profit or loss in future years.
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4 WARDHB®RE 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(@) WA (a) Revenue
WAEDEHERA -He A - Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income,
FAEREMEEERBERGH income from provision of property management and related services
We A LA R B 2 4 20 & 4B 78 AR 75 Bk R and income from provision of education related services earned
R (B FNBRIEE T I B B B 3H during the year, net of value added tax and other sales related taxes
EWIEREALTHIT) - and discounts allowed.
(i) WADH (i) Disaggregation of revenue
HERFITHNBRAREETEE Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
mARB RIS HFAOT : major products or service lines is as follows:

ERMKHREEAFE 15558 Revenue from contracts with
AHEZEFRTHAHKA customers within the scope

of HKFRS 15
—EEE — Sales of properties 75,980 79,211
—MEEEREBREUWA  ~ Property management and related
services income 271,446 228,176
—H B RBRBKRA — Education related services income 44,520 36,536
391,946 343,923
H i SRR U A Revenue from other sources
REREMENHEERE Gross rentals from investment
properties
— & 7E S BUR A F K — Lease payments that are fixed
HERR or depend on a rate 230,577 218,104
—TEGRRIEEFEE - Variable lease payments that do
AR ENR not depend on an index or a rate 16,434 13,024
_______________________________________________________________________ 247,011 231,128
638,957 575,051
EoHRZMETSE S EE Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
FaIH8WADFD B IEER divisions and by geographic markets are disclosed in Notes 4(b)

B 2 4(b) () K 4(b)iii) ° (i) and 4(b)(iii) respectively.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)
(ii) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising

from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregated amount of
$2,450,744,000 (2020: $1,058,322,000) under the Group'’s
existing contracts expected to be recognised as revenue
in the future upon delivery of properties to customers in
Mainland China or upon the completion of legal assignment
in Hong Kong. This amount includes the interest component
of properties sales contracts under which the Group obtains
significant financing benefits from the customers (see Note
2(x)(i)). The Group will recognise the expected revenue in
future when or as the work is completed or, in the case of
the properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale, when the properties are assigned to
the customers, which is expected to occur over the next 12
months.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its property management and related
services and education related services such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will recognise at the amount to which it has a
right to invoice, which corresponds directly to the value to the
customer of the Group’s performance completed to date.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines (products and services)
and geography. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following
four reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments:

—  Property development: this segment develops and sells
residential and retail properties.

—  Property investment: this segment leases shopping arcades,
club houses, serviced apartments and car park units to
generate rental income and to gain from the appreciation in
the properties’ values in the long term. Currently, the Group's
investment property portfolio is located entirely in Mainland
China and Hong Kong.

—  Property management and related services: this segment
mainly provides property management and related services
to purchasers and tenants of the Group’s self-developed
residential and retail properties and decoration services to
group companies.

—  Education related services: this segment mainly provides
education related services and products to students.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets, non-
current and current assets with the exception of interests in
associates and joint ventures, other financial assets other than
receivables from the third parties, prepaid tax, deferred tax
assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include
trade and other payables and lease liabilities attributable to the
operating activities of the individual segments and bank and
other borrowings managed directly by the segments.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(@

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenues generated by those segments and
the expenses incurred by those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA"” i.e. "adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”, where “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items which are non-recurring
or not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
share of profits less losses of associates and joint ventures,
other revenue and net income, valuation change on investment
properties and investment properties classified as held for sale,
impairment loss on trade and other receivables and other head
office or corporate expenses.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, management is provided with segment
information concerning inter-segment sales, interest income
and expense from cash balances and borrowings managed
directly by the segments, depreciation and amortisation,
valuation changes on investment properties and investment
properties classified as held for sale, impairment loss on trade
and other receivables and additions to non-current segment
assets used by the segments in their operations. Inter-segment
sales are priced with reference to prices charged to external
parties for similar orders.
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4 WARDEHE @ 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) 7WWEH (&) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
() oHEE BERAEGSE) (i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

BT —FR_TTF Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers,
+TZA=Z+—HIEFE  &Z# revenue from other sources as well as information regarding
FTAEERSETHEREAER the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s
LA EIT B IR D B AT & most senior executive management for the purposes of
FEMBERFTAMBA DT - resource allocation and assessment of segment performance

HiREHBRARBBEAEER for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is set out

WEDHHEREN T - below.

DREER EE]
UEE UES L R
Property management and Education
Property development  Property investment related services related services

el i e il e S
woom 0t m
S VR VA A v ﬁ i
S0 S0 S0 § 000 s §000

RENREFHRA Revenue from extemal customers 590 791 MO 3118 M6 28176 M50 5% 638957 575051

S4EHA terseqment eiene - SO 839 BRI - - OBUB Em
REABUA Reportable segment revenue 75980 79211 308839 200447 341046 346030 M50 5% 70385 7404
BEABRA/ (BB)  Reportable segment profit{oss)

(BEEBITDA) (adjusted EBITDA) (179001) (178293  1713%8 163846 18,011 12933 8,043 (1508 24411 302
BOBIHERA Interestincome from bank deposis /MY B 4 405 1109 910 - - B3 B
ERHERA Other interest incoe B 313 - - - - - - B 391
HERR Ifeestexpense (M0286) (2355060 (50260) (5769 (4001)  85%) - - (s B0181)
HEREH Deprecition and amortisation (15,125)  (14471) (3,549) 327 (3.023) (1.011) (5,143) (890 (26836) (19589

ZEREMERZEE  Impaiment losson trade and other
HEsE receivables (1,4%) (1,795) (1.877) (1,593) (2,293) (2,246) (2,046) (8,576) 1My (420

BREARLAEENETE rairvalue (ossloa on finandl asset
SREENLLER measured at FVPL
(B8)/\a (13751) i - - - . - sy ms) o )

RENERIEASE  Valuation gainglosses)on investment
HENRENENGEE  propertes and investment

s/ (BB propertes dlassied as held for sele = S (179 = - = S (179
ERPEETHATEE  Additons o non-currentsegment asels

during the year 29 2350 210 1,947 2,560 1120 408 BE 8,055 5,748
REABEE Reportable segment assets 1736730 18286464 8375139 721424 SOLIGS 49437 AT 145184 26757764 26137469

#E4D8E Reportable segment liabilties 1500485 13812341 5050 1090473 291899 293280 S0 3283 16067508 15249379
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities

I @N Revenue
HWE DA Reportable segment revenue 770,385 742,224
2 BB R U A 88 Elimination of inter-segment revenue (131,428) (167,173)
REWA (M3 4)) Consolidated revenue (Note 4(a)) 638,957 575,051
BF (EE) Profit/(loss)
RKERNEBINRZFEHIRS  Reportable segment profit/(loss)
SEEF (EE) derived from Group’s external
customers 24,411 (3,022)
DA E R R E B Share of losses of associates (1,997) (2,122)
NEEEREBIRERE Share of profits less losses of joint
ventures (7.397) (8,992)
E A R F R Other revenue and net income 394,095 188,687
B 5 & E th e IR H Impairment loss on trade and other
BB 18 receivables (9,477) (18,527)
r & K 4 5 Depreciation and amortisation (34,877) (39,261)
BE KA Finance costs (294,547) (301,811)
AR R DEAREE Valuation gains/(losses) on investment
HERIEEER properties and investment
hEYs (E58) properties classified as held for sale 202,341 (77,944)
ROMBEIRPERT Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses (84,964) (83,612)
FAERBATAERN (FE) Consolidated profit/(loss) before
taxation 187,588 (346,604)
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)

&= Assets
WMEDHBEE Reportable segment assets 26,757,764 26,137,469
REEE QAT RER Interest in associates 5,257 7,072
REERENRER Interest in joint ventures 1,069,950 423,328
BRBEREEALEBEA Financial assets measured
RitEmemEE at FVPL 208,421 316,828

TR RIE Prepaid tax 72,320 38,846
RIEFITAE E Deferred tax assets 87,451 85,540
AOBBIHREEEE Unallocated head office and

corporate assets 172,646 172,795
MAREE Consolidated total assets 28,373,809 27,181,878
=N Liabilities
WMEDEEE Reportable segment liabilities 16,067,508 15,249,379
FETRRIE Tax payable 217,567 168,259
EEFTEEE Deferred tax liabilities 1,464,559 1,355,501
Ao REEaE Unallocated head office and corporate

liabilities 254,342 254,497
SAEEE Consolidated total liabilities 18,003,976 17,027,636
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4 WARDEBHE ) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) ZEHE (&) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(iii) HEER (iii) Geographic information
TREHN BB AERKEH The following table sets out information about the

BEPEURA K (i) A& B o &
BVEAE BELRNBERF
RAEEhENED BRFE=
7R R E A EAROR ([
FRBEE ) KB EER
BRI E TR B R AR
BEAZXNEMOLE - #5EIF
MBEEMMWEMETREE
EERME(WMARENER
ME - WERRE)  KEMA
(HABRTPEE BEREMIE
it B e WK TR) B AR P E (i
RRBERARAEDENRE
) EE D o

geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external
customers and (i) the Group’s investment properties, property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and interests
in associates and joint ventures, receivables from the third
parties and other receivables (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the asset,
in the case of investment properties and property, plant and
equipment, the location of the operation to which they are
allocated, in the case of intangible assets, goodwill and other
non-current receivables, and the location of operations, in the
case of interests in associates and joint ventures.

B A3 Mainland China
5 Hong Kong
S Australia

REMREFHBA EEERBEE
Revenue from external customers  Specified non-current assets
ZB--F i S 2 —B--F —T-Zf
2021 2020 2021 2020
Tr T Tr T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
586,409 530,486 10,294,002 8,451,905
52,548 44,565 1,339,057 576,608
- - 282,957 390,589

638,957 575,051 11,916,016 9,419,102
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5 HlgA

5 OTHER REVENUE

IRITH BUA Bank interest income 84,742 39,605
E A F B A Other interest income 53,897 39,435

BEBENATECREERN Interest income on financial assets
FEWA measured at amortised cost 138,639 79,040
FHEARFEUA Service income from carparks 35,680 35,842
BEEWA Compensation income - 10,331
A AR A WA Other service income = 1,826
HAth (B 5E) Others (Note) 1,225 12,906
175,544 139,945

ik R-E_TFEZeBEZHEAEEFKI
WBNESE FEZHEETHBERAAR
COVID-1ORXRITREEANIEBE T « #R17
BRA LS EXEAEHEEIERENE

Note: The amount in 2020 mainly represents the government grants received by the
Group which are mainly related to subsidies for staff retention, interest in bank
loans, operation supporting of industrial capital headquarters and compensation
for salaries paid to employees received by certain subsidiaries related to COVID-19

RS BEDBAAM -
6 HiblzmFaE

BRBERANBEARTENS

pandemic.

6 OTHER NET INCOME

Fair value gain on financial assets

BMEEMNRAEERE measured at FVPL 29,218 49,943
HEWBRRMURE, (F18) F58 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries
—ERERAR([HK]) R — Great Billion Corporation Limited
EHREBEARAT(TEE]) ("Great Billion”) and Wealth
(MFEE ) Channel Holdings Limited
(“Wealth Channel”) (Note (i) 146,575 -
—EAb BB A A (B 5L (i) — other subsidiaries (Note (ii) 63,058 (269)
KA EHE = AT Gain on remeasurement of previously
B EAa Mg (KT EEG) held subsidiaries upon loss of control
(Note (i) 108,834 -
HE—MEErENEIBFE Net loss on disposal of a joint venture = (5,456)
LAKE B B (B Uk A 38 0] Eo #ib B W SR IB. Reversal of impairment on other receivables
BAE (HT5E Gv) with the related compensation income
(Note (iv)) 191,847 -
SRR TTRA R 3R ) E5 18 Loss on disposal of land parcels in
(B3 (i) Yuen Long (Note iii)) (314,079) -
EH (&18) W F5m Net exchange (loss)/gain (7.268) 4,576
HEME  BERZED Net loss on disposal of property,
B FE plant and equipment 7) (138)
Hh Others 373 86
218,551 48,742
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6 HMWHZFEHE®
M3

() HE-Z-_—F+-_A=1+—BILEE &
SERNREEREARARNEZENBE AR
Leading Model Limited } Master Best Limited
DRAHEERERREE (HEAXEBFARN
BEATHN—EMEERER) S8 250%
- R B 5184,076,000/8 T - R 5T
% B REBRAORIERDZE50% @ WK A
AEEMNEERE Al BREEKEF

¥ 146,575,000 B TR EFAERBEE D

FFTE M UES 108,834,000 T °

iy HEZE-—-—F+-_A=+—HLEE K
EX(FTMEHEEEIN  AEEREME
EHHEERBEETYENETHEAR
#) % 6 100% # 7 - 48 X B /3 138,697,000
BT - B4 EME 63,058,000 4 T °

iy N=ZFT=Z—FtAH BFEFERBRNEMA
Ao WEIAREEZBO TS THE - B8
[E 4 2 R B [ U T8 257 1O 4 (8 3
HE RS HRAER - WHERE SHRNE
18314,079,0008 7T °

vy AEEREEETHBARNEG FHEEK
HERBEHEAREFR RBEFE BE
EBRARGEESBE IR ERE @ W
B 119,904,000 T - BHE-T=—F
+TZA=+-—BLEEE  ERBETEBH AR
MAREL I REERBRABER A
A R # 160,000,000 7T (6% 7 191,847,000
HBIT) c ZRECRERBEBTNIBRHER
RE MU EFE -

6 OTHER NET INCOME (Continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed of its 50% interest
in each of Great Billion and Wealth Channel, which together hold a property
development project in Yuen Long, Hong Kong, to Leading Model Limited and
Master Best Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of Kerry Properties Limited,
respectively, at a total consideration of HK$184,076,000. Upon the completion,
the equity interests of Great Billion and Wealth Channel were reduced to 50%
and they became the joint ventures of the Group. The net gain on disposal of
HK$146,575,000 and gain on remeasurement on retained joint ventures of
HK$108,834,000 are recognised accordingly.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, apart from the disposal mentioned
in (i) above, the Group disposed of its entire 100% interest in certain subsidiaries
which hold certain properties to other third parties at a total consideration of
HK$138,697,000, resulting a gain on disposal of HK$63,058,000.

In July 2021, the HKSAR government issued a notice for the resumption of certain
land parcels in Yuen Long held by the Group. Management estimated the value of
these land parcels by reference to the compensation rates that are expected to be
applied by the HKSAR government and recognised a loss on disposal of land parcels
of HK$314,079,000.

The Group initiated a proceeding against a debtor for a disputed receivable in
respect of disposals of certain subsidiaries. In prior year, management considered
the unsettled amount was unlikely recoverable and provision for impairment of
HK$119,904,000 was made. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the court
judged that the debtor should pay the unsettled amount to the Group with related
interest of RMB160,000,000 (equivalent to HK$191,847,000) in total. The amount
was settled during the year and recognised as other net income in profit or loss.
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7

BRBLATE R, (E1E) 7 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION
BREBREF, (BB BRI, GEA) KR Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

TRIARIIK

(a) A& ALA (a) Finance costs
RITRAMEEF L Interest on bank and other
borrowings 523,977 558,233
HEBENS Interest on lease liabilities 3,550 4,022
ERESFHFE Interest on bonds payable 22,296 41,330
FE A FE 1 AR A 2 TR IE Y Interest on amounts due to non-
B controlling interests 1,946 14,552
HMEERAR Other borrowing costs 10,848 15,915
21(c) 562,617 634,052
AHBEEERREIDA  Accrued interest on significant
FEETFLE financing component of
contract liabilities 63,584 6,098
626,201 640,150
W BMERI SRR Less: amount capitalised (331,654) (338,339)
294,547 301,811
MEEE - {ﬁgﬁjZZFEﬁﬁj‘\iFoj%g‘rLo% H) 4 FI| & Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates ranging from 0.7% to 11.0%
(CZ—FH :1.77% Z14.0%) BAAL o (2020: 1.77% to 14.0%) per annum.

(b) BT AA (b) Staff costs
e Iﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ Salaries, wages and other benefits 236,860 209,214
A € B8 A FUR RET SR Contributions to defined contribution

(FF3E) retirement plans (Note) 10,257 4,916

247,117 214,130
st A COVID- 19 BEE  BHFE 2% Note: Due to the impact of COVID-19 pandemic, a number of policies including the relief
FEZARBEHRZERE BEteRRER of social insurance have been promulgated by the government since February 2020
PABNiRE s ghiinig - (F — T - FSFEF M to expedite resumption of economic activities, which contributed to the relief of
FEEINE TRAEMER - —E-—F1 certain cost of defined contribution scheme in 2020. No such relief was granted in

ERLAEBRESR - 2021.
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7 BREBAERN(EHE) @ 7 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(c) HibER (c) Other items
e REE Depreciation and amortisation
—Ffh - HEREMEEEE — furniture, fixtures and other fixed
assets 7,894 9,873
—FRAEEE — right-of-use assets 26,983 29,388
34,877 39,261
BEMEKAR Cost of properties sold 59,023 98,623
REMENHES KA Rental income from investment
properties 247,011 231,128
B BB Less: Direct outgoings (22,403) (19,996)
224,608 211,132
% SR BN & Auditors’ remuneration
—BZRTE — audit services 4,950 4,784
—H AR — other services 2,336 3,047
7,286 7,831
8 FBEH 8 INCOME TAX
(@) stAGZABHFERWNFAERHRAYE (a) Income tax charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

BN HA B 18 Current tax
REFEMEH ([REREH ) Net provision/(reversal) for PRC
Bl (BE@) %58 Corporate Income Tax (“CIT") 53,301 (135,050)
TR ERS ([ L g E B ) Net provision/(reversal) for Land
B (BE) F58 Appreciation Tax (“LAT") 3,857 (5,463)
TEHRLEA, (R FHE Net provision/(reversal) for
withholding tax 954 (4,257)
58,112 (144,770)
EERE Deferred tax
TR ERNES REE Origination and reversal of temporary
differences 82,762 165,702

140,874 20,932
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(a)

8 FIs®H

(%)

BEEBRAES ((RBELEE])
EREMSHRAUNRN - NEH
BAGMNEBRAHERASEN
ERIFTSHL

HRAEENEEHBRARREZS
T FRZFTZEF+ A
=+ — B ILFEIWERIEE AR
MEBNESHRNEZRHEF - iy
ERBEFNCSHELRE HEX2
¥BBHERERBZEENEB R

AIBRIN - HIR16 5% ML KT HE
BT

CEMBHRBENEAEERFTH
BNl NG ok el e
MHEERCEMSHBERTE
MizSEMETRBEFBEB@AASER
RARBAPEE HE_FT=_—F
T A=+ ALFERNERLE
MBI ER25% (ZE-_FF :
25%) °

AEFERPEAMBEEERMEREN
MEREMFEMNIREMEREL
332 (B 18 JE LA 30% = 60% H) R E T
TG IR ER - MREEBR
Bl LHIBER IR L EMERF
SRIERL AT 0% B S (8 45 Lt {5 R 4
HESH BEXARMBAER
MEERAL)GE -

ARRE—MBEING &R BRIRA
MEBWARMEERBWA - AR —
BB E R RN EA M HER
BWE SRR TAHIN -

8
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INCOME TAX (Continued)
(a) (Continued)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin Islands
("BVI") and the Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

No provision was made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the Group’s
Hong Kong subsidiaries did not earn any assessable profits subject to
Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, except for the Hong Kong subsidiaries in principal activities of
education related services, which calculated the provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax at 16.5%.

The provision for CIT is based on the respective applicable CIT rates
on the estimated assessable profits of the subsidiaries in Mainland
China within the Group as determined in accordance with the
relevant income tax rules and regulations of the PRC. The applicable
CIT rate was 25% for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
25%).

LAT is levied on properties developed and investment properties
held by the Group in Mainland China for sale, at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, which
under the applicable regulations is calculated based on the proceeds
of sale of properties less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use right, borrowing costs and all qualified property
development expenditures.

Withholding taxes are levied on interest income and related services
income earned from an overseas joint venture by the Company and
proceeds from the sale of investment properties in Mainland China
by a Hong Kong subsidiary.
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8 FBHw 8 INCOME TAX (Continued)
(b) FEFAYEREARETENS (b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit/
TEF (BB HERNT - (loss) at applicable tax rates:

BEAIER], (E18) Profit/(loss) before taxation 187,588 (346,604)

BRI ER], (E18)MEEFITE Notional tax on profit/loss) before
(ILIBEE AR AEMTE  taxation, calculated at the rates

FTE) applicable to the jurisdictions
concerned 82,645 (38,581)
TAMBRAZHZE Effect of non-deductible expenses 38,823 25,625
NE M BRA R & Effect of non-taxable income (51,609) -
B R BAFERER fRIEJEﬂE Effect of prior years’ unrecognised tax
V& losses utilised (468) (5,872)
FAARERYGRIEEEMNFE  Effect of unrecognised temporary
differences utilised (30,113) -
FREAMBEIE R AERLRM Effect of unused tax losses and
EENTE temporary differences not recognised 102,093 101,407
THIEED LAT 3,857 (5,463)
TR ERREEARELERIEZZE Deferred tax effect on LAT provision (964) 1,366
BEFEBBRE Over-provision in respect of prior years (3,390) (57,550)
BTSRRI Actual income tax expense 140,874 20,932
() ZAEMBARKAENEFIEE (c) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:

FEAHE Prepaid tax:
T HbIEET LAT 72,320 38,846
PEASHIE : Tax payable:
PR EERTER PRC CIT (169,991) (126,840)
TEHRR Withholding tax (42,534) (39,730)
T HbIE (BT LAT (5,042) (1,689)

(217,567) (168,259)
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8 FEH®W 8 INCOME TAX (Continued)
(d) ERAELEHBEERAR (d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
RERE ISR R AR AR EF The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised in the
BRE/(BE)AKID RFEAD consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
BEMT : during the year are as follows:

it ABARY  tHEE
i BEELA NAEE  BEH
] T B AL EBEER  RRER THAA

Depreciation

allowances in Fair value  Temporary

excess of Impact of adjustment  differences Other
related Lease interest  Revaluation  on business onLAT Unused tax  Distributable  temporary
depreciation  amangement  capitalisation of properties  combination provision  Accruals losses profits  differences
S S S i i i i
§000 §1000 §1000 §/000 §1000 §1000 $1000

AUTEAEENELRE: Deferred tax arising from:

RoEZEE-F-B A1 lanuay 200 172425 5 30 TR IBY (11579 5% (76 410 (7889 1030568
HEERIE/GIA)  Chargedcedited) topoftarloss 8f) 16957 360 008 (1908 - 16 1060 (17089 - 1606 165702
RS Bichange adjustments 14,101 8) 39 3816 1490 (230 (%) (2209 2915 g B
WZBZFFTZA=1-8 At31 December 2020 and

BoB--E-F-B 1yl 3348 Q33) 053 TR 18540 30 (53)  (6%%) 4705 (6761) 1,269,961
REERE/GIA)  Charedoedited) topofitorloss 8f) 39454 816 769 50,268 - - 1490 (4319 - Qs18) 88
HENELA Disposal ofsubscires - - om0 - - - - - - (0760)
REGZENEIAR  Chaged o other comprehensive

income - - - 1405 - - - - - - 1,405

EYAE Bichange adjustments 7691 1 - 40,019 5,606 114 (136) 19 142 o) B
WoEo-E At31 December 2021

t2A=t-R 280628 (158) 69513 ss07t 191036 384 (3%8)  (2032) 48467 (9608) 137,108

Fa P BRRR AR ERE Net deferred tax assets recognised

EERIEE EFE in the consolidated statement of
financial position (87,451) (85,540)
FEPBRRARAD R Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
EERIE B (EF 58 in the consolidated statement of
financial position 1,464,559 1,355,501

1,377,108 1,269,961
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8 MmMiBFHw
(e) RERELEHRIBEEE :

()

WARR THIER BRABELEHRIEE
B=

8 INCOME TAX (Continued)

(e) Deferred tax assets not recognised

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

AHRERSEER Deductible temporary differences 1,413,040 1,375,803

RENABIIAEIE Unused tax losses

— & (MEE ) — Hong Kong (Note (i) 19,406 17,428

— /B A (B R Gi)) — Mainland China (Note (ii)) 1,956,581 1,709,073
3,389,027 3,102,304

iy BERTHRBER RAPABEBRE
TEEIH -

iy KRPEABEEBEAIRGEEEFERL
NEBEEE RS2 AT AR ERR
BF - ABARBEEBEER=-_Z=_=
BT NFHEEE

B 7 R BE I £ B 4 R 2 8 SR A% & A
ARARBHEATIMREREZREKR
BRANABRASHA  WAKREYL
RELE T MY B R B B AT AR B 1
ZERAPARABERBELTH
REE -

AERELEHEEE

ESMBAREEHBMAEE
PEERMCER -_ZSNE—H—
BRAMEERMAEFREEIINEE
PR A AR BRI RR B BB AN 10% B
TENR (RIERGEHIBEBTR
D) MR=ZEENFE—A—BRE
ERR DR BT IR R AR ZTE
N - RIBFRBEEBFBNHEZH
REMBERN HEPBEEF25%
S L RENEEREEFBEER
BIEZEAA]l  AIZH5%HK
THRHENHRE AEETERELE
FHEHNBEAGR_ZZENF—A
— H & BT E £ & 760,331,000 7T
(ZZ =4 :58,561,000/8 7T) 1E
LEEHBEEERE REREAE
EEFZEHRE RN EBE
WRERAIRRRRTE D IREZE

BF| -

()

Notes:

(i) The unused tax losses do not expire under the current tax legislation.

(i) The unused tax losses can be carried forward to offset against taxable profits
of subsequent years for up to five years from the year in which they arose.
The unused tax losses expired between 2022 and 2026.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses of certain
subsidiaries as it is not probable that sufficient future taxable profits
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
and unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

The Corporate Income Tax Law and its implementation rules impose
a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a treaty or agreement,
for dividends, distributed by a PRC-resident enterprise to its
immediate holding company outside the PRC for profits generated
beginning on 1 January 2008 and undistributed profits generated
prior to 1 January 2008 are exempt from such withholding tax.
According to the China-Hong Kong tax arrangement and its
relevant regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax resident which is the
“beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of a PRC enterprise is
entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate of 5%. The Group did not
provide for deferred tax liabilities on profits generated by certain of
its PRC subsidiaries after 1 January 2008 amounting to $60,331,000
(2020: $58,561,000) since the Group controls the dividend policy of
these subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable that
these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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9 EEMSE 9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
1R I1E F B A B K F) 2 383(N) 1§ M A A (3 Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
BEEMEER) RAE2 EEWS Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
WENT : Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
4 BHR BREE
E=Re ENEH %
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions Sub-Total 2021 Total
i Fr Fr Tr Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000
BTES Executive directors
EER Wong Chun Hong - 4,867 - 4,867 4,867
REBMZT-—FRA Yuan Zhi Wei (resigned on
=t+-HEL) 31 May 2021) - 1,350 - 1,350 1,350
HER Lam Mei Ka Shirley - 3,266 18 3,284 3,284
2t Liang Rui Chi - 4,140 - 4,140 4,140
FHTES Non-executive directors
Beca Kui Qiang = = = = =
EEX YIP Hoong Mun 304 = = 304 304
BUFYTES Independent non-executive
directors
ggin Cheng Yuk Wo 304 - - 304 304
RMR Wu Si Zong 304 - - 304 304
& Chan Yee Herman 304 - - 304 304

1,216 13,623 18 14,857 14,857
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9 ESEMEw 9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
RIRETE
e WA {3
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors' benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions Sub-Total 2020 Total
T i i Tr i
§'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
HTES Executive directors
B Wong Chun Hong - 4,252 6 4,258 4,258
REE Yuan Zhi Wei - 235 - 235 2,35
HER Lam Mei Ka Shirley - 2,853 18 2871 2871
23 Liang Rui Chi - 3,705 - 3,705 3,705
FYTES Non-executive directors
Baca Kui Qiang - - - - -
ERX YIP Hoong Mun 304 - - 304 304
BUFYTES Independent non-executive
directors
BHA Cheng Yuk Wo 304 - - 304 304
ROR Wu Si Zong 304 - - 304 304
RERE Chan Yee Herman 304 - - 304 304
1,216 13,162 24 14,402 14,402
Mk R RBEAAREREAERTEENER Note: These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the directors under
EMTEE ZSEREEEDIREME the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these share options is measured
2INFTEAEBAARN TR SHET according to the Group's accounting policies for share-based payment transactions
BURET 2 - BEARBZBUR - ZEBEEERAR as set out in Note 2(u)(ii) and, in accordance with that policy, includes adjustments
EEAIBRINMNEREBR AT AMEER to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments
FFEEAANFE - are forfeited prior to vesting.
ZEEMRANOFRE (BREEZEBRRAREEK The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and number of

RIERREEE ) M 5127 B EE - options granted, are disclosed in Note 27.
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10 BREFHFMA L 10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
RAEBReSFWALTESY =R (ZE=_F Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2020: three)
FZR)EENFHRBEAMFE - H are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 9. The aggregate of
ERATEVET BRI T - the emoluments in respect of the remaining individuals are as follows:

e EMREMEF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 7,823 6,282
RIRET B K Retirement scheme contributions 14 18
7,837 6,300

FiismEHMA TFRAR T ¢ The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest emoluments

are within the following bands:

—E-THE
2020

AEL
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

2,500,001 JT - 3,000,000 7T $2,500,001 - $3,000,000 = 1
3,000,001 JT - 3,500,000 7T $3,000,001 - $3,500,000 1 1
4,500,001 7T - 5,000,000 7T $4,500,001 - $5,000,000 1 -
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1 BREF, (FHE) 11 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
() BREXEF (5 18) (a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

FRERBFIZARR A=K E R The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
KAR R FFITA ARG R attributable to equity shareholders and the holder of PCSs of the
33,432,000/8 0 (ZE—_Z4F : Fi8 Company of $33,432,000 (2020: loss of $283,258,000) and the
283,258,000/ ) M F N B 17 I weighted average number of shares of 1,529,286,000 (2020:
3 ANKEF A% 0 1,529,286,000 f% (= 1,529,286,000) shares in issue during the year, calculated as follows:
T =T :1,529,286,000%) ;&
A

mEFIIRE Weighted average number of
shares
BETERRK Issued ordinary shares 1,412,733 1,412,733
BITAR (S —EBRKA Effect of bonus issue of shares
AR ) 2 (with PCSs as an alternative) 116,553 116,553
R+ZA=+—B8mE Weighted average number of shares at
TR 31 December 1,529,286 1,529,286
(b) SRBERRA (&HB) (b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
RZBEZ—FR-Z-FF BE During 2021 and 2020, the effect of deemed issue of shares under
RNATHERET SR RBABEET the Company’s share option schemes for nil consideration was anti-

B ED REE - diluted.



TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 213

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

12 BEYELRYWE BERF 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
& PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

REELIHR
KEERET  HUEEE  BE RER
WHEERS BRNDE  EftEREE
Ownership
interests in
leasehold land Other Furniture,
and buildings properties fixtures and
Investment held for |eased for other fixed
properties Sub-total own use own use assets Sub-total
frn fn fn fn fr
§000 §'000
HAHRE: Cost or valuation:;
RZEZ-E-A-B A1 lanuary 2021 7,238,615 7,238,615 153,943 79,029 1131 346,744 7,585,359
Eyae Exchange adustmens 1429 1429 458 1,400 319 9157 21,786
hE Additions - - - 1,568 9,130 16,698 16,698
gaphs Transfer from inventories 1,308,389 1,308,389 9627 - - 9627 1,318,016
B0 ~ B3 REEEEE Transfer from property, plant and
RENE equipment to investment properties 8273 8273 (11,378) - - (11,378) (3.105)
k= Disposals - - - - (3.33%9) (3.339) (3.335)
EfiRH Surplus on revaluation - - 5,619 - - 5,619 5,619
DEREY Change in fai vlue 202,124 20,14 = = = - 202,124
WZFZ-FFZF At30 December 2021
=1-f 8,970,030 8,970,030 162,374 87,997 122,761 EYEREY] 9,343,162
i Representing:
s Cost - - 162,374 87,997 122,761 EYEREY] EYENEY]
e Valuation 8,970,030 8,970,030 - - - - 8,970,030
8,970,030 8,970,030 162,374 87,997 122,761 EYEREY] 9,343,162
Zith# FER Accumulated amortisation,
HEFE: depreciation and impairment
losses:
RZEZ-F-F-8  At1lanuay 2021 - - (33,838) (23.247) (90,378) (147,463) (147,463)
AR Exchange adjustmens - = (1138) (307) (3397) (4.842) (4.842)
Ehgh Charge forthe ear - - (407) (22.956) (789 (34877) (34877)
#I0Z  B5 REEEAE Transler from property, plant and
RENE equipment to investment properties - - 3,105 - - 3,105 3,105
HEREE Written back on disposals - = = = 2,951 2,951 2,951
S S At 31 December 2021
LT - pseon) _Mesw) Geme)ewe) 6L
RERE: Net book value:
RoE--f At 31 December 2021
t2F=1-A 8,970,030 8,970,030 126,476 41,487 24,083 192,006 9,162,036
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12 REVERYE -BEN®E 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
& o) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Ownership

interests in
leasehold land Other Furiture,
and buildings properties fivtures and
Investment held for leased for other fixed
properties Sub-total oW Use OWn Use assets Sub-total
T T T T T T
§000 §'000 §/000 §000 $000
RAGMEE: Cost or valuation:
R-5-5%-f-A At 1 January 2020 6,297 551 6,297,551 145,283 81,600 103,063 329946 6,627497
EXAE xchange adjustments 38949 38949 8,660 2602 6,433 17715 47211
HE Additions - - - 21,527 9534 31,061 31,061
ERpRE Transfer from inventories 631,121 631,121 - - - - 631,121
HENBAT Disposalof subsidiaries - - - - (616) (616) 616)
HE Disposals - - - (26,720) (4642) (31,362) (31,362)
MEEEY Change in fair value (19553 (79553 - - - - (79553
R-5-FF+-F=1-A At 31 December 2020 7238615 7238615 153,943 79,09 113,712 346,744 7,585,359
i Representing:
KA Cost - - 153,93 79,009 137M 346,744 346,744
(b Valuation 7,038,615 7,238,615 - - - - 7,038615
7,238,615 7,238,615 153,943 79,029 13,772 346,744 7,585,359
ZithE FERAERE: Accumulated amortisation,
depreciation and impairment
losses:
RZ5-%E-A-H At 1 January 2020 - - (26,676) (25,289) (1893)) (130897) (130897
ERdE Exchange adjustmens - - (2,056) (39) (5,120 (1572) (7572)
Engi Charge for the year - - (5,106) (24,28) 9,873) (39,261) (39,261)
HEHELRRAD Whitten back on disposal of subsidaries - - - - 25 205 25
HEREE Whitten back on disposals - - - 26,720 330 30042 30042
| _@;_3_:?_ #iJ_r_: _H_E_ f f_E_ o /:\t_3_1 chgmber 2020 - - (33839) (23247) (90.378) (147.463) (147.463)
REFE: Net book value:
R-5-FF+-F=1-A At 31 December 2020 7238615 7238615 120,105 55,782 2339 199,281 7437.8%
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12 RENERNRE BERR
()
() RENERABABELHER
BMENDIAEETE
) AAEEZR
TR2NFEBRANER S
BAREHERENEN RS
BARREH LN BOAR
B - B RIRE M T 5
LIERED PAOY feprddoha -
HAZARABEESR 5
DA MEH B OB 2RI
{77 5% A7 5 FR #0865 A B8t 0
BRUEANSBHEEMT -

- F-RMHEE:EERFE—
RBARBFTENRARE
B BIREE A HEEER
mZHEREERBER

- FoRMEE:ERAE-R
BWABBFENAAE
B AT EE—ReA
BRO A ABEBEIRERA
TABENEEB AR
o TR BREAREE
BERETSERNEA
iz

- F=RMEE:EZATAE
ENEERHABEIEN
NAfEE

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale

(@

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties and investment properties classified as
held for sale measured at the end of the reporting period on
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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N REYERYWE BMEKFE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
(%) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(i) A2REEZHK(E) (i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

() REMERSBERFHEHER
BEMENDAEBENE R

R-BZ-% R=B=—%+=-RA=1—H

+=A=t-8
BOAEE

Fair value at

AREEHESER
Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2021 categorised into

31 December F—% E-R E=R
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
T Tr Tr Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

BEMALEEFE  Recurring fair value measurement

BEWE Investment properties 8,970,030 = = 8,970,030
SEABENERE  Investment properties classified
LJE as held for sale 46,600 = = 46,600

HAREE
Fair value at 31 December 2020 categorised into

31 December F— E-H E=M
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Tr T T T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

BEMALEEFE  Recurring fair value measurement

REME Investment properties 7,238,615 - - 7,238,615
DEEFHEHERE  Investment properties classified as
IS held for sale 70,657 - - 70,657
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12 %ﬁﬁ%%&%% BB RE&

(&)

() REMERSBERFFEHER
BYMENDAEBENE R

(@

DAEBEER(E)

FAR F-ARFE_RZEL
BEYR TREF=ZAWNEA
HEH (T _FTF  H|) o

AEBRAREMERFZEL
ERBEMER_T_—F+=
A=+t—REEHHE- HEE
THERBLAEMITEABE
FERBERERARET  Z
BERMITHE T 2R AESA
EMBgegR  HOMNMGE
RBEEEEMGERENER
RE— B AR R B 5 o fib
EREMEEELET AEEE
BENSImE A ETHER
A E R R E AR EZR
EBRNETTR W ©
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12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 (2020: Nil).

All of the Group’s investment properties and investment
properties held for sale were revalued as at 31 December
2021. The valuations were carried out by an independent firm
of surveyors, APAC Appraisal and Consulting Limited , who
have among their staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued, on a market value basis.
Management of the Group has discussion with the surveyors
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at each reporting date.
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12 REYERYWZE MERKRFE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
& ) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

() REMERSBERFHEHER (a)
BEMENAAEETE®

Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(i) FREE=RAIAEETENER (i)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

fhER &

Valuation techniques

TABRRRAZE

Unobservable input

MEFEH
Weighted average

RENE-TERWAE  WABRLHE EHmSHEE AREMTE /\E%Wi
Investment properties Income capitalisation (AR®T/FHA/R) /\Eﬁ%347 T (ZZ-%%:
- retail and offices method Expected market rental (ZE=Z%F: AR#1297T)
(RMB/sq.m./month) ARBS3TE  RMB127(2020: RMB129)
AR3737)
RMB44 to RMB347
(2020: RMB53 to
RMB373)
BEALE 4.03% £7.50% 5.9%
Capitalisation rate (BT (Z2Z5F:59%)
25%%7.25%) 5.9% (2020: 5.9%)
4.03% to 7.50%
(2020: 2.5% t0 7.25%)
RENE-FES BRLBRE FHMHE AR 110,000 ARH 12083370
Investment properties Direct comparison method (A R®7L,/%fi1) ZANRE 13000070 (Z2-%%:
— carpark Average market price (Z2Z%F: AR120,0787T)
(RMB/unit) ARE10141502 RMB120,833 (2020:
AR#130,6537L) RMB120,078)
RMB110,000 to
RMB130,000
(2020: RMB101,415 to
RMB130,653)
REWE-BEHAR BRLBRE FmE 54,1 09‘;&73 54, 109‘;&7‘5
Investment properties Direct comparison method (%7t FAR) (Z22%%: (ZZ2=2%%:
~ commercial building Average market price 53,5438 7T) 53,543/87T)
(HKD/sq.ft.) HKD54,109 HKD54,109
(2020: HKD53,543) (2020: HKD53,543)
RENE-SEEE BERLEE FAmE ARE67,11 ARE67,1
NN Direct comparison method (ARET/FHK) (,2,2@ (737§¢
Investment properties Average market price AR#6714770) AR¥67,1477T)
- storey commercial (RMB/sg.m.) RMB67,114 RMB67,114
apartment building (2020: RMB67,147) (2020:RMB67,147)
DERRELERE BELBRE FHME AREST4T1 T ARBSTAN T
nE -RBEALE Direct comparison method (A E#7T,/ (Z2-%F: (ZZ2-%%:
Investment properties FRK) ARES4,168LE ARES5,7427T)
classified as held for sale Average market price AR#58,8917T) RMB57,471 (2020:
- serviced apartment (RMB/sg.m.) RMB57,471 RMB55,742)
(2020: RMB54,168 to
RMB58,891)
PRARELEREANE EBEELRE FHmE /\E’%OO 00070 /\E%&OO 0007C
-EE5 Direct comparison method ~ (AE# 7T,/ L) (Z2z%E: (Z2=%%:
Investment properties Average market price AR300,0007T) AR #300,0007T)
classified as held for sale (RMB/unit) RMB300,000 RMB300,000 (2020:
- carpark (2020: RMB300,000) RMB300,000)



REMBHRRME

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 219

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

12%§%¥&%¥~M%&%
()
(@) REMERDBHBEHER
BEMENDABER )

(i) BHEE=RIAAEEFEHESN
(%)
BREMERDBRFBIEHERN
BREMENRAREBEIERK
ABBRCERBERLEERER
RS RAFRE (EHMERY %
EHRBNEN) BEXRL  HR
BYTABREEZ2ETLR
MEMTREE  KEZEFEH
HHERBAEEY XL EN
HBERFEMETE - ZEES
BEMENEATSES - A
ERANERMEEHRETNE
ERMEHARBFERELR
B -RRBEAERMGHTS
He R FHm5EEEMRR
mEER R AR -

RERN ZEE=RAAEBME
FHEREREEHNT

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

The fair value of investment properties and investment
properties classified as held for sale is determined using
income capitalisation method or direct comparison method by
capitalising the net rental income allowing for the reversionary
income potential of the properties, or by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties on a price per square
meter basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to
the quality of the Group’s properties compared to the recent
sales. The valuation takes into account expected market rental
of the properties. The capitalisation rates used have been
adjusted for the quality and location of the buildings and
the tenant quality. The fair value measurement is positively
correlated to the expected market rental and average market
price, and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.

The movements during the year in the balances of these Level
3 fair value measurements are as follows:

KEYZE Investment properties
n—HA—H At 1 January 7,238,615 6,297,551
BEATE Transfer from inventories 1,308,389 631,121
BEAVE  WENMKE Transfer from property, plant and
equipment 8,273 -

RIEBEEERNGE Valuation gains/(losses) recognised in

lezs,/ (E518) profit or loss 202,124 (79,553)
M 2 Exchange adjustments 212,629 389,496
W+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 8,970,030 7,238,615
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12 %ﬁ%%&%% BB R&
(#%)

() REMERSBERFHEHER
BEMENAAEETE®

BRE=AL
(&)

(ii) REEFENER

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

DRI IELEREYE

Investment properties classified as

held for sale
w—A—H At 1 January 70,657 64,683
ﬁ & Disposals (25,999) -
R ERNMEWRE Valuation gains recognised in

profit or loss 217 1,609

ME 5 2 Exchange adjustments 1,725 4,365

n+—_A=+—H At 31 December 46,600 70,657
BEYMERSEABIELED Fair value adjustment of investment properties and investment
;Xg BAREBEABRREAE classified as held for sale is recognised in the line item “valuation
HE LM EAYERSER gains/(losses) on investment properties and investment
e IR O8 W B 1 A U properties classified as held for sale” on the face of the

&=/ (B18) |TH B h R -

Bz -_—F+-_A=+—
HIEFE FREABERERE
BREANAABEKZA
158,169,000 L (ZZE =&
£ 139,294,000 L) * &I
BEREVMENARBERZEA
44,172,000 T (Z T T4 :
E518 117,238,000/ 7T) °

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a fair value gain of
HK$158,169,000 (2020: HK$39,294,000) upon the transfer
and a gain on fair value of HK$44,172,000 (2020: loss of
HK$117,238,000) in respect of existing investment properties
had been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year.
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12 BEYELRYWE BERF 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,

& PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) EHEEE (b) Right-of-use assets
RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H" & As at 31 December 2021, the analysis of the net book value of right-
HEBEESENEREEENER of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:
FEIWMET :

PRHRE L RIFIEE BEFAFET Ownership interests in leasehold land
Bt GRITERATIER) R and buildings held for own use,

sRNAEERA - (BEEEG) carried at depreciated cost, with
remaining lease term of: (Note (i))
—504 A £ - 50 years or more 25,358 24,664
—R10&E504F — between 10 and 50 years 101,118 95,441
126,476 120,105
HiHSEERANYE (LITE  Other properties leased for own use,
FRANTIBR) (B E (i) carried at depreciated cost (Note (ii) 41,487 55,782
167,963 175,887
RAEREMENFTEEREZ Ownership interests in leasehold
(RARBEIR) WA THE investment properties, at fair value,
A - with remaining lease term of:
—50F kA — 50 years or more 2,140,756 2,344,065
—R10E504F — between 10 and 50 years 6,829,274 4,894,550
8,970,030 7,238,615
ROBAEBELENHEEREY Ownership interests in leasehold
¥NFEEER RAREE investment properties classified
FIBR) MER T A HER A as held for sale, at fair value, with
remaining lease term of:
—50 s E - 50 years or more 46,600 70,657

9,184,593 7,485,159
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12 REYERYWZE MERKRFE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,

& PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) EHEEE (&) (b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
EHEHENASZBEE > TRERT The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
WRAT : profit or loss is as follows:

FREESERMABEENEN  Depreciation charge of right-of-use

FEXH : assets by class of underlying asset:
RHEELRIFEEBRBEFA  Ownership interests in leasehold land
FRBHERE = and buildings held for own use 4,027 5,106
HEEE A EMYME Other properties leased for own use 22,956 24,282
26,983 29,388
HEAFEZME (HE7a) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7(a)) 3,550 4,022
FHEEHHEE R Expense relating to short-term leases 482 1,697
BB COVID- 198 EM%E  COVID-19-related rent concessions
received - 256
RER (EREEERER 7,568,000 During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were $7,568,000
B (ZZE_FF 21,527,000 (2020: $21,527,000). This amount relates to the capitalised lease
TT) o IRIBFEL  ZEEEBEN payments payable under new tenancy agreements.
L ERRZ B FRIE -
HEReRHLAEREESEDE Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
Bz #1559 B R EE21(d) & lease liabilities are set out in Notes 21(d) and 25, respectively.
25 °
WEE2 AT EE - ASEEEIRERN As disclosed in Note 2, the Group has early adopted the Amendment
BEMBHRELFE165REE] - B to HKFRS 16, Leases, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30
E R=ZF=-Z—F~A=+HZ# June 2021, and has applied the practical expedient to all eligible rent
BEICOVID-19 @yt 2 5 % » WA concessions received by the Group during the year.
SERFNERNBAERES
B E R R TREE T
(i) REELHRBEERAEEYN (i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held
FrEREREE for own use
TEBREELZEMEERRSE The Group holds several properties as its offices. The Group is
B AEEAZEMEER (B the registered owner of these property interests, including the
EEA L2 BRI KD E whole or part of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump
) EMER A o — Kk sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property
NRERE LR EMES ATE interests from their previous registered owners, and there are
EEEZEMERER  MBE no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the land

T E GRS EB BN - lease.
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12 BEYELRYWE BERF 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
1)) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) EREEE )

(i) HERRZEMYE
AEECRBHEHENZRFRE
REMMEELSERE TE&
ERBAENREN - BERT
ML RE2E 225 - HEMN K
BESFEIMARRTISES
HEMTERNgExEHEE
E

() BREWME () Investment property

AEERBELHELHEREDE -
ZERE-—RNF/B—ZENF
Y EREZERFAIBIGRENHEZ
BREE HENFKBESFEM
NRRTIHZHEE

R¥E B H - AEBERE A B
LG AT R AR B ey R AT
BEENZKET

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
(ii) Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties
as its warehouses, retail stores and offices through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial period of 2
to 22 years. Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes options or
variable lease payments.

The Group leases out investment property under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 9 years, with an
option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms are
renegotiated. Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group
in future periods as follows:

—FR Within 1 year 233,568 224,141
—FREMFA After 1 year but within 2 years 184,116 171,932
MEREBE=FA After 2 year but within 3 years 115,058 116,903
=FREMFA After 3 year but within 4 years 80,968 72,297
MERERFA After 4 year but within 5 years 59,000 56,487
AF & After 5 years 46,711 88,671

719,421 730,431

(d) AEENETREMEUREM L
WREFEBERARSRITER

(d) The Group’s certain investment properties and other land and
buildings were pledged to secure bank loans, details of which are set

BREFBEHNHE24 - out in Note 24.
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13 &

13 GOODWILL

BA N BRI {E

Cost and carrying amount

40,736 40,736

HESELEN (B2HE) NRE
AR
EEERNSREARAHHELETRENR
A ARRAEFTRNBUEMEEZRR
RESE (TEEDMBHHT @ RFER
EE(EAEED AR ABETREE
BRAERDR ((MBREEDReELEN
AR E SRR - K E 2 AR E 2B ITR
BETHRUIERKREE BRAFED
ERARBEEERERHENVBREEL
B RIRE REFRD - BB EEH TR
B - BEEhEEENBIRER -3 -
BBEARENRESREERA TR
RoKBEERXRER EREXTEBES
EEENEEXBHATERAOREYY
BEXR -MBAXTIRMBRHEIL R
MITXRRSELBUAS KRBT E
BERENFERR -

AETHBRENR BENEARS
BT IR B L B S E A 5 -
EbEBRERTIMT

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

Management performed impairment testing on goodwill at the each
reporting date. The recoverable amount of CGU of Creative Education
Holding Company Limited (“Creative Education Group”) determined
based on the value in use (“VIU”) calculation by the directors of the
Company with the assistance of an independent valuer, GCA Professional
Services Group (“GCA"). Their recoverable amounts are based on certain
similar key assumptions. The calculation use after-tax cashflow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period. Creative Education Group has the projection periods to be
in line with the profit guarantee period agreed in the sales and purchase
agreement. Cash flows beyond the projection period are extrapolated
using the estimated terminal growth rates below. The growth rates do
not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the related industry in
which the CGU operate. The discount rates used are after-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant industry and the CGU itself and
macro-environment of the relevant region.

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, the forecasted
cashflows of the first year are estimated based on financial budgets
approved by the management. Other key assumptions are set out as
follows:

TeIT L

EME(EWEEBE L)

Annual growth rate of revenue

Gross margin (% of revenue)

2.5%-7.9% 2.0%-10.2%

72.8%-74.1% 69.4%-70.9%

RAEPG R & Long-term growth rate 2.5% 2.0%
PR i B3R & After-tax discount rate 15.0% 15.0%

R_TE-—F+—-_F=+—H A&EH
RETHRESELENZFEREERBAR
ol BAHE R A% SA R B COVID-19 K i 1T 3
B2 TR & o

As at 31 December 2021, the Group adjusted the above key assumptions
in determination of the VIU of CGU to reflect the uncertainties caused by
the COVID-19 pandemic.
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13 BE ) 13 GOODWILL (Continued)
BBl e BERIAeELEEMCREE Details of the headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts
ATEAFEHBNT deducting the carrying amount of the CGU are set out as follows:

= Headroom 24,143 13,948
ERECHBERENAETHRES Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
Mo NERES I EFERFERFERF test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
FHRER RHASEERBEAITREN to annual growth rate, long-term growth rate and after-tax discount
R EE) rate that would, in isolation, have removed the remaining headroom

respectively:

FHRERFHD Decrease in annual growth rate 1.0% 3.7%

REIE R R Decrease in long-term growth rate 9.5% 3.6%

PR 75018 BE IR =8 AN Increase in after-tax discount rate 5.1% 32%
KREH S EEEE ML ERZEE B By reference to the recoverable amounts determined by directors of the
AARESEENA B &E RZF Company with assistance of GCA, an independent qualified professional
Z—f®+ZR=+—H KXRAIEFE valuer, as at 31 December 2021, the directors of the Company determined

EBAENEEELRE - that no impairment of goodwill was required.
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14 RRBARNRE 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
TREHINFTEZZEALAEHEEES BE The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
S BENKMBRRFE - BRBAEHBEN - principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class
FRFEFAR 0 BV AR Rl R E AR o of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

REEHE

UREAER FiEReg Al

Place of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/

establishment BRORE/  AREN H—
and operation HMERFEE ERED HAAR i
and type of Particulars of Group's 2] o2l
HEAR AR legal issued capital/ effective  Heldbythe  Heldbya FE#%
Name of subsidiary entity registered capital EE Company  subsidiary  Principal activity

Top Spring Real Estate (Shenzhen) g AR 653,060,000 70 100% - 100% WEEERREE
Co,, Ltd. PRC* RMB653,060,000 Property development
(FEEuERI)BERAF) and investment

Dongguan SZITIC Property Development Bl * AR #20,000,0007C 100% - 100% WMEERRRE
Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB20,000,000 Property development
(RETMRBREHERE and investment
BRAR)

Changzhou Top Spring Landmark Real ~ #El* 60,000,000 7T 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Estate Co., Ltd. PRC* USD60,000,000 Property development
(FMAEHEELERAF) and investment

Top Spring Realty (Chengdu) HEY 18,750,000% 7T 100% - 100% WEERRRE
Co., Ltd. PRC* UsD18,750,000 Property development
(REEZ(RB)BERATA) and investment

Top Spring International (Yuhang) HE" 10,000,000 70 100% - 100% WMEERRRE
Landmark Co., Ltd. PRC* UsD10,000,000 Property development
(REER (RI) BEERLA) and investment

Tianjin Hyperion Construction Co., Ltd. & * AR #50,000,000 7T 58% - 58% MEBRRKE
(REBSERZBBAA) PRC* RMB50,000,000 Property development

and investment

Tianjin Hyperion Investment HE AE% 100,000,000 58% - 58% MEBRERKRE
Development Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB100,000,000 Property development
(REBHEREZRERDA) and investment

Tianjin Jin Jun Investment Development 7 & * AR75,000,0007C 58% - 58% WMEZEREA
Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB75,000,000 Property development

(REREREBRRERAF) and investment
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14 RERRANRE @ 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
REEHE
UREAER iiger-1: $:4id1]
Place of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/
establishment BRITRA/ KEEH H— A
and operation HEMERFERE ERER = NG| HEAT
and type of Particulars of Group's %5 2]
WEAR AR legal issued capital/ effective  Heldbythe  Heldbya FE#%
Name of subsidiary entity registered capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
Nanjing Top Spring Water Flower HE* AR 50,000,000 7 100% - 100% WEERRRE
Property Development Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB50,000,000 Property development
(ARRE KB TEBEE and investment
REFRAF)
Nanjing Top Spring Real Estate Co., Ltd. ~ Bl * AR 300,000,000 7T 100% - 100% MEEERKRE
(ARKEBEERLA) PRC* RMB300,000,000 Property development

and investment

Shenzhen Water Flower Commercial I AR 5,000,000 100% - 100% WE&RE
Management Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB5,000,000 Property investment
(RITREEEERERAR)

Shenzhen Water Flower Commercial B AR 28,000,000 7 100% 100% WERE
Property Management Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB28,000,000 Property investment
(RITmABEENEESR
BRAF)

Huge Source Limited 5% 10 B& 13 70% - 70% WEBRRREE
(EMBRRT) Hong Kong 10 shares Property development

and investment

Shanghai Pengxiu Business Consultancy ~ FF Bl * AR %50,000,000 7T 70% - 100% WEERRRE
Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB50,000,000 Property development

(LBRAEBEABRAA) and investment

Shine Long Limited ERRLEE 787 70% - 0% NEZRERRE
(BEERAA) The British Virgin 78 shares Property development

Islands and investment

Shanghai Pengyi Business Consultancy A& * AR 30,000,000 7 70% - 100% WEEERREE
Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB30,000,000 Property development

(EBBEERBEABRAA) and investment

Progress Link Limited EBREIHE 788k 70% - 0% MEEFEREE
(BZBERAR) The British Virgin 78 shares Property development

Islands and investment

Shanghai Pengji Business Consultancy ~ FREI* AR #50,000,0007C 70% - 100% WEERRIRE
Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB50,000,000 Property development

(LEBEEREAERARA) and investment
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14 RERANRE @ 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
ML/ L
REEHE
UREAER FAEEEL A
Place of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/
establishment EEIRA/  AEEN B -
and operation HEME AR ER#ELR = NG| WEAT
and type of Particulars of Group's %5 o2l
WEAR AR legal issued capital/ effective  Heldbythe  Heldbya FE#%
Name of subsidiary entity registered capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
Shenzhen Zhong Yi Ming Hao Real HE* AR 50,000,000 7 100% - 100% WEERRRE
Estate Development Company Limited ~ PRC* RMB50,000,000 Property development
(BT RBERNERE and investment
BRAR)
Creative Kindergarten Holdings Limited &/ 1,000,000 i &5 100% - 100% WERE
(RMEHEREEBRAF) Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares Property investment
Creative Education Holding Company &/ 100 |12 100% - 100% HEEEES
Limited Hong Kong 100 shares Education related
(RBERBEAT)
Great Property Corporation Limited B% 1 Bt 100% - 100% WEEERESE
(EERELEBRLNA) Hong Kong 1 share Property development
and investment
Great Prosper Development Limited B 2 izt 100% - 100% WMEERRRE
(BEERERAF) Hong Kong 2 shares Property development
and investment
Faith Luck Corporation Limited BA 1 Bkt 100% - 100% WEEEREE
(EHBERAR) Hong Kong 1 share Property development
and investment
Rapid Sight Limited EA 1 BBH 100% - 100% WEEERESE
(REERAR) Hong Kong 1 share Property development
and investment
& SNEBE R & Wholly foreign-owned enterprise
a FHONEBRNDEEDE a Sino-foreign equity joint venture
S BRAR] & Limited liability company
BEERR RTE-_—FR-ZT-FF The directors consider that no individual non-controlling interest is
TZA=+—H BEYAEEmEE material to the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

ERWEE B FRA A -
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15 REEE QX RV ER 15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES
BREAEBRBLE A RMERINGEAE Details of the Group’s interest in the associates, which is accounted for
BHREFEAEDEARNFBOT ¢ using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as
follows:
PR LAl
Proportion of ownership interest
TR LK rEEM B -
BENY BETR BERER HAAF HEAR
Place of HERAFEE Group's ¥5 ¥5
incorporation Particulars of issued effective Heldbythe  Heldbya FEX£%
and business and paid up capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
Shenzhen Green Port Co., Ltd. H AR#50,000,0007C 43% - 43% R
(AT R RBE DR PRC RMB50,000,000 Supply chain
BRAR)
Shenzhen Water Honey Real estate # AR#10,000,0007C 20% - 0% MEEE
development Co., Ltd. PRC RMB10,000,000 Property development
(RITKHBERHERE
BRAR)
FrEME AR AF LT ATERE B All of the associates are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market
TS WmE - prices are not available.
ERIZEE B E N RIMNBEER Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

ANEBEEGERIFEE ZH & A FH Aggregate carrying amounts of the

BEEFENERERE Groups's share of net assets of
individually immaterial associates 5,257 7,072
REBEGEZSHENRBRE Aggregate amounts of the Group's share
of those associates’
FEEE Loss for the year (1,997) (2,122)
H 2wk Other comprehensive income 182 455

MmN ELRRE Total comprehensive income (1,815) (1,667)
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16 REELENER 16 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES
BREAEEREELENERNGE N Details of the Group’s interest in joint ventures, which is accounted for
BHREREARREABRNFEBOT using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as

follows:

FrE R L 6l
Proportion of ownership interest
A B I AEEH B -
BN BRTR BERER HAAF WEAT

Place of BRBRAFEE Group’s ¥5 58
incorporation Particulars of issued effective Heldbythe  Heldbya FE¥%
and business and paid up capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities

Shenzhen Qian Hai Xin Lai Yuan H AR 50,000,000 7T 49% - 9% REER
Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. ~ PRC RMB50,000,000 Investment
(RIFEHERRERERSER management
BRAR)
Silver Pond Investments Pty Ltd. BN 85,672,370/2 70 49% - 49%  MEERE
Australia AUD85,672,370 Property development
Huizhou Kefuxuexing Venture Capital H AR#61,010,0007C 16.4% - 164% HEEE
Investment Partnership PRC RMB61,010,000 Investment
(Limited Partnership) management
(BMTRESRAXREARLE
(ERER)
Top Spring Projects No.1 Company Limited ~ &7 10087 50% - 50% REEE
Hong Kong HKD100 Investment
management
Top Spring Projects No.2 Company Limited ~ &% 100%7T 50% - 50% HREAEE
Hong Kong HKD100 Investment
management
Top Spring Projects No.3 Company Limited ~ & 10087 50% - 50% HEEE
Hong Kong HKD100 Investment
management
Top Spring Projects No.4 Company Limited ~ &% 10087 50% - 50% HEEE
Hong Kong HKD100 Investment
management
Top Spring Australia Development Pty Ltd &/ 10027 50% - 50% REEE
Australia AUD100 Investment
management
Great Billion Corporation Limited ) 2ET 50% - 50%  MERR
("Great Billion") Hong Kong HKD2 Property development
(BRERAA) (THK])
Wealth Channel Holdings Limited &% 2B 50% - 50% MEEE
(EREEERRA) Hong Kong HKD2 Property development
FrEAGELEHNALETARER B All of joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market

s WmE - prices are not available.
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16 R DEMRER 5
Bk HBAREE e KREEAE
By AERGANSRENEREESY
BRWFEAT ¢

16 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of Great Billion, adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

Bz BEE Gross amounts of Great Billion's
MBEE Current assets 1,664,991 -
ViEI=RE Current liabilities (1,131) -
i Equity (257,066) -
EREEE Non-current liabilities (1,406,794) -
T EERBEREATSEE Included In the above assets and liabilities:
RekREFMEIEE Cash and cash equivalents 833 -
WA Revenue = -
BERKEEBEENEBER Loss from continuing operations (105) -
2H KRR Total comprehensive income (105) -
REBEREI 2 #Eam H AR Reconciled to the Group’s interest in

Great Billion
Bk EBEFEBRE Gross amounts of Great Billion's net assets 257,066 -
NEE 2 B Group’s effective interest 50% -
AEBEGHEEIKZEEFE Group's share of Great Billion’s net assets 128,533 -
NEBBEGEEIKZ IR ERLLE  Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share

(P REGi)) of shareholders’ loans in Great Billion

(Note (ii)) 511,331 -

NEEFERZREE Carrying amount of the Group's interests 639,864 -
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16 R EPRES )
ERIEEEASD LM BEER -

16 INT

EREST IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that were not individually
material:

AEBEEGEERIFFEEAZDE

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s

BIARE B 1E share of individually immaterial
joint ventures 211,038 212,346
RNEEEREE AL (M7E>0) Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share
of shareholders’ loans (Note (i)) 219,048 210,982
430,086 423,328
REERELZEAETERTE Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share
of those joint ventures'’
FEEE Loss for the year (7,344) (8,992)
Hip 2 mElas Other comprehensive income (18,643) 33,592
FHEK R Total comprehensive income (25,987) 24,600
B Notes:

@)

(ii)

RRBREECEBENGAR GELEE
FERBRERENEZERELLH RIBIEE
AERMZEErEREERER-
% 130,648,000 L (=T =& F :
210,982,000 7)) B (ZEHR AEEM -
% B IR EFRT% E8% =t B R BN %
AEEREBHEMBENMENKE) 5 -
FIAESTESRYAEER YEFERER
—EABRABRITAEFS ((BHBBITEHE
FE)285% B (T -TF &) o8
BAMNZEERNSBETEZMNRLEN
B BEFZAECERNHRINARE
kB HEMNENEERHEENERTH
AEE-AY RREIBRAEERE
B IRAEIRE 2 ARSI MR B FERR ©

RIBAZHRZIGK  THETERRE
FARLE Bl - RIBER ERA A E R EREM
ERES REERREBEM UYEFE
BR—EAETERITRERE 2.85%5HE °
EEEMNZSEEANSRFTEAMRLE
MitE - BARSZE SRR R AR
ARZFEMNRIDABRHEENERT
FAEE - Flt - BREREFERAEER
BEMEL BRERE 2 R WL TR

@)

(ii)

In accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement, both parties to the
joint ventures have provided loan capital to the joint ventures in proportion to their
shareholdings and under equal terms. Apart from the loans of HK$130,648,000
(2020: HK$210,982,000) which are unsecured, interest-free or interest bearing
at 7%-8% per annum and recoverable within four years subordinated to the
other financing obtained by the joint venture, all of the remaining balances are
unsecured and interest bearing at 2.85% per annum above one month’s Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") (2020: Nil). Repayment of any amount of
the loan requires both ventures’ approval and is subject to the joint venture having
sufficient assets after taking into account the external financing and accumulated
profits. Accordingly, the shareholders’ loans form an integral part of the Group’s
equity investment in the joint ventures and is recognised as such.

In accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement, both parties to the
joint venture have provided loan capital to the joint venture in proportion to their
shareholdings and under equal terms. The loans are unsecured and interest bearing
at 2.85% per annum above one month’s HIBOR. Repayment of any amount of the
loan requires both ventures’ approval and is subject to the joint venture having
sufficient assets after taking into account the external financing and accumulated
profits. Accordingly, the shareholder’s loans forms an integral part of the Group’s
equity investment in the joint venture and is recognised as such.
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17 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVPL")

JERNHY Non-current 29(g)
—FFEEERMIE L™ — Unlisted equity securities not
[f& A58 % held for trading 36,837 127,084
—RG5EH — Trading securities 40,726 39,683
— B E =5 I — Receivables from the third parties (i) 1,366,245 1,274,540
—RESRMKE — Hybrid financial investments (ii) - 46,836
1,443,808 1,488,143
BN &R Current 29(g)
—RESRKRE — Hybrid financial investments (iif) 50,495 -
—EWE=FHA — Receivables from the third parties (i) = 12,432
—FFEEEMIEL™ — Unlisted equity securities not
I8 AR 38 % held for trading 50,524 -
—LEBHFRERES BN — Units in private securities
investment funds 4,372 -
—BEEM — Wealth management products 25,467 103,225
130,858 115,657

BT Notes:

() ERE="FREIERAABEERTH (i) Receivables from the third parties are classified as level 3 financial instruments in
%3 %&ﬁmﬂlﬂ Ei%ﬁmﬂﬁéﬁ’ﬂﬁfﬁ)’ﬂfﬁ the fair value hierarchy. The valuations of these financial assets are derived from
HEEERG ZRAUFTERESEENET valuations models which require a number of inputs and assumptions which are not
35 BRI Y 8 A BUR KRR - I B EET observable from market data and which are significant to the entire measurement.

(ii)

(iii)

Eﬁ%ﬁig FR - aﬁz&?amh:ﬂ AEEA

R ENeREERELAANEBEEEA
13,757,000%%7% (ZZ=ZF : 2,411,000/
JT) °

R-ZB_FEF_H=1+—ANNHEH
B SE = F U KT B A R i FE U AR BE AR
1R¥E 12,432,000 7T - AAE B AFEHE
ZEMBRRIRI B ERNRELRE

RECHBREDEUHEEREINERRE

FFRIEA15% I _EWIRE T HRENLI5%
RIER®R RARBEEHEIEAE=HS
MITA ZEeREENMBEDRMEEER
5 ZERFTEREEELTSEEE
A AR KRR - WHEEFEEZFESE
T o RER - M@ﬁﬁ@ﬁ;ﬂﬁ’@ﬁA
BENBTESESREBENAABEKS
#$3,659,0007% 7T (=& —Z £ : 9,320,000
/%71:)

MEEMEREERBEE LM BREE

AIE N REBIER

SR ARBEANE -

(ii)

(iii)

During the year, the fair value loss on financial assets measured at FVPL amounted
to HK$13,757,000 (2020: HK$2,411,000).

Included in the current balance as at 31 December 2020 was an amount of
HK$12,432,000 from related profit guarantee receivable in respect of acquisition of
subsidiaries in prior year. The balance was offset from consideration of acquisition
of remaining interest of that subsidiaries during the current year.

Hybrid financial investments include debt investments to the investees with interest
bearing at 15% per annum plus 45% equity return on the residual value of the
investees, which are classified as level 3 financial instruments in the fair value
hierarchy. The valuations of these financial assets are derived from valuation models
which require a number of inputs and assumptions which are not observable from
market data and which are significant to the entire measurement. During the year,
the fair value gain on remaining hybrid financial investments measured at FVPL
amounted to HK$3,659,000 (2020: HK$9,320,000).

All of other financial assets are classified as at FVPL under HKFRS 9.
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18 FEREMEHNRA 18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS

MIEER Property development
—FEERFPESE L — Leasehold land held for development
for sale 148,967 761,520
—FERERDWE — Property under for development for sale 9,196,887 8,223,359
—FEERTYE — Completed properties for sale 596,598 1,890,788
9,942,452 10,875,667
H A LR Other contract costs 2,619 2,542
9,945,071 10,878,209
Hih % Other operations
REEEEDRLEER Low value consumables and supplies 6,521 6,287
9,951,592 10,884,496
RE— F & TEE ] IRE Y ERT The amount of properties expected to be recovered after more than one
£7,085,381,0008 L (ZE=F $ : year is $7,085,381,000 (2020: $10,630,847,000).
10,630,847,000 7 7T) °
(a) FEFRFTHNEREEITAT (a) The analysis of carrying value of land held for property development

for sale is as follows:

PR B A B B T A B R In Mainland China, with remaining
lease term of
—50F A £ - 50 years or more 1,600,440 1,478,344
— 105 E504F — between 10 and 50 years 3,386,790 3,279,037
4,987,230 4,757,381
REBHNSRTHEA In Hong Kong, with remaining lease
term of
—50F A £ — 50 years or more 668,000 668,000
—10F £504F - between 10 and 50 years 148,967 761,520
816,967 1,429,520

5,804,197 6,186,901
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18 FEREMEHNRAEK »)

(b) AEBETHERRDMERSE

(c)

ERTIMEESEMUARSRITER
REMEE  BREHIEEHNHE24 -

BHRA
EREMANKAES N THER
BEHREHEMESHH MRKE
MHEERDHERTPRAEER T
SEHRNAEEZTNEITLEERE D
&) o BHRARAREY R HE Kt
ERBMERABERTRA/IE
BRAIN—BD R-_F_—FK
—ECTE BEABRSETHERE
KA LHE -

AEERARBEVERELERNE
1558 B ARMAIITRETE » A
SEZTTHAEENEFMEZE
AYAMBHNEARTRSHA - A
REEHCRITMENHE KRG
BB KRR AN EE R R RS -

BER S — F TR E R E AR
(LA IR (ZE=F 4 : 2,542,000
HBIT) ©

19 E5 REtEWFIR
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18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS
(Continued)

(b) The Group’s certain properties under for development for sale and

(c)

completed properties for sale were pledged to secure bank loans
and other borrowings, details of which is set out in Note 24.

Contract costs

Contract costs capitalised relate to the incremental sales
commissions paid to property agents whose selling activities resulted
in customers entering into sale and purchase agreements for the
Group's properties which are still under construction at the reporting
date. Contract costs are recognised as part of “direct costs” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which
revenue from the related property sales is recognised. During 2021
and 2020, there is no amount of capitalised costs recognised in
profit or loss.

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94 of HKFRS
15 and recognises the incremental costs of obtaining contracts
relating to the sale of completed properties and services as an
expense when incurred if the amortisation period of the assets that
the Group otherwise would have recognised is within the same
reporting period as the date of entering into the contract.

No capitalised contract costs is expected to be recovered after more
than one year (2020: $2,542,000).

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

U E R (FNBR BB #4HE) Trade debtors, net of loss allowance 84,844 101,308

H b fE UL 7138 (F0ER BB BES)  Other debtors, net of loss allowance (i) & 29(a) 1,045,784 590,139
S R —FEE S FUEIRIFIA  Less: amount to be recovered

more than one year (268,023) (231,761)

i 771961 358,378
WK A ENEBMEE  Financial assets measured at

amortised cost 862,605 459,686

Be RN FIE Deposits and prepayments (ii) 1,289,454 1,194,456

2,152,059 1,654,142
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19 EZ R H Mt EWFEIE @)
i

()  HAEKEOR GIREREE) FEEIIT

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The details of other receivables (net of loss allowance) are set out below:

ME=ZFIREER Q) Loans to third parties (a) 355,788 305,392
U A &1 FIE (b) Amounts due from joint ventures (b) 331,582 41,898
Hit Others 358,414 242,849
1,045,784 590,139

@ RZZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H KA (@ As at 31 December 2021, apart from the loans to third parties of

%= 5 1R B 3 206,829,0005% 7T (=
T — T4 :201,647,00058 T) (Z &
HEER  EHEFE13% (ZT=F
F£:13%) 58 BATR—FRER)
GN - FRE BT IER  REMER8%
£12.95% (ZF-FF : 3% E13%)
e WAR—FAKE -

by R=ZTE=—F+=—A=+—H" ' KE

A &3R8 209,019,000/8 7T (=

ToTF T (R RERR

TEeER—EABERITRERS

2.85% 2 F Fl| Rzt B R AR E kU E)

SN BB REERR 28 1
JAREZ KU E o

(i) BERBANRBEFEHIINAT

HK$206,829,000 (2020: HK$201,647,000) which were secured, interest-
bearing at 13% (2020: 13%) per annum and repayable after one year, all of
the balances were secured, interest-bearing from 8% to 12.95% (2020: 3%
to 13%) per annum and recoverable within one year.

(b)  As at 31 December 2021, apart from the amounts due from joint ventures
of HK$209,019,000 (2020: HK$Nil) which were unsecured, interest-
bearing at 2.85% per annum above one month’s HIBOR and recoverable on
demand, all of the balances were unsecured, interest-free and recoverable
on demand.

(i) The details of deposits and prepayments are set out below:

U B 4 (5 PR A RO B SRR Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights 833,122 807,893
W g Y % B FE A B Prepayments for acquisition of properties 30,000 30,000
HAth Others 426,332 356,563

1,289,454 1,194,456

(i) RREC AT
RBERR - BUAE S RF (R EERE)
RIBBHZRAHORRANOT

(i) Ageing analysis
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors (net of
loss allowance) based on invoice date was as follows:

—(EAR Within 1 month 38,289 47,384
—z==@A 1 to 3 months 17,719 22,575
=ZEXEA 3 to 6 months 16,549 17,346
NEAARE—F 6 months to 1 year 12,287 14,003

84,844 101,308
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19 ESREMBEWREIE G

i

(iv)

()

AREEE T RN ES B ERIARIRITERR

20 ZRHERESERER

Notes:

(iv)
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19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(Continued)

The Group's certain rental receivables were pledged to secure bank loans.

20 RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

PR I R (B EE ) Restricted deposits (Note (i) 71,694 27,140
BRI (B (i) Pledged deposits (Note (ii)) 2,790,310 3,019,499
2,862,004 3,046,639

B o

@)

(ii)

RIBHEMEZERERAL  AEEETHET
MERFEENTENBARNEANEER
TRPHERE TEENOEH  FLLA LR
HEAEREREEENRERANHIR
KAERBRTETE TEE - ZEERER
HREEENRZEXARBITRERER -

EERFAEREAEEER FRITUERR
1T E M TFE K » 1F312,789,500,0008 7T (=
T — T4 :3,018,713,00058 7T) 2 K3 A ER
BR—FREENRTREE BLsER
TEEE °

AEBMETRTFREEFRERATEE
EFELR :

Notes:

0}

(ii)

In accordance with relevant construction or redevelopment contracts, certain of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries with property development projects are required to
place at designated bank accounts certain amount of deposits for potential default
in payment of construction costs payables to the relevant contractors or fulfill
certain obligations to the relevant government. Such guarantee deposits will be
released after the settlement of the construction costs payables or fulfilment of the
obligations.

Pledged deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to $2,789,500,000 (2020:
$3,018,713,000) have been pledged to secure bank and borrowings repayable
within one year and are therefore classified as current assets.

The Group’s certain bank deposits which were pledged as securities in respect of:

RITER Bank loan facilities 2,789,500 3,018,713
BITERTFAEENEEROIZIBER Mortgage loan facilities granted by the banks

to purchasers of the Group’s properties 810 786

2,790,310 3,019,499
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21 RENBELEEEBUKRHE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
HwEEREER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(d) B LIRS EEBEHBHE: (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

RIBITHRE R FERE

Cash at banks and on hand 1,077,346 1,653,196

NoE-——F+-—A=+—8 R At 31 December 2021, cash at banks and on hand included

BITHRERFEESBERALAE
B %= T EHE R RIE B
TR 2% 19 48 A SR R B E BR
TERFPHPARNEEMEMSRIELR
¥H25,534,000 B L (ZE T F :
152,542,000 7T) © 2 E1F RN &
SEEHRITIER A BELER
MERBIBEBEEZEM BRI
BEE ZEFERERBEYE T
RERDEBERKYWENEEMA
R o

RZE=Z—F+=ZA=+—H 7
BAmRITHREe MRS FEEE
X [E 7 17 3 A& 861,520,000 7T (=
T —FF 1 1,394,826,000/87C) - [E
A B N A & 7R 38 ST BT
e 00 A B 37, PR 6l

proceeds from the pre-sale of properties totalling $25,534,000 (2020:
$152,542,000) placed in designated bank accounts by certain of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries in accordance with relevant documents
issued by local government authorities. Such deposits can only be
used for purchases of construction materials and the payments of
construction fees of the relevant property development projects
when approval from the designated bank is obtained. Such deposits
will be released after the completion of the relevant properties or
obtaining the legal title of the completed properties.

At 31 December 2021, cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposits
with banks in Mainland China amounted to $861,520,000 (2020:
$1,394,826,000). Remittance of funds out of Mainland China is
subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.
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21 BERBSEEEBURE
HEEREER @)
(b) BFEAEF (B5E) RELFEE
J/ (FREhFR) B4 iy 1 BF -

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to cash generated from/
(used in) operations:

BEREM, (B1R) Profit/(loss) before taxation 187,588 (346,604)
AT % Adjustments for:
F WA Interest income 5 (138,639) (79,040)
MERA Finance costs 7(a) 294,547 301,811
e R g Depreciation and amortisation 7(c) 34,877 39,261
BEMERDERRFE Valuation (gains)/losses on investment
HERIREMEREE properties and investment properties
(a) /A classified as held for sale 12 (202,341) 77,944
HEMB AR (W), Net (gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries
BiRRE 6 (318,467) 269
NEREBEERAAEBEBEA Fair value gain on financial assets measured
RSN EREREN at FVPL
NREERS 6 (29,218) (49,943)
H it JEU TR IE A K FBREEE B Reversal of impairment on other receivables
WA BB D with the related compensation income 6 (191,847) -
HEMR TR EIE  Loss on disposal of land parcels in
Yuen Long 6 314,079 -
BHNEMBERFIENFE  Impairment losses on trade and other
i receivables 29(a) 9,477 18,527
HEME  BE KRB Net loss on disposal of property, plant
BEFE and equipment 6 7 138
DL E R EIEE Share of losses of associates 15 1,997 2,122
DIEEECERTIFER Share of profits less losses of
joint ventures 7,397 8,992
[E M B8, () 35 Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) 6 7,268 (4,576)
LEEREE: Changes in working capital:
FRERHEME LMK AL N Increase in inventories and other
contract costs (657,272) (642,254)
B 5 N H A e W SR IEE N Increase in trade and other receivables (129,818) (80,441)
SRHIFEZ B HD (Increase)/decrease in restricted deposits (43,113) 24,671
B 5 N oAt A FRIE G N Increase in trade and other payables 60,167 49,742
AHaBEEM Increase in contract liabilities 1,096,796 627,550
CEEISES,/ (FT8M)  Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Re 303,485 (51,831)
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21 RERBEESEEEAEURA
mEESREER @)

() MEEFBRELENEREHR (c)

TRFDAEEREEDMEEN

E 135 e Eb

BREASMIIFRSES -

METHFEENEEBDRARENRN
%&*Xﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁé$%@ﬁ’]ﬁé
RemBXDBERBMEZHME

@/MLEE']E\{E\ °

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing
activities.

RITEHR B FER
HifEE &S HEAE RERE
Bank loans Amounts
and due to
other Bonds Lease non-controlling
borrowings payable liabilities NEEHY
(MizE24) (MzE26) (H&E25) (M&22)
(Note 24) (Note 26) (Note 25) (Note 22)
i i T r
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000
WZBZ-£-H-H  At1lJanuary 2021 10,462,364 248,552 62,655 1,143,252 11,916,823
REHETRESD . Changes from financing cash flows:
HERTETREM Proceeds from new bank loans and
CEGIEE other borrowings 3420842 - - - 3420842
BEFATEILEMES  Repayment of bank loans and other
borrowings (4,150,233) - - - (4,150,233)
KAELEREZSHBZ  Advance from non-controlling interests = - - 30,661 30,661
ENTEMRSMAARLYS Capital element of lease rentals paid - - (23,888) - (23,888)
ONRERLNFELS  Interest element of lease rentals paid - - (3,550) - (3,550)
BFE Interest paid (564,869) (22,692) - - (587,561)
BARSTELHAEHE  Total changes from financing cash flows  (1,294,260) (22,692) (27,438) 30,661 (1,313,729)
ERRE Exchange adjustments 127,260 (4.214) 450 23,779 147,275
Hit2 Other changes:
BERE (M) Finance costs (Note 7)) 528,698 28423 3,550 1,946 562,617
REERTIHBELR  Increase in lease liabllities from entering
MEEELEN into new leases during the year - - 7,568 - 7,568
RS2 Change in interest payables 21,886 (404) - (1,946) 19,536
HipgEag Total other changes 550,584 28,019 11,118 = 589,721
R-B--& At 31 December 2021
+ZB=1+-H 9,845,948 249,665 46,785 1,197,692 11,340,090
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21 RENBELEEEBUKRHE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

tHREREER B CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
() METBREENEEHER S () Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued)

e
5 HE&R EmE
Bank loans Amounts
and due to
other Bonds Lease  non-controlling
borrowings payable liabilities interests
(FtzE24) (Hizk26) (MizE25) (Fis£22)
(Note 24) (Note 26) (Note 25) (Note 22)
T i Tr i
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000
W=BZ%%-H—-0  At1lJanuary 2020 9,067,274 500,355 80,217 1,092,459 10,740,305
REREHEST: Changes from financing cash flows:

HERTETREM Proceeds from new bank loans and

BRAETE other borrowings 2,516,707 - - - 2,516,707
BITEEMESE Proceeds from issuance of bonds - 251,966 - - 251,966
BERITETREM Repayment of bank loans and other

BE borrowings (1,401,711) - - - (1401,711)
BEEMES Repayment of bonds payable - (503,802) - - (503,802)
KAEEEREZHBZ  Advance from non-controlling interests - - - 42,236 42,236
BEELRES Repayment to a non-controlling interest - - - (39,167) (39,167)
ERAEMSHERZS  Capital element of lease rentals paid - - (39,861) - (39,861)
ENAEREMHFELS  Interest element of lease rentals paid - - (4,019) - (4,019)
ERHE Interest paid (578,477) (48,179) - - (626,656)
RARSTEZYLEE  Total changes from financing cash flows 536,519 (300,015) (43,880) 3,069 195,693
EiA% Exchange adjustments 272,790 13495 10978 47,724 344,987
Hip 2% Other changes:

BERR (5 7)) Finance costs (Note 7(a)) 574,148 41330 4,02 14,552 634,052
REEREVHAER  Increase in lease liabilities from entering

MEBEREN into new leases during the year - - 11318 - 11318

[ LR Change in interest payables 11,633 (6,613) - (14,552) (9,532)
AwEBEE Towlotherchanges S8 S o S S 635,838 _
R-E-Zf At 31 December 2020

+ZA=1+-H 10,462,364 248,552 62,655 1,143,252 11,916,823
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21 RENBELEEEBUKRHE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

tHREREER @ CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(d HERSRLEE (d) Total cash outflow for leases
RAEFAGERERERZ2AA Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for leases
HATHIEAEX comprise the following:

RELEREBREN Within operating cash flows 482 1,697
RREREREAN Within financing cash flows 27,438 43,880
27,920 45,577

ENHEERS Lease rentals paid 27,920 45,577




TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 243

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

H fh fE {718 22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

B 5 e A Trade payables (i) 182,551 221,117
H e BR R R R B A Other creditors and accrued charges (ii) 2,520,954 2,405,626
FE IE IR AR R 2R SR IR Amounts due to non-controlling
interests (iii) 1,197,692 1,143,252
He kEMES Rental and other deposits 100,531 86,352
AR I H M FE A F 18 Value added tax and other tax
payables 250,551 147,727
4,252,279 4,004,074
B3 Notes:
() RBERR FAEIREMEFRENE (i) Included in trade and other payables are trade payables with the following ageing
FEMNFBREZFZAHNRESTAT ¢ analysis based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

—fEARA Within 1 month 66,856 82,104
—Z=1@A 1 to 3 months 48,352 62,723
=Z=XEA 3 to 6 months 34,847 37,898
NERE—%F 6 months to 1 year 21,894 31,339
il —F Over 1 year 10,602 7,053
182,551 221,117
iy BEETEREMONRRZEMWENMH (i) The estimated value of future settlement properties to be compensated to
{Efﬁ 1,767,083,000 L (Z T =T F : residents of HK$1,767,083,000 (2020: HK$1,749,209,000) is included in other
1,749,209,000 7% 7T ) & A E & 1+ BR 30 & g creditors and accrued charges, of which an amount of HK$1,332,853,000 (2020:
FTEMA - K9 1,332,853,0008 T (ZE=F HK$1,749,209,000) is expected to be settled after more than one year by delivering
£ :1,749,209,0007% 7T) B ER A A B IR — & the respective properties.

BBBXNEEMESE -

iy M=ZZF=Z—F+=A=+—8 " BREMEZ (i) As at 31 December 2021, apart from the amounts due to non-controlling interests
[i% 4 %5 5K 78 96,646,000 B 0 (Z T =T 4F : of HK$96,646,000 (2020: HK$93,810,000) which are interest-bearing at 4.35%
93,810,000 7T) £ B F4.35% (Z T _F (2020: 4.35%) per annum, unsecured and repayable on demand, all of the
F:435%) 518 EIE A RAREREEIN balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

AR EER ST RARERMEE -
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23 BHEE 23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

5T 5138 B M TE YRR

Receipts in advance in respect of

—MEHE — Sales of properties 1,903,832 708,099
—WEEERB — Property management services 23,341 18,132
1,927,173 726,231

HERRBANABENEEETEN—K
SAHERIT -

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities
recognised are as follows:

— YIERR - Property development
BRF R E - AN5E B A AR B AT
RET (MIEEBEBYERT)R - B
KB P ERR ARSI ARE -
ZEWFEFEERANEERS
A KEBNEESRT ¥ =5 2% 5
NER I EHEBBESRIE
AEBEZFFEFAZSFE M LA
RBMEMZFBBHEMEIFHTNX

Depending on market conditions, the Group requires the customers
to pay off the full consideration within an agreed time frame while
developments are still ongoing, rather than on the completion
of the relevant properties. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the remaining
property development period for the full amount of the contract
price. In addition, the contract liabilities will be increased by the
amount of interest expense being accrued by the Group to reflect

ETEZEODRHREEAE TS ES
EABMBENGENTE - AN ZERT
EREMRAZEREANENEES
#HOAK CERHDBRAZERE
R TYROEHIEEBE =R PR -

the effect of any significant financing benefit obtained from the
customers during the period between the payment date and the
date of delivery of property or completion of legal assignment. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liabilities during the
period of development, it therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer.
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23 EHEBE® 23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)
— AREBETH - Movements in contract liabilities

H—A— B8 Balance at 1 January 726,231 58,577
RENERAASHABHNFA  Decrease in contract liabilities as a result
WABHENERERD of recognising revenue during the
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (39,255) (50,605)
EARATE B ¥ 2 B ) % Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
HERNRESHAENAE receiving advanced payments of sales
N of properties during the year in respect
of properties still under construction as
at the year end 1,115,750 655,959
BREFF BT MERA4  Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
B &g accruing interest expense on advances 63,584 6,098
EHZR Exchange difference 60,863 56,202
R+ A=+—B8&Es Balance at 31 December 1,927,173 726,231
BMEEENEHERMEERRY No amount of receipts in advance in respect of sales of properties
REZR—FEBERABBABTEYR R and property management services expected to be recognised as
18 (— T T4 :688,254,000/87T) ° income after more than one year (2020: $688,254,000). All of the
FIEEHAERETHR —FRER contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income within
BUA o one year.
24 BITERRHEMEE 24 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
RZZTE-_—F+=-A=+—H8" #R1TE At 31 December 2021, bank loans and other borrowings were analysed as
HEEMEESTAT follows:

RITER Bank loans

—HiKH — Secured (ii) 8,669,528 9,532,028
Hinfg & Other borrowings

— 75 AR (i) — Secured (jii) 1,176,420 930,336

9,845,948 10,462,364




246 HFEEREEERAT T -—%#

REMBHRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

24 S(BITEFREMEE @)

R-_ZTE-—F+-_A=+—H 78
REEMEENERBRAOT

24 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(Continued)

as follows:

At 31 December 2021, bank loans and other borrowings were repayable

—FRIBAITARDESE Within 1 year and included in current
liabilities 6,196,768 5,966,708
—FHIBITAEREBEME:  After 1 year and included in non-
current liabilities:
—FEERFA After 1 year but within 2 years 343,970 2,329,825
MEZRBRAFA After 2 years but within 5 years 2,461,269 577,165
hFi& After 5 years 843,941 1,588,666
.. . S 4,495,656 |
9,845,948 10,462,364
BisE - Notes:
() MFT-ZA=+—8 RITEFRNETFHE (i) At 31 December, the bank loans bore interest at a weighted average interest rate
FEA95% (Z T —FTF : 469%):t B H of 4.95% (2020: 4.69%) per annum and were secured by the following assets:
AT EEEER

"EYE Investment properties 6,931,736 5,708,911
Hth -3 RIEF Other land and buildings 34,740 8,465
FE Inventories 2,358,959 4,408,893
BHEMFR Pledged deposits 2,789,500 3,018,713
FEWAE & Rental receivables 53,587 14,469
#Et Total 12,168,522 13,159,451
iy M=ZZF=Z—F+=ZA=+—H" RITERA (i) As at 31 December 2021, the bank loans of RMB1,568,700,000 (equivalent to

R #1,568,700,000 7t (A8 & 1,920,073,439
B (ZE T4 AR 1,628,300,000
7T (P& 7 1,934,537,000 % 7T ) ) bA 7K & B 7
—RMTBE AR KR A ST WiRF
B®&539%%F75% (- F -F4F :539%%
8.5%)&T & °

iy RNZBE-——F+-—A=+—H0 HHEs& (ii)

120,000,000 % 7T (48 & # 935,820,000 %
7T) (ZZ =T 4 : 120,000,000 7T (FHEH
930,336,000 7)) REANEE —ZRKRE -
HBEGFEN% (ZTE-FF : 11%) 581
AAREBE THEBA R ZRIEFEET - 8T
HithEEREF30%t 8 UETAED
7 RIEVEIER -

$1,920,073,439) (2020: RMB1,628,300,000 (equivalent to $1,934,537,000)) was
secured by equity interests in subsidiaries within the Group with the interest of

5.39% to 7.5% (2020: 5.39% to 8.5%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2021, the other borrowings of USD120,000,000 (equivalent to
$935,820,000) (2020: USD120,000,000 (equivalent to $930,336,000)) were from
a shareholder of the Group, which are interest-bearing at 11% (2020: 11%) per
annum and secured by equity interests in certain subsidiaries within the Group. The
remaining other borrowings are interest-bearing at 3.0% per annum and secured

by equity interests in certain joint ventures.
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/= 4% & .
24 RITERREMEE @) 24 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)
sk - (88) Notes: (Continued)
vy RZZBEZ_—F+ZA=+—H XKER (iv) At 31 December 2021, bank loans of the Group totaling RMB147,500,000
TERA £ AR 147,500,000 7T (FAE R (equivalent to $180,539,000) (2020: RMB177,500,000 (equivalent to
180,539,000 ) (ZZE-_TF : ARK $210,883,000)) were not in compliance with the imposed covenants. Such non-
177,500,000 7t (8% 72 210,883,0007 7T)) compliance was primarily related to a subsidiary which failed to achieve certain
WAL - FMTABEHEE monthly rental income earned from the underlying properties at the end of the
BER—RMBARRHREHBREAED reporting period. All of the above bank loans were classified as current liabilities in
FEEME ATHWAREESEFRFE - Lt the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2021.

BITEREEN T _—F+-_A=+—
BREBRREADEARBEE -

25 HEAE 25 LEASE LIABILITIES
RMERR AEEHEAENTH®RE The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
DfEmAR T Group’s lease liabilities at the end of reporting periods:
—EB--F e S22
2021 2020
BEEEMAHBEE BEAENREE SERENHRE SEEERFREE
Present value Present value
of the minimum Total minimum of the minimum Total minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments
T Tr T Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
—&FR Within 1 year 7,581 10,325 21,971 24,981
—FIZBMENA  After 1 year but within 2 years 4,878 7,265 4,945 7,390
MIFEBRFA  After 2 years but within 5 years 9,027 14,802 7,848 14,044
hFE After 5 years 25,299 29,417 27,891 33,544
39,204 51,484 40,684 54,978
46,785 61,809 62,655 79,959

o R R B Less: total future interest
sz 48R expenses (15,024) (17,304)

HEAFERE Present value of lease liabilities 46,785 62,655
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26 EHES

27

32,500,000 7T

26 BONDS PAYABLE

USD 32.5 million

249,665 248,552

AEEE—FE=F &R 32,500,000 %
7T (B4 249,665,000/8 7T) (ZE=-F
£ : 32,500,000 3 7t (#8554 248,552,000
BIL)) RRIEFRIELRBEE L RE

W o ZEBEREMNRI% (ZT_TF

9% )FHE - WA —MHEAREZETR
AN EA R AR AR R UGRIE IR o

B R B ER B3

BERAHBRERBRETS
ARAREERRFABERBRETE
NHERL BXREREREREETCKAAEE
HARKEELHHRR -

BRARBEERBEREFIATHER
B AREBERESIGIRARAE
EFMEEHR (TEARL BHE T F)
MR RFTE

27

The Group entered into a subscription agreement with a third party
for Private Offering of Corporate Bonds of USD32,500,000 (equivalent
$249,665,000) (2020: USD32,500,000 (equivalent $248,552,000)). The
amount is interest-bearing at 9% (2020: 9%) per annum and secured
by issued share capital of a subsidiary and receivables owned by the
Company.

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company has a Post-IPO Share Option Scheme which was to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the employees and
directors have made or may make to the Group.

An option under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the share option scheme at any time during
a period as determined by the directors of the Company, which must not
be more than 10 years from the date of grant.
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27 REZEURODEEBAOEZ 27 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

2 (18) (Continued)
BRLAHREABRESS (B Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
() BWHAOGKREEDT (i)  The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

RBIRE
TARHE BEKH BHFEHY

Contractual
Number of life of
instruments Vesting conditions options

m—RESERNN Options granted to directors:

R
~RZE—=F - 26 June 2012 4,400,000 BB T
NAZTRE —%F(30%) * 10 years
—-R-ZE—=% —20 June 2013 5,700,000 M 4F (60%) &
~AZ+H =% (100%)
—-W-T—RF - 28 April 2015 34,000,000 One year (30%),
MAZ+NR two years (60%) and
—-R_ZE—RF — 23 October 2015 10,000,000 three years (100%)
+A=-+=H from the date of grant
MEREERER Options granted to senior
EERTMERME:  management and
employees:
—RZT—Z=F - 26 June 2012 11,320,000 E#&E ARG T
~NAZ+XH —F(30%) * 10 years
—RZE—Z=ZF —20 June 2013 8,300,000 I 4F (60%) &
~NAZ+H =4 (100%)
—RZE—HF — 28 April 2015 48,650,000  One year (30%),
MAZ=Z+NH two years (60%) and
—-RZE—1F — 8 September 2015 3,000,000 three years (100%)
NANA from the date of grant
—RZE—RF — 5 December 2016 31,000,000
+-AAH

ERHERERE Total share options granted 156,370,000
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27 BREHARDBERBT
(5&)

BERAMBRERBRETE
(i) BEEMBE RinEFHITEELD

27 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
(i)  The number and weighted average exercise price of share options

N are as follows:

—ETHF

2020

BRERE EREHE

Number of Number of

options options

S T 15

‘000 ‘000

RENEARITEE Outstanding at the beginning of the year 92,209 97,376
FRRI Forfeited during the year (23,229) (5,167)
REE B ARITHE Outstanding at the end of the year 68,980 92,209
REKA] FI7E Exercisable at the end of the year 68,980 92,209

R-E-—F+-A=+—HEK
TR BB AR A P 19 1T B % 3.20
BT (ZZZFF:3.20%87T) ' M
EFHFBRENFRRIF (ZF
ZEF 1 467F) o

The share options outstanding at 31 December 2021 had a weighted
average exercise price of $3.20 (2020: $3.20) and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 3.6 years (2020: 4.6 years).
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28 A& - REERKRE 28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(a) BEARTBONEE (a) Movements in components of equity
REBGRE#ERSHEKE D NED The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
REKREHZENHERENGE - each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
wmEEER - AR AR F Y EF LK consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes
MER AT NEBFER in the Company’s individual components of equity between the
FIGATR - beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

BOKAM
TRRFES
RpEE EENRE BXRE  REEN
Reserve
arising

from
Share Share issuance Capital  Retained
capital  premium  of PCSs reserve profits
i i i i i
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000

R=2-2%-A-8 Balance at 1 January 2020
E3 141273 1,952,155 11,65 78350 2,649,894 4833327
“ECEERESE: Changes in equity for 2020:
FEBFBRZENEES Loss and total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - (38,076) (38,076)
BRMERE R ZRR R Share options and awarded shares
forfeited - - - (9,275) - (9,275)
HERRENRS (MFE28b)  Dividend approved in respect of the previous
year (Note 28(b)) - - - - (30,586) (30,586)
R=Z-BF+-F=1-HK Balance at 31 December 2020 and
ZBZ-F-F-HMEH  1January 2021 141273 1952155 11,655 69,075 2,581,232 4,755,390
—EC-FEREE. Changes in equity for 2021
FERNRZANEES Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - 355886 355886
BRYERE R 2B R Share options and awarded shares
forfeited - - - (16,403) 16,403 -

TEEMRAENIE (MEE28())  Dividend approved in respect of the

previous year (Note 28(b)) - - -
REEHENIE (M5E28(0))  Dividend approved in respect of the

current year (Note 28(b)) - = =

(61,171)  (61,171)

(45,879)  (45,879)

R-E=--F+=-A=+—-H Balance at 31 December 2021
igke3:3 141,273 1,952,155 11,655 52,672 2,846,471 5,004,226
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28 WA - REERRE @) 28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(b) BRE (b) Dividends
() FREFELIGAEZBRRRK (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
AAMBBREBSHEANRE Company and holders of PCSs attributable to the year

R MRS ERE TR Interim dividend declared and paid of

LBAR M FRAKA HK3 cents (2020: Nil) per ordinary

AJHARREE 5 3L share and per unit of PCSs

(Z2=2F: 8) 45,879 -
RERRBEZIRED Final dividend proposed after the end

RNEARR B & R ik & of the reporting period of

FoRK AR IR E S 1B HK1 cent (2020: HK4 cents) per
W Z=ZFTF : 478) ordinary share and per unit

of PCSs 15,293 61,171
61,172 61,171
& BAR 18 2 3 R 3 ) R BR The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
REWENREARERRB period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
f& ° reporting period.
(i) L—EARBFEEMELDRE (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
HERRIAFAMEREFTH Company attributable to the previous financial year,
BE approved and paid during the year

FRHERBEH E—  Final dividend in respect of the previous
HHFEERARE TR financial year, approved and paid
LR R TRk A A during the year, of HK4 cents
EEHABW(=ZZT=F  (2020: HK2 cents) per ordinary share
&2 and per unit of PCSs

61,171 30,586
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28 BA - RERERE @

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

() BR=E (c) Share capital
PN
The Company
—E-_—-F —T-TF
2021 2020
BRG#E &8 iR ¢! ©H
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
TR Tr FR& F
'000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
EE Authorised:
BREBE0.10TTE
TimR Ordinary shares of $0.10 each 5,000,000 500,000 5,000,000 500,000
ERTRBEN Ordinary shares, issued and
EER: fully paid:
W—A—BXE+=A At1Januaryand at
=+—A 31 December 1,412,733 141,273 1,412,733 141,273

BB A A A BRI 5K A
BRE XERRARAAEG LRE
BERNDE—FR -RARFNBTE
EME A SEREZEREM
(d)

EEEERRAR (d)

(i) BROHE
Bfn g ERmAS S R EDE
REE  NAARHERBR
AT DR S IR B AT AR R A A
RS2 XM B 4RI ey {3 (2
B)BARMEER -

BRIFERREZEN D IKHAE
ERRARABAMNNAE
EBPRHNER  TRITA
B B A i 1 P DA 1) #E 25 PR
SRR

N
EXRFRIZEREAARAEE
P SR AR 0 R R 1T BB AR
FE AR 1 P 5 2(u)(ii) P9 Bt DA B £
RAEN R G BRER A
MARXHARAABE-

(i)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(0]

(i)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and may be applied by the Company
subject to the provisions, if any, of its memorandum and
articles of association in paying distributions or dividends to
equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve mainly comprises the portion of the grant
date fair value of awarded shares and unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Company that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in Note 2(u)(ii).
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28 BA& - EERRKRE @
d) BEEERAZ®G)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BE 5 15
EHFEELRBREGINERT
ERERFELNFMBEL =5 -
ZEEEREWE2) SN S
TR R IR -

HEEE B
TEEERBEE —RRERE -
EEBRBBERIEERES ©

— AR A 1

—REETADIK - EEEZ
FREAHEFSRETHAERER
FRREREE - —REBA
RIS A R AR PIHLAE 1R A PAIR
HRFBBRRIEMEAR -

JETEBERFH

REBEHERARE - AEBEH
BB LR (TEEINEDZE)
B E10% MR BE AR (R
BEREEAREE) BAX
EBBRFHE BEEZRBER
EEHFMEARNS0% I
EREZFH AN MRRKE
IR B RIATT ©

EE TR AR A SF
ErEE (mA) - XA &G
BRIRA I ) A B 31T
% 40 248 H0 A% 3R B A AT RR B
R EEE SR BB - BT
BREBKIBLIRNEMEARN
25% °

VR E fhi# B
MEBGMFHED TRY LR
B2 T ST REREIE -

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(y).

PRC statutory reserves

PRC statutory reserves include general reserve, statutory surplus
reserve and statutory public welfare fund.

General reserve

The general reserve is non-distributable and the transfer to this
reserve is determined by the board of directors in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC. This reserve
can be used to offset accumulated losses and increase capital
upon approval from the relevant authorities.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC subsidiaries
of the Group (excluding foreign investment enterprises) are
required to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50%
of their registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make good previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital
by the issue of new shares to shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholders or by increasing the par value of the
shares currently held by them, provided that the balance after
such issue is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2()).
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28 BA& - REERRE @
(d) REMERAR@)

H A

H A 4 -

(vi)

M

B IEHEMAEESR
RAR ([HBEE]) W
Mokams SRR E
HPHEEREMEAAF
M RREFE 2 R ZE ©
ZREHEEENELR
BT HRZBERERA
TNBRBBE—RE=T
Fr A RO AT R R R T LA
EBETHBEERN BT
B o

FhIASEEE R A R & T
BB A R Y ER S HE 2R
5 EAREBEZENE
RRBREFE R ZEE -

B E I N E T
BAAMBSMETE
SO RSP
REFEZ R -

BRBREBRRMS - BB
BEANTRE M
B HRFER CGRM)
BERAF - BEERA
Al -EREBEARAFKL
Fortune Mega International
Limited B)E & ©

REEHEA DB R
Fr Em AT EH AR S
SERBRTELMNRIE

&R N — AR (R
“E2-THE+ZAHRER
A-—ERRERER) X
HEH R -
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(vi) Other reserve

The other reserve represents:

M

The difference between the consideration received and
the net book value of Joinbest Enterprises Limited (“JEL")
and its subsidiaries for the deemed disposal of partial
interests in JEL. The deemed disposal was resulted from
the issuance of 1 ordinary share of JEL at premium upon
conversion of convertible notes held by a third party on
18 June 2006.

The differences between the consideration paid and the
net book value of certain subsidiaries for the acquisition
of additional interests in these subsidiaries from non-
controlling shareholders.

The differences between the consideration received and
the net book value of certain subsidiaries for the disposal
of the partial interests in these subsidiaries by the Group.

The deemed contributions from the ultimate shareholder
for the transfer of investment costs in JEL, Le Leman
International (Yuhang) Limited, Glory Wise Limited,
Fullshine Group Limited and Fortune Mega International
Limited at nil consideration pursuant to a reorganisation.

The amount arising from the reorganisation to rationalise
the group structure in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange.

The waiver of repayment of amount due to a related
company beneficially owned by a shareholder of the
Company in December 2010.
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28 A& - REEERKRE ®

(e) B S

(f)

D IREE
}JA_7:—¢+ A=+—H =K
ANAAED IR T AR R
ﬁﬁ,wu%ﬁ(*ﬁﬁﬁﬁxﬁ% AE R
NAEBERRMARAAGE) B
4,851,298,0008 T (Z T =T 4 :
4,602,462,0008 7T) °

EXER
AEEEREANTEZERRRE
AEEFBELLEERBOEN KM
REMEHRRBBERMHES  BK
RIBH D RIA R B E R0 & = H7
Mg THBZAENERREIN
PRAREARKA -

AEEREBLRERRANMERELE
AREE NERBERSEEKFER
EFANRSRRORERRE R
MR ER R T2 2 FERETE -
WA EEBEREEEH E A RBEE

—WMITARES AEBZAEELE
(raEFaEkrARREAEEER
Eﬁ*&/\ﬁ@%ﬁ)ﬁ*gﬁﬁﬁ 8% © it
CAEERABFEAER/R
‘%?k&ﬁfmﬁ%ﬁ@%ﬁ HERE
mmkES  EBNES RENIFE
g (FHR) RE R G R EEIRF
FARRERREEFEER -

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association, was $4,851,298,000 (2020: $4,602,462,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to fund its property development projects, provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by
total equity at the end of the reporting period. For this purpose, the
Group defines net debt as total bank loans and other borrowings,
lease liabilities, convertible bonds, bonds payable and amounts due
to non-controlling interests (interest-bearing) less restricted and
pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents.
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28 BA& - RERRE @ 28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(f) EXEEE) (f) Capital management (Continued)
R-TE-_—F+-_A=+—8 &K The Group's gearing ratio at 31 December 2021 was as follows:
SEMEBLERNT

nBaE Current liabilities
RITEREEMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 6,196,768 5,966,708
HEBE Lease liabilities 7,581 21,971
ERHE Bonds payable 249,665 248,552
6,454,014 6,237,231
FrnBEE Non-current liabilities
RITEREEMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 3,649,180 4,495,656
HEARE Lease liabilities 39,204 40,684
T - i 4,536,340
EERE Total borrowings 10,142,398 10,773,571
o FRH MEEEERK  Less: Restricted and pledged deposits (2,862,004) (3,046,639)
ReRREEEIEE Cash and cash equivalents (1,077,346) (1,653,196)
BEFE Net debt 6,203,048 6,073,736
ERBE Total equity 10,369,833 10,154,242
aEtEx Gearing ratio 59.8% 59.8%
2 BiEREEREMIEZD 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
REE VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AEBREBEZAETEEER R Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the
B}ES  MEREEER - KNEBEITEE normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to
R RABE 2 E a8 R AERAES equity price risk arising from movements in its own equity share price.
[B\Bg o
AEBEMAZNBEBRERRAEBEFE The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
T2 b 55 3 B 1 £R AN B0 B 7S R B B TR R policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are

MAEPIER T © described below.
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29 BIEREENREBMIELD 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
REE®E® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) ERAAR (a) Credit risk

ERARBEXSZHFTEREGH
EEERASEBERENRR
AEENERARRIZRNRES R
H Al U IR - AL EFTH RER
ERBE  THEEEMARNE
RER ~EERREMBREFE
BHEMAENERRRER 1)
HRRXZHUF I RAEERRESR
EAZ AR ERTT B & S o

FE W B 5 B K E fth FE WK IR
AEEZBERE2HMERERER
(ERBEEEAE) NERFER
WE ZERAEEBE - AR AEE
BECABRELRYIARBTRITRAE
FoeEEEgEE TR - Eit
A BN B B e B R R Y S
AEBTRAEFPEEE—ZAD -

T 2% 424475 0 A o I T B 15
LI 1 MR R S5 B ST 5 R A 4R
BER

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group maintains a defined credit policy and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

Trade debtors and other debtors

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors:

—E-——fF
2021

AHEER IREAE BiIREE
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T T
% $'000 $°000
1F AR Within 1 year 4.93% 89,242 4,398
B F Over 1 year 100% 10,230 10,230
99,472 14,628

—E-TF

2020

TREEE X FREEE E e R E
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T T
% $'000 $'000
1 AR Within 1 year 2.20% 103,587 2,279
il F Over 1 year 100% 6,006 6,006
109,593 8,285




REMBHRRME

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

259

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

29 IERREERERMIAD
REE®

(a) ERAER @)
FEuk B 5 BRI EL A R WORR R (7))
BHRERXTIREASENERE
BRREL ZFLREABUR
BR U2 5 38 1 B HA R O A AR
I AR e S R [ 4 R Mo K OB TR
FHANKERRNBZZRNER -

MEZFRENERZEUNZESE
ZHEAENYERKREERR R
REPR  ZFERZSAANRSE
AR (T AR BIERFR RSN
TIAKRZEERNEZBRRER
19 - K2 BEFERBRME
RZEZ—FR_ZFT_FTF+=A
=+—HHHFTE AEERE
ZEEREENEARRRERFER
0 0h B 0 5 K AR RE T R & R, o

PREMBUHKIATS AEEEH
EHREMBERKBEETEREER
BH NEEEENEBBENEAN
AT Yo 1 3 A5 P R B = AR
PR MR RERRRIESES M
MARMBENEHSREENRE
18 ° N 58 [ 3 H A 8 U 5K 08 e wR AR
012 M8 A RS A R 1R A S 1R 1A
- BRIEEMEKRRIENERRR
B ERRBEEIE N R BN
T BRBFERAEREZHBHE
REENSEE -

Bk B 5 31 A 88 P AN 55 [ #F th RO B 7S
RN AEEY EREETHEAM
ABEAEEAREERRRNE
R-ZEVBERNBENREE
B HRAE BRI PIE -

FARIE SRR H e W R IR
MEERERESNT

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade debtors and other debtors (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience of the Group.
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

The loans to the third parties are fully secured by properties and
equity interests held by the third parties. The maximum exposure to
credit risk in respect of the loans at the end of the reporting period,
without taking into account the collateral, and the key terms of
the loans are disclosed in Note 19. The Group considers that the
credit risk arising from the loans is significantly mitigated by the
properties and equity interests held as collateral, with reference to
the estimated market value of the properties at 31 December 2021
and 2020.

For other debtors, regular review and follow-up actions are carried
out on long-aged other receivables, which enable management to
assess their recoverability and to minimise exposure to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group recognises a loss allowance on other
debtors equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the other debtors since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group as set out in
Note 31, the Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk. The maximum exposure to
credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in Note 31.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors
and other debtors during the year is as follows:

R—A—BHN&H Balance at 1 January 164,518 142,123
FRDHRBEREREE  Reversal of impairment losses recognised
(Pt £ 6(iv)) during the year (note 6(iv)) (119,904) -
FREERABAERE Impairment losses recognised during
the year 9,477 18,527
E N Z%E Exchange difference 1,046 3,868
Rt+-A=+—HB84%%  Balance at 31 December 55,137 164,518
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29 BEREEREMITALR
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management, including the raising of loans to cover the
expected cash demands, subject to approval by the Company’s
board of directors. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
The directors have taken into account the forecasts of operating
performance, unutilised banking facilities, ability to renew or
refinance banking and other financing facilities upon maturity, ability
to adjust the scheduled capital commitments and financial assistance
from a substantial shareholder if necessary and consider that there
is no significant liquidity risk as the Group has sufficient cash and
facilities to fund its operations and debt servicing requirements.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

—E--F
2021
ERRBBRER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—FRH BB—F BBME
EEXEE BIRWE EIREF BERF @ HREE
More than More than
Within 1yearbut 2 years but
1 year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years amount
Tr Tr Tr Tr Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
BITERK Bank loans and other
Hinfa g borrowings 6,452,870 388,993 3,085,113 1,399,261 11,326,237 9,845,948
HEERE Lease liabilities 10,325 7,265 14,802 29,417 61,809 46,785
B ESH Bonds payable 269,926 - - - 269,926 249,665
BHREM Trade and other
R FIE payables 2,485,196 - - - 2,485,196 2,485,196
9,218,317 396,258 3,099,915 1,428,678 14,143,168 12,627,594
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29 MBERBREEREHMIEAZN 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

AREE®@® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) RBESRER (&) (b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
i o3
2020
BNREHRBLRE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—FRK b —F A F
EEXEZE BLIRAME EIREF HBRE REE
More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years amount
Tr T Tr T ) Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
BATERR Bank loans and other
HihfEE borrowings 6,204,419 2,609,022 650,620 2227861 11,691,922 10,462,364
MEEE Lease liabilities 24,981 7,390 14,044 33,544 79,959 62,655
EfIES Bonds payable 268,400 - - - 268,400 248,552
B5REMPER  Trade and other
B payables 2,254,865 - - - 2,254,865 2,254,865

8,752,665 2,616,412 664,664 2,261,405 14,295,146 13,028,436
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29 BIEREENREBMIELD 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

REE®@® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
() FEEMR (c) Interest rate risk
F = R\ B & B R T 45 B = & B) i 5 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
eI AN AREBEEIKRRRE a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
MER B E R - NEE KT XR interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
BErERRBESABESEFMEER - cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged deposits and
XBRGREEREFRLZEMEE - borrowings issued at variable rates. The Group's interest rate profile
EEEERE 2 AEEFXERER as monitored by management is set out in (i) below.
() e
(i) F=IRHPR (i) Interest rate profile
—E-—F —E-EF
2021 2020
BRI BB ntE
FGRIE % 7 FHFIE %
Effective Effective
weighted weighted
average average
interest interest
rate % rate %
EEFEEE Fixed rate borrowings:
HE&E Lease liabilities 7.59% 46,785 6.42% 62,655
[EfI R Bonds payable 9.00% 249,665 9.00% 248,552
RITERR Bank loans and other
HmEE borrowings 9.16% 1,316,208 9.60% 1,239,235
1,612,658 1,550,442
FENEEE Variable rate borrowings:
RITEFREM  Bank loans and other
BE borrowings 430% 8,529,740 467% 9,223,129
BERE Total borrowings 10,142,398 10,773,571
AEEEH RekReEE The Group does not anticipate significant impact to cash and
BEHUREZRH REERFR cash equivalents and the restricted and pledged deposits
TERIEATE RERE because the interest rates of bank deposits are not expected to
HIRTERFET G HE KR change significantly.
ERAEEMRITERREM The interest rates and terms of repayment of bank loans and
BB R K& KA M 5 24 4% other borrowings of the Group are disclosed in Note 24. The
B o AN [E I AR ER A A ¥ Group does not carry out any hedging activities to manage its

EiEEANERRE - interest rate exposure.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i) SBEIH
R—ZE=—_—F+=-A=+—H"
WA B HERTTE &
ETFI R FFH N 1001®
22 AEBEABRBREAT
&5 18 AR B8 s A 8 A bl 7 &
B EFTEREmMMARRL,
# A% 74,529,000 T (==
— =4 : 79,354,000/ 7T) °

EREREDTRT - HRA
SERHREREERFENZ
ERTAETAMELMNRER
ENERRNE  HAEEHN
BR&RENBR(KRER
M) MEEGT RN ETELY
MERXIBANEREZE -
DR _B_ZFUHERER
#ET

(d) E¥ER

AEEETRAREERHHETH
MET BEABOIRZAARE
AE-HRAKRERTENERER
ETRETBRAXNAREMEER
NEBTHRTEE  HAS B
ARBABTTE XK ZHINE
B o gEsh - AR®E T B A%
RO MA B ARE LB RING
A5 P BT 28 4 E SMNEE B I AR A
ARG

(i) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s
profit/loss after tax and retained profits by approximately
$74,529,000 (2020: $79,354,000) in response to the general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates that in respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s profit/loss
after tax (and retained profits) is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest expense or income of such a change in
interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2020.

(d) Currency risk

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the
PRC with most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group
is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB
against Hong Kong dollars as a result of its investment in Mainland
China and the settlement of certain general and administrative
expenses and other borrowings in Hong Kong dollars or Australia
dollars. In addition, RMB is not freely convertible into foreign
currencies and the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of
each reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For
presentation purpose, the amounts of the exposure are shown
in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the spot rate at the end
of each reporting period.

Be - BHtER Cash, restricted and pledged
2 ERER deposits 23,098 1,294 6,293
BITERREMEE  Bank loans and other
borrowings (985,730) - -
ERHES Bonds payable (249,665) = =
ERREEREE Net exposure arising from
EAEMNFRR recognised assets and
liabilities (1,212,297) 1,294 6,293

B REIMER Cash, restricted and pledged
[REGEEEFN deposits 50,396 1,363 7,813
BITERREMEE  Bank loans and other
borrowings (930,336) - -
B ES Bonds payable (248,552) - -
EHREERBE Net exposure arising from
EAERFRR recognised assets and
liabilities (1,128,492) 1,363 7,813
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29 BIEMREENRERMITELD 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

REE®@® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) E%EMR (%) (d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i) BBREDIM (ii) Sensitivity analysis
TERETRMERBEEBR The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
& BE X E AR R A HIMNE & = the Group's profit/loss before tax that would arise if foreign

FE (BRFATA E MR R S
ﬁ’&ﬁT‘*“)%ﬁ%@BﬁRﬁuE
fl/)éis%aaﬁﬁﬂﬁi“éb A =p

CBREETHHME ME@E
ﬁiﬁﬂ“ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ
WHMBERELSEATE  #
AEBEMBRARMBENUET
FHEMIR € 45 #217,156,000 7
T (ZEZZ 4 : 45,666,000/
TL)BRIN B INEEER A A
R# o

exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be materially
unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the United
States dollar against other currencies, other than cash balances
of $17,156,000 (2020: $45,666,000) denominated in USD held
by a subsidiary of the Group, of which the functional currency
is RMB.

—E-—F —T-THF
2021 2020
SMEE [E &R H R AT SN [ HBRBAT
LR (TEE) BRAWEE A (TR) EENZE
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in foreign Effect on profit in foreign Effect on loss
exchange rates before tax exchange rates before tax
Tt
$'000
ET usb 5% 858 5% 2,283
(5%) (858) (5%) (2,283)
BT AUD 5% 65 5% 68
(5%) (65) (5%) (68)
BT HKD 5% 315 5% 391
(5%) (315) (5%) (391)

INEFRESTIHREBEAREE
RIRE B HIM E ZHMNER B F
BRBREITREESAENST
MBITHARE RIERHE S
REMBRITHATEXZS
5%) BB ATAFBERNF
BHE ETIBERERBEINER
MY BERRREALAEEZT
B ETELERER -

The foreign currency sensitivity analysis is calculated based
on the major net foreign currency exposure of the Group
as at the reporting date, assuming 5% change of HKD and
AUD held by PRC entities against RMB and AUD held by non-
PRC entities against HKD on the profit/loss before tax and
excludes differences that would result from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity
investments held for trading and non-trading purposes (see Note
17). Other than unquoted securities held for strategic purposes, all
of these investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based
on daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities
compared to that of the Index and other industry indicators, as well
as the Group’s liquidity needs. The portfolio is diversified in terms of
industry distribution, in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments are held for long
term strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed against
performance of similar listed entities, based on the limited
information available to the Group, together with an assessment of
their relevance to the Group’s long term strategic plans.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that an increase/(decrease)
of 5% (2020: 5%) in the relevant stock market index (for listed
investments) or the price/earning ratios of comparable listed
companies (for unquoted investments) as applicable, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s
profit/loss after tax (and retained profits) as follows:

—E_——F
2021
HERF &
BRARRE
BRNTE
Effect on

—ETF
2020

HBRIZ
EERRE
BRMYE
Effect on
loss after
tax and
retained
profits
FT
$'000

profit after
tax and
retained
profits
T
$°000

MHER A ER R Change in the relevant
BENEE equity price risk variable:
bl Increase 5% 7,506 5% 13,500
o Decrease (5%) (7.506) (5%) (13,500)
FRESTER  BRRBEHPHEE The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in the

HEABREMSEHHEMARRR
BHLREY MZSEHANE
T EAEERNREHHEMEER
FF<SEaEBERAERRKRD
BMTARSIBASEEBRRERT,
BB (RRBAF) RN kS BREME
EEMASEH ARBEAEE
BRARE DA EEBRIZAERER
T I5 18 Bk A8 R b B R R
WHMEBEmMES BREEMES
BRETE - T _TFNHMIEME
EEAEETT

BARBEUINIRNEHE
ERBELANEE
AEEBERARBHERATERNS
BEENBEREE BER_F
TFERZEEFE+ A=+
BHRAREBELTESRER -

(f)

Group's profit/loss after tax (and retained profits) that would arise
assuming that the changes in the stock market index or other
relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to equity
price risk at the end of the reporting period. It is also assumed that
the fair values of the Group's equity investments would change
in accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant
stock market index or the relevant risk variables, and that all other
variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2020.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement

(@

Fair value hierarchy

HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement, requires the fair value
of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations:

Level 2 valuations:

Level 3 valuations:

Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities at the measurement date

Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available

Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs



e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B BB A

LAETTEIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

9 KEREEREMIAAR

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 269

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

REE® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(9) 2AEEFE @) (g) Fair value measurement (Continued)
(i) 2REEZEHK(E) (i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

RET SR T AN EER
BB ANEE— RS EE
HERIE (BEIBRAR
f‘;fﬁ—n F3MEIE L AA
BR)ETHE R BEE
E%ﬁél*ﬁﬂ%*iﬁiéiﬁ

ARBEFEZSH DO THOM[E
E%EEEE\M%,%&IEEC%EPEH&
FERESEOHRE YLHEF
B35 B B|BI S HLfE

R
—B--F
t2A
=t-H
WAREE

Fair value at
31 December
2021

r

$'000

The Group has a finance manager performing valuations for
the financial instruments, including unlisted equity securities
which are categorised into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy,
with the assistance of external valuers for certain financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the chief
financial officer. A valuation report with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement is prepared by the finance manager
at each interim and annual reporting date, and reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer.

R=B=-F+ZA=+-H

MEEFEIER

Fair value measurements ) Mf“ ] Fair value measurements

as at 31 December 2021 categorised into  Fairvalueat  asat 31 DecemberZOZOcategorlsed into
S8 228 %38 31 December E18 28 236

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020 Level 2 Level 3

Tr Tr Tr T T T T

§'000 $'000 $'000 §'000 d $'000 §'000

TEHEDNAEE  Recurring fair value

A= measurements
BE: Assets:
~EREZFHE - Recelvables from the third
parties 1,366,245
~SFBEBENIE - Unlisted equity securities
FRAES not held for trading 87,361
~RAEBAE  -Hybrid finandal
investments 50,495
~REFHFRE - Unitsin private security
BB investment funds 4302
-R5%% - Trading securities 40,726
-BHER - Wealth management
products 25,467

s - 136645 1286972 - - 128697
= - I3 127084 - - 127,08
- - 50495 4683% - - 16836
- 431 2 - - - .
40,726 - - 39683 39683 - -
- 2546 - 10325 - 103225 -

1,574,666

40,726 29839 1,504,101 1,603,800 39,683 103225 1,460,892

ﬁi_;_*ﬁﬁ_?_qi
TZRA=+—HIEFE -
m&%sz%ﬁﬁ@%'w
AREFIFHBEAREL - K
SENBRETERELENRS
HEAEENARBESERZ
R -

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of
the reporting period in which they occurred.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of units in private security investment funds is
determined by invested portfolio and the underlying listed
price.

The fair value of wealth management products is the
estimated amount that the Group would receive to sale wealth
management products at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account current interest rates.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

The fair value of receivables from the third parties is determined
using future estimated cash flows to be recovered which takes
into account projects progress presumed or operation forecast
and discount rate is 12% (2020: 12% to 15%) based on the
average borrowing cost plus a risk premium of the Group
or weighted average cost of capital relating to the specific
business. The future estimated cash flows reflect potential
impacts of adjustments on the projects’ capacity building areas,
land use index and tax related compensation, etc.

The fair value of hybrid financial investments is determined
using future estimated cash flows to be recovered and discount
rate by 12.2% (2020: 12.2%).

The fair value of unlisted equity instruments was determined
using the price/earning ratios of comparable listed companies
adjusted for lack of marketability discount, of which the fair
value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount for
lack of marketability.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(g) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(iii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurement
(Continued)

The movement during the year in the balance of Level 3 fair
value measurements is as follows:

®—HA—H At 1 January 1,460,892 1,402,834
g Additions 88,067 42,684
R R R EF Net (losses)/gains recognised in
(B8 Mz profit or loss (19,055) 49,151
w8 e Settlement/disposal (59,395) (109,475)
MEH R Exchange difference 33,592 75,698
w+=-—A=+—8 At 31 December 1,504,101 1,460,892
30 EXREIE 30 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

RTZA=+—BRETERRAEER
FBRERABBOERNRENT

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December not provided for in the
Group’s financial statements were as follows:

RIS Contracted for 1,360,198 2,113,954
EREEXRTLY Authorised but not contracted for 1,023,964 1,282,273
2,384,162 3,396,227

BAFREIREASEERPYWENSE
EREXRAKEEREOWEKAFR

Capital commitments mainly related to development expenditure for the
Group's properties under development and acquisition cost of the Group’s
projects.
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HERBERRLARE EEERN
BEAFEMERERERBHEER
BERUABREERE)BRL -

REBREHREEER AETAEEY
EERNRBREMEBITHELNRS
EREBEMOT -

31 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into
by purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owned by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group’s guarantee period
commences from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans
and ends upon the earlier of the buyer obtained the individual property
ownership certificate and the full settlement of mortgage loans by the
buyer.

The maximum amounts of guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to the purchasers of the Group’s properties at the end of
each reporting period is as follows:

ALEEYETRERNILIE  Guarantees given to financial institutions
ERBEMBES/#EELS  for mortgage loan facilities granted to
BIR purchasers of the Group’s properties 861,968 557,933

E=ZRR ARAKEARERBDE
MERYHERBYE  AREAE
BARTXNNEAEE BUEAKHE
TARAERAZEERMEREE - AR
AEZTRA HWETEREERITNRK -
AIEEMENRAFHEEBBANEEM
BEROKREZBER -

HRARAEERRAFERZIANE
BEE  BARKREL K% FERER
EfEEWA -

The directors consider that it is not probable that the Group will sustain a
loss under these guarantees as the Group can take over the ownerships of
the related properties and sell the properties to recover any amounts paid
by the Group to the banks. The directors of the Company also consider
that the fair market value of the underlying properties is able to cover the
outstanding mortgage loans guaranteed by the Group in the event the
purchasers default payments to the banks.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of these
guarantees as its fair value is considered to be minimal by the directors of
the Company.
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32 EXBEBAIRS 32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) BRUBHRERAHGENFEENRS (@) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
the financial statements, major related party transactions entered by
the Group during the year are follows:

RSN REBFAEFT L T
BREM RS

FERIRERF SR Interest expenses to shareholders (i) 105,623 140,298
EYE & EREHA Interest income from joint ventures (ii) 14,634 6,868
JEY — B RRER A Compensation income from
B EURA a shareholder (iii) = 10,331
JEY—REE RS Service income from a joint venture
BR AU A (iv) - 1,826
B & Notes:
(i) R REREF SRS AR EFFE11% (i) Interest expenses to shareholders were charged at a fixed interest rate of
H14% (ZEZFF 1% % 14%) 11% or 14% (2020: 11% or 14%) per annum.
B e
(iy MEUREESLEFEWANUETERERS (i) Interest income from joint ventures was charged at fixed interest rates of

{8 A & B RITR TR 2.85%
FF3%N8% (ZT_TF : 7%K
8%)&tE °

(i) FARERERLLFHEREERB S
TERRRE M — B R REESERA

(iv) RR-—HAEZELEERBEABMEE
PR HARIEIA -

(iii)

(iv)

2.85% per annum above one month’s HIBOR, 3% or 8% (2020: 7% or 8%)
per annum.

The amount represents income from a shareholder in respect of
compensation for termination of a cooperation for a property development
project.

Service income from a joint venture were property management consulting
services income.
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32 EREBAIRS &) 32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
by EEEBAENEH BRERES (b) Remuneration of key management personnel, including amounts
X ATE I (RAM FE9HER) A R (A paid to the directors as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest
ETERFEERSREEESH paid employees and senior management as disclosed in Note 10, is
RIFRIEZA T (RMIEE 108 5E) - as follows:

(0)

HHEEEREF Short-term employee benefits 29,728 27,089
RIKE RN Post-employment benefits 50 72
29,778 27,161
FMeEeElB TRA] (R Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note 7(b)).
7(b)) »
HARBEZERSRITERA B Z The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of
BB TR ZBK EMHAAE directors and chief executive of the Company constitute connected
1AAERENMERS - A - %F transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However,
RGEHRREBT EMARE AR these transactions are exempt from reporting, announcement and
EHTHF RERBLRREIED independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
RIE ° 14A of the Listing Rules.
MisE24 BB EF EMEERRBE (c)  The transactions relating to the secured other borrowing as set out
SR EMER—FHE2CERBK in Note 24 and the service income from a joint venture as set out
ANBR ETABE4AER TN above constitute connected transaction or continuing connected
BERXIAFEAERS - ETHRA transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
FUAEFBRENHEBEEIRNESTS disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided
HRESHERS] - in the section headed “Connected Transaction” of the Directors’
Report.
B 5 22(ii) BT & B2 JE < FE % AR AR B X The related party transactions in respect of the amounts due to
BHEBNBER AL SEK EmHEL non-controlling shareholders as set out in Note 22(iii) constitute
FUASRENBEZ S - KM connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
B T B SE 14A 00 (KM R E Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from the disclosure
T E S BT T8 B S 14A requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules pursuant to
ENPEER FAEERTFIER Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules as they are conducted on normal
RBIFE g EERRE TR ETT commercial terms or better and not secured by the assets of the
B 0 W B AREENRIBMHEEER - Group.
STEMIFE32(a) T B B = b EE B 35 18 As to the related party transaction relating to the compensation for
B A B 1IN EL (& 5 B8 1 R B termination of a cooperation for a property development project as
o5 AT EHRAFEUAERE set out in Note 32(a), it is not subject to any disclosure requirement

ZREAR o under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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33 AEIEEMBMRRE

33 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION

REBEE Non-current assets
RTB AR HRE Investments in subsidiaries 210,748 210,748
Wz - WE R EE Property, plant and equipment 828 4,142
211,576 214,890
REEE Current assets
H {th fE U R IB Other receivables 13,044,155 12,133,029
HEthemEE Other financial assets 52,896 39,683
ReRREFE/IEE Cash and cash equivalents 73,187 168,893
13,170,238 12,341,605
REBEE Current liabilities
RITEFRLHEMEER Bank loans and other borrowings 1,455,460 1,373,345
HEARE Lease liabilities = 3,342
H fth < FRIE Other payables 6,672,463 6,175,866
R ES Bonds payable 249,665 248,552
_________________________________________________ 8,377,588 7,801,105
RBAEFE  Netcurrentassets . 479265 4,540,500
MEERRBAR Total assets less current liabilities 5,004,226 4,755,390
EERE NET ASSETS 5,004,226 4,755,390
IR AR & CAPITAL AND RESERVES 28(a)
N Share capital 141,273 141,273
G Reserves 4,862,953 4,614,117
ERes TOTAL EQUITY 5,004,226 4,755,390
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34 FABRBEHRREE

RMEBERE EFEEHERBRE -
i — B IE AT FE28(b) 55 -

3saﬁﬁﬁﬁivﬁ§
:fﬁ+ =t—-H

im%ﬂ
ﬁxﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁlﬁéaﬁﬂ  BEGE
AREEEMETREE=ZS=_—F+=
A=+ HALEEHMRERARZSH
R BN S TSR] R ERA
BYBEREELFE1TRRE A - 2 E
BEBET AR AEEBBNERT
KR

34 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend. Further details are disclosed in Note 28(b).

35 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments and a new standard, HKFRS 17,
Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2021 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

RS AHHz%&
MmN E R EEXR

Effective for accounting
periods beginning
on or after

B _F—-H—H
1 January 2022

ERM B ELREIFIEET  HH2E4 1

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework
ERGFHERFE6RIERT  WE - WENRIG—HEF .2 FrigE —E-__F—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment:

Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022

BREGFEAFEITRIER BRUAH —BRFEXIKA

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

—E-—F—A—H
1 January 2022

—E-__%—H—H
1 January 2022

B —F— N FE_E_TEF EEH LR 0 E A
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

— o —

—E=F—H—H
1 January 2023

BBEIERE 1 REETX  RESBERBRBXIFTE

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

—=F—H—H
1 January 2023

BB BT ERE 1 SR BB EHMEEREFREE 28] Bl MR Z R FE -z

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies

—E=F—H—H
1 January 2023

BB ERESHKIEE]  Batlhal ZEHE

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates

BB ERIE 129155]  BHE X BHELRERAEGEZEEHE —E-=%—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single 1 January 2023
transaction

$¢IE?%%?%&%%H%K@%

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact

AR TR - BB AR ILE4E  RAZSE of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application.
AT KRAIGEHZEEVBRREEETEXR So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
-2 significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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melER CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
BZt-A=t-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
—TZ2F ZE-NF ZT-N\F
2020 2019 2018
T T Tr
$000 $'000 $000
/PN Revenue 638,957 575,051 719,246 619,712 1,836,705
BERKA Direct costs (318,788) (313,922) (291,238) (279,768)  (1,266,053)
By Gross profit 320,169 261,129 428,008 339,944 570,652
REMERSEAEE  Valuation gains/(losses) on investment
HENRENEN properties and investment properties
HENE/ (BE) classified as held for sale 202,341 (77,944) 197,409 292,344 172,934
Hi A Other revenue 175,544 139,945 153,819 710,087 156,322
Hinless/(F8)FE  Other net income/(loss) 218,551 48,742 (380,640) 256,948 7,480,450
HEREHEAX Selling and marketing expenses (82,825) (76,898) (51,619) (30,373) (114,014)
THREY Administrative expenses (332,774) (310,126) (421,149) (320,462) (1,018,344)
ZHNEMEWFZIES  Impairment loss on trade and other
BEEE receivables (9,477) (18,527) (28,462) (104,078) (369,086)
IR b S S @ Loss arising from the derecognition
HESREEESE of financial assets measured at
HEE amortised cost = - - (116,529) -
REEBEEN Profit/(loss) from operations
23/ (B8) 491,529 (33,679) (102,634) 1,027,881 6,878,914
BEMR Finance costs (294,547) (301,811) (323,353) (533,574) (655,530)
[l N EEE Share of losses of associates (1,997) (2,122) (2,621) (76,317) (20,160)
EaeahEER Share of losses of joint ventures (7,397) (8,992) (15,781) (7,839) (754)
BREABR, (FE) Profit/(loss) before taxation 187,588 (346,604) (444,389) 410,151 6,202,470
gt Income tax (140,874) (20,932) (85,539) (282,352)  (1,592,912)
FERA/(HE) Profit/(loss) for the year 46,714 (367,536) (529,928) 127,799 4,609,558
BATF AL FESA - Attributable to:
ADFERBERAKA  Equity shareholders of the Company and
MARELFFEA holders of PCSs 33,432 (283,258) (582,939) 102,610 4,642,246
R ER Non-controlling interests 13,282 (84,278) 53,011 25,189 (32,688)
EERA/(FR) Profit/(loss) for the year 46,714 (367,536) (529,928) 127,799 4,609,558
BEREXBF/ Basic earnings/(loss) per share ($)
(E#8) (%) 0.02 (0.19) (0.38) 0.07 3.23
SREFRR/ Diluted earnings/(loss) per share ($)
(E#8) (r) 0.02 (0.19) (0.38) 0.02 2.61
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mERXEWER CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

HET-A=+-HLFE

For the year ended 31 December

“ToTE T HF B )\F
2020 2019 2018
T T T
$'000 $'000 $'000
EERR/ (FB) Profit/(loss) for the year 46,714 (367,536) (529,928) 127,799 4,609,558
EEHMB2ERE (BB Other comprehensive income for the
REHLERRR) year (after tax and reclassification
adjustments)
A#BTFEEF7IEZ  Items that will not be reclassified
BmaEg - subsequently to profit or loss:
REN%  BERZ Surplus on revaluation of property, plant
REEERRENE and equipment upon change of use to
ZENERBRS investment properties 5,619 - - - -
HREEERIREME  Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation
MERBEFELR gain on change of use to investment
BEERIEAR properties (1,405) - - - -
AEREERIER Items that may be reclassified subsequently
BRMER to profit or loss:
HENBLRRREE  Exchange differences on translation of
OB EEREEN reclassified to profit or loss upon
ERESR disposal of subsidiaries 624 26 (6) (2,450) (263,781)
BEEINTBARK Exchange differences on translation
PHEBRREELR of finandial statements of foreign
ERER subsidiaries 379,050 685,152 (236,178) (530,189) 1,064,518
[EEBANRRASNE  Share of other comprehensive income
ENEMEZENR of associates and joint ventures (18,461) 34,047 (6,851) 48,071) 81,016
FEXEKRARH Total comprehensive income
for the year 412,141 351,689 (772,963) (452,911) 5,491,311
T ALRER: Attributable to:
AARMEZRERKA  Equity shareholders of the Company and
THRESHEEA holders of PCSs 394,643 421,274 (815,551) (470,179) 5,442,801
FEBRER Non-controlling interests 17,498 (69,585) 42,588 17,268 48,510
FERXEKNRAR Total comprehensive income
for the year 412,141 351,689 (772,963) (452,911) 5,491,311
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e BRI R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION

kRBEE Non-current assets
SEME Investment properties 8,970,030 7,238,615 6,297,551 5,704,379 4,837,896
A% - BER Other property, plant and equipment
B 192,006 199,281 199,049 154,094 153,680
) 9,162,036 7,437,896 6,496,600 5,858,473 4,991,576
EWEE Intangible assets 3,769 3,769 3,769 3,769 -
aE Goodwill 40,736 40,736 40,736 40,736 -
N NGl S Interest in associates 5,257 7,072 8,739 11,558 1,385,817
REerERNER Interest in joint ventures 1,069,950 423,328 423,597 479,290 533,571
HiemEaE Other financial assets 1,443,808 1,488,143 1,338,322 1,487,235 151,309
Hit WA Other receivables 268,023 231,761 210,027 - 1441512
EEHEEE Deferred tax assets 87,451 85,540 75,212 224,170 307,752
12,081,030 9,718,245 8,597,002 8,105,231 8,811,537
RBEE Current assets
FEREMALKA Inventories and other
N contract costs 9,951,592 10,884,496 9,921,176 10,040,990 1,641,881
HtemaE Other financial assets 130,858 115,657 130,470 341,497 -
25 REfERHE Trade and other receivables 2,152,059 1,654,142 1,553,629 1,849,598 9,699,088
BNTIE Prepaid tax 72,320 38,846 20,891 23,171 51,703
R REEAER Restricted and pledged deposits 2,862,004 3,046,639 2,612,642 2,565,681 2,071,706
RekBEZEEE Cash and cash equivalents 1,077,346 1,653,196 2,115,129 5,488,739 4,599,697
\ 16,246,179 17,392,976 16,353,937 20,309,676 18,064,075
PERBELED Investment properties classified as held for
REME sale 46,600 70,657 64,683 104,539 106,274
16,292,779  17.463,633 16418620 20414215 18,170,349
FBHEE Current liabilities
B9 REMEMNTA Trade and other payables 4,252,279 4,004,074 3,646,717 4,117,258 2,730,975
ERAE Contract liabilities 1,927,173 726,231 58,577 155,479 -
BROERREMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 6,196,768 5,966,708 3,947,660 3,322,635 2,921,827
HEBE Lease liabilities 7,581 21,971 31,604 - -
AEkES Convertible bonds = - - 1,461,691 -
TESBIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - 242,478
ENEE Note payable - - - - 1,183,283
A Tax payable 217,567 168,259 716,509 1,516,734 2,213,830
EfIE Bonds payable 249,665 248,552 500,355 783,150 1,171,920
BE Provision = - - 24,408 8,923
__________________________________ 12,851,033 11,135,795 8,901,422 11,381,355 10,473,236
 RBAEFE  Netcurrentassets 3,441,746 6,327,838 7,517,198 9,032,860 7,697,113
BEERRBDAR
Total assets less current liabilities 15,522,776 16,046,083 16,114,200 17,138,091 16,508,650




280 XEEREEARAFN -—T-—£H

EFHERE
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

SREMBRRR @ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (Continued)

R+=A=+-H
At 31 December
—2-NF

k= Non-current liabilities

BROERREMER Bank loans and other borrowings 3,649,180 4,495,656 5,119,614 5,403,679 2,663,521
AERE S Convertible bonds = - - - 1,299,330
HERE Lease liabilities 39,204 40,684 48,613 - -
EEHBEEE Deferred tax liabilities 1,464,559 1,355,501 1,105,800 1,023,450 889,842
g Provision = - - 14,906 43,048

OO 3152943 5891841 6274027 6442035 4895741

EEFE NET ASSETS 10,369,833 10,154,242 9,840,173 10,696,056 11,612,909
BRARGEE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

B AR Share capital 141,273 141,273 141,273 138,558 138,344
G Reserves 10,161,553 9,933,656 9,542,968 10,443,721 11,312,202

ARAEHEBERRKA  Total equity attributable to equity
ARBEHZEEAEY  shareholders of the Company and
EnaE holders of PCSs 10,302,826 10,074,929 9,684,241 10,582,279 11,450,546

FERER Non-controlling interests 67,007 79,313 155,932 113,777 162,363

REHH TOTAL EQUITY 10,369,833 10,154,242 9,840,173 10,696,056 11,612,909
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